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Financial Highlights MBRE

2022 2021
—E-—F -4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTT
Revenue EER 3,828,984 3,882,683
Gross profit E 7 1,877,563 2,296,662
Gross profit margin EFIE 49.0% 59.2%
Operating (loss)/profit #iE(BR) /& (607,975) 1,114,477
EBITDA margin®* EBITDAZ# 32.2% 43.5%
EBIT margin EBIT= -15.9% 28.7%
Selling and marketing expenses to sales HELMMGHEERINEEL X 9.0% 7.5%
Administrative expenses to sales TERAZGHEELE 21.6% 21.7%
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE (BB /BF (901,050) 895,784
Adjusted profit for the year” KRG 2 NFRFF 606,660 1,189,054
(Loss)/profit attributable to the equity KRB EDEE AEN
holders of the Company (E518) /&7 (1,054,547) 675,131
Adjusted profit attributable to the equity KRABBZARBEDZEEA
holders of the Company* JEAE 2 F)* 444,912 968,401
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per FRERNEE (BB BF
share (RMB cents) (AR¥E5) (32.65) 21.70
Adjusted basic and diluted earnings KRG 2 BRERNREERF
per share (RMB cents)* (NRED)- 13.77 31.12
Net cash generated from operating activities & EEE 4 7 & F 5 798,746 1,413,246
Net cash* IR 3,990,775 2,578,651
Total equity B 14,557,438 15,718,819
Final dividend per share (HK cents) TR AR AR B GEAL) 5.1 2.0
Total dividend per share for the year (HK cents) &A% & [ R& & (GEAl) 8.48 8.4
Dividend payout ratio for the year FERE X 52.9%** 32.3%
Debt ratio* BEL X 5.4% 6.9%
Current ratio (times) MBI & () 5.0 4.2
Liquidity ratio (times) B & (1) 4.3 3.7
Inventory turnover (days) FERASZX(R) 177 199
Trade receivables turnover (days) FEUR A X (H) 89 87
Trade payables turnover (days) FER RS AEZE (/) 53 65

##

* %

“EBITDA margin” equals to “Earnings before taxes, interest,
depreciation, amortisation, share-based compensation expenses and
impairment of goodwill” divided by “Revenue”

Excluding impairment of goodwill of RMB1,507,710,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and RMB293,270,000 for the year ended
31 December 2021.

“Net cash” means “Short-term time deposits” plus “Cash and cash
equivalents” minus “Borrowings”.

“Debt ratio” means “Total borrowings (include current & non-current
borrowings” divided by “Total Equity (exclude non-controlling
interests)”.

“Dividend payout ratio for the year ended 31 December 2022" equals
to “Total dividend per share for the year ended 31 December 2022 (HK
cents)” times applicable HKD to RMB exchange rate and then divided
by “Adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended
31 December 2022 (RMB cents)”.
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture

CORPORATE PROFILE

Huabao International Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the
“Group"), consisting of flavours and fragrances, and food
ingredients segment, tobacco raw materials segment, aroma raw
materials segment, condiments segment, is mainly engaged in the
R&D, production, distribution and sales of flavours and fragrances,
and food ingredients, tobacco raw materials, aroma raw materials,
as well as condiments. The Group also makes diversified investments
around its core businesses. It is an industrial holdings group based
on the taste-based consumer goods market.

SEEMTREEL

RAGN
EFERRIERERAPMEMBLAR ([REE])
THREBERMEARSR  EARBREE
FERHARELFARBRE TEREFTRLK
EmicH - ERRH FREM - MAKDDH
e AEMBEE YERZOEXBET
ZRRE R—RERKERHERTS
MBERZEREME -
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture

The Group is a market leader in China’s flavours & fragrances
industry. It owns many famous flavour brands, including “Huabao
Flavours” on the A-Shares platform, “Hedon”, “Huabao”, "H&K",
“Tianhong”, “Huafang”, "Owada”, "Amber” and so on. The Group
has internationalised product development and manufacturing
capabilities, owns production bases in regions such as Shanghai,
Guangdong, Jiangsu, Yunnan, Jiangxi, Fujian, Hong Kong, Indonesia,
and Botswana in Africa, etc., has R&D centres in Holzminden,
Germany and Singapore, a state-level enterprise technology centre in
Shanghai, and R&D departments in Guangdong, Yunnan and Fujian.
Member(s) of the Group takes on leadership roles in a number of
industry associations which are relevant to flavours and fragrances
business, including the Vice Chairman of China Food Additives &
Ingredients Association, Deputy Director of China Association of
Fragrance & Flavour and Cosmetic Industries, Deputy Director of
China Association of Bakery & Confectionery Industry, and Chairman
of Shanghai Food Additive & Batching Association.

The Group is also one of the market leaders in China’s tobacco raw
materials field, and its production technology and product quality
have taken the leading position at domestic level and reached
advanced international level. Guangdong Jinye, a subsidiary of
the Group, is one of the RTL R&D bases authorised by the STMA.
In November 2012, the second phase of RTL production line of
Guangdong Jinye was completed, put into production and accepted
by the STMA, which became the first landmark of paper-making
RTL production line certified by the STMA. Its production technology
has been recognized by the STMA to have reached the highest
technology level in terms of domestic paper-making RTL production,
while its major technical parameters have also reached advanced
international level. In 2016, the “Key Laboratory for RTL Technology
Research in Tobacco Industry”, which was jointly founded by
Guangdong Jinye and Guangdong Tobacco, was recognized as
the sole key laboratory in the RTL field in China. In terms of new
materials, Shanghai Huabao Biological Technology Co., Ltd. has
developed rapidly in the cigarette new materials field, which is
represented by tobacco flavour capsule and core line. Jiangxi Huabao
Xinhui Technology Co., Ltd., established in 2017, became the
manufacturing base for flavour capsule business. In 2022, the Group
has completed the construction of a factory in Indonesia, which
will mainly produce HNB RTL to seize the opportunity of global
development of HNB cigarettes.
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture

The Group is also one of the leading enterprises in China’s aroma
raw materials field. The principal products include many natural
aroma and synthetic aroma products. Its production capacity and
sales account for a significant market share in the industry, and
its production technology and product quality have reached the
leading domestic and international level. The Group acquired Jiangxi
Xianghai in 2017 and completed the production techniques and
process optimization in 2021. The acquisition played a positive role
in the establishment and layout of the Group’s aroma raw materials
segment. The Group, by virtue of its leading position in the industry
and strong scientific research strength, plans to build a leading
aroma raw materials production base in Asia and even the world.

In 2018, through the acquisition of Jiahao, the Group entered into
the compound condiment market with huge growth potential,
and also further completed and optimized the Group’s business
structure, and created more sources of income. At present, the
Group has successfully established an industry chain with full
coverage from raw materials, processing, to consumption, which
brings the Group’s competitive strength in taste-based fast-moving
products industry to a new level. The Group will also combine its
industry advantages and integration capability with the social capital,
through the multi-capital platforms, multi-collaboration channels, as
well as multi-investment collaboration models, to create more value
for shareholders.
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture SEENMREZEL

VISION

B = SPIRIT

Flavour Your Life

ERAEESIEE

9 AY
* |¢
Innovative, pragmatic,

loyal and cooperative

BIFr - BE - B WiE

CORE VALUES

2O EER

Client first, value creation and
shared achievements

EPEL EBEAE HKEHAS

B s
o Adhere to the “concentric diversification strategy” and develop into the world’s leading

taste-based consumer product industrial holdings group

o Consolidate the existing market of flavours and fragrances and explore new markets with
product and technology innovation

o Seize the opportunity of integration in aroma raw materials industry and strives to achieve the
goal of “Being the global leader in the aroma raw materials industry”

o Develop international markets and boost the tobacco raw materials business

o Consolidate the Group’s leading role in the niche segment in the condiment industry, leverage
enriched product mix to build condiment business as the Group’s growth point

o BR[IALEZTEBR]  ZERANAEREFENKEREEREXZEREH

o REEREBNHFEMS BBERKRKMAIN  FHEEDS

o HMEBRRBITEEANKSE MIRKARMELHERMERALR | E—BEREE
o FEREREMS HEERRMEKER

o EZBRAEFARGETHASREMELML  IRESEENERGRE  HE
RAAREBREIBRE

Dﬁ-
So
ME
¥
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Chairman’s Report
Dear shareholders,

In the year 2022, global economy experienced a recession resulting
from adverse factors such as geopolitical conflicts, energy crisis
and tight monetary policies. In China, the recurring Pandemic had
compelled the government to take strict prevention and control
measures, which created significant shocks and challenges for
businesses’ logistics, supply chains, and normal operations. Overall,
consumer demand was weak both domestically and internationally,
and companies became more conservative in their investment and
expansion decisions. The sluggish business environment has also put
a lot of pressure on the Group's business and operations.

In 2022, the Group sticked to its vision of “flavour your life” and
its mission of making life “green, healthy and nutritious”, and
formulated and implemented development strategies based on the
characteristics of each business segment. The Group’s F&F and food
ingredients, and tobacco raw materials segments focused on the
development of innovative tobacco products and markets: in terms
of products, the Group developed and stocked a number of HNB
tobacco flavours, mass-produced a new type of RTL, and enhanced
the production technology and efficiency of cigarette filters, which
strengthened our position as a supplier of high-quality innovative
tobacco products and services. In terms of markets, the construction
of our plant in Indonesia has been completed and commenced
production. The plant in Indonesia is the Group's first large-scale
plant overseas and it provides the foundation for the Group to
expand into the Southeast Asian and global markets to serve more
international customers. We believe that innovative tobacco products
will improve consumers’ health and be favoured by consumers, and
the investment in this area will be a driver of growth for the Group.
The Group’s R&D, production, marketing and sales teams closely
work together to share the cutting-edge technology and market
trends in the development of innovative tobacco products, and to
provide our customers with the latest and best quality products.

Jiangxi Xianghai, the largest factory of our aroma raw material
segment, completed its construction and was put into operation in
2022, marking a larger scale, more standardised and modernised
production facility for the aroma raw material segment, and
laying a solid foundation for the long-term development of the
Group’s aroma raw material business. Affected by the Pandemic,
our condiment business underperformed than expected in 2022.
However, with the lift of the Pandemic prevention and control at
the end of the year, we believe that the condiment business can
gradually return to normal operating level.
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Chairman’s Report

In addition, 2022 was also the first year of the implementation of
the Group's digital transformation efforts. Digital transformation
plays a very important role in improving the operational efficiency
of the Group’s business. The Group’s digital transformation team
has closely followed the progress of the digital transformation
work in each business segment, and promoted the implementation
and improvement of the digital transformation work by proposing
solutions to problems identified in a timely manner. We believe that
digital transformation is a long-term investment that will enhance
the efficiency of all aspects of the Group's business and contribute
to the Group’s long-term stable development. The Board and
management of the Group have also invested more efforts in the
work of sustainable development. Through the establishment of an
ESG management and implementation team, the performance of the
Group in environmental protection has been regularly analysed and
summarised to improve the performance of the Group’s ESG work,
thus meeting the requirements of regulators, customers, investors
and other partners in assessing our ESG work.

In 2023, we are confident that the business environment will
improve as the Pandemic in China is largely over and economic
activities begin to return to normal. Meanwhile, we will closely
monitor the macroeconomic and operational risks in our business
and develop appropriate strategies accordingly. In the year ahead,
we will work harder to reward our shareholders who have been
supporting us all along the way. On behalf of the Company, | would
like to express our gratitude to all of you and we will strive hard to
make progress together in the coming year.

LAM Ka Yu
Co-Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2022, due to the impact of energy crisis, inflation, the Pandemic,
disordered supply chain and tight monetary policy, consumer
spending decreased and companies were prudent and conservative
on investment, the global and Chinese economic growth further
slowed down. Facing the business environment that was full of
pressure, challenges and uncertainties, the Group formulated and
implemented strategies based on the development progress and
characteristics of each business segment to maintain stable and
healthy business development. By adhering to the development
philosophy of “Green, Healthy and Nutritious”, the Group has
constantly improved its capability in technology and product
innovation, and proactively explored overseas markets to provide
high-quality products and services for consumers around the world
as a leader in providing a delicious life.

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Overview of the tobacco industry

According to the data from the National Bureau of Statistics, the
cigarette production volume in China reached 48.64 million cases in
2022, representing an increase of 0.6% year-on-year. The tobacco
industry realised industrial and business tax and profit amounted
to RMB1,441.3 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of
6.1%; realized a fiscal income of RMB1,441.6 billion, representing a
year-on-year increase of 15.9%. The tobacco industry has developed
steadily and played a positive role in ensuring people’s livelihood,
alleviating poverty and promoting economic development.

In terms of e-cigarettes, the STMA officially issued the National
Standards for Electronic Cigarettes and the Administrative Measures
for Electronic Cigarettes, which specified the policies on taxation
plan, carrying and delivery of e-cigarette products. As a result of the
introduction and implementation of such policies, the e-cigarette
industry has stepped into a new stage of compliant and healthy
development, with higher requirements for the products, technology
and management of e-cigarette manufacturers. In the future, those
e-cigarette manufacturers owning products, technologies, brands
and financial strength will have stronger bargaining and pricing
power and occupy more advantages in supply chain and value chain,
thus gaining larger market share. The concentration ratio of the
e-cigarette industry is expected to further increase in the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In regard to HNB cigarettes, international tobacco companies
continued to increase their investment in R&D, marketing and
branding of such product, driving the demand for smoking sets,
tobacco tar, tobacco leaves and other product components, and
bringing business opportunities to suppliers in the tobacco industry
chain. Since international tobacco companies have high requirements
for suppliers in respect of their technologies, production and
operation capabilities, those suppliers with comprehensive
competitiveness and an international perspective are likely to secure
more cooperation opportunities. In general, the traditional tobacco
market is developing steadily, while the innovative tobacco market
is broad with great growth potential but the competition is fierce. It
is necessary for companies in the tobacco industry chain to enhance
and strengthen their comprehensive competitiveness to promote
their business development.

Overview of the food and beverage industry and daily-use
chemical industry

For the Reporting Period, the resurgence of Pandemic and the
macroeconomic recession weakened consumer sentiment, and
consumers became more cautious and prudent. However, the
demand for food and beverage, being an essential consumer
product, maintained growth. According to the National Bureau of
Statistics, in 2022, the industrial added value of the agricultural
product processing industry with enterprises of designated size or
above grew by 0.7% year-on-year, the industrial added value of
the food processing industry grew by 2.3% year-on-year and the
industrial added value of the alcohol, beverage and refined tea
processing industry grew by 6.3% year-on-year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In the food and beverage industry, as the lockdown measures
prohibited people from dining out, the demand for prepared foods
that could be cooked at home increased. Since consumers required
prepared foods to restore its freshness and flavour to the greatest
extent, they had demanding requirements on the quality, nutrition,
and safety of food ingredients. Consumers prefer to buy prepared
foods that use natural ingredients and expect them to have few or
no additives at all. In terms of beverages, dairy products, tea drinks
and coffee are popular among investors and consumers, bringing
challenges to beverage manufacturers and flavour suppliers due to
their diversified flavours, fast update, and short life cycle.

For the daily-use chemical industry, it was the third year since the
Pandemic and the consumers attached great importance to personal
hygiene and health, and more favoured personal care, washing
products and space fragrance products functioned by sterilization
and nature. The daily-use chemical market is large in China but with
numerous brands and fierce competition. Domestic and foreign
brands have been promoting their product functions and advantages
to consumers through both online and offline channels, and
expanding their customer bases and enhancing brand recognition by
offering discounts and other means.

Overview of the condiment industry

In 2022, the catering industry and the condiment industry
experienced a tough business environment. To prevent the spread
of the Pandemic, many cities in Mainland China adopted stringent
lockdown measures successively, including dine-in bans, mobility
restriction and business suspension. Such measures resulted in fewer
business hours, decreased customer traffic and a drop in revenue of
catering enterprises. According to the National Bureau of Statistics,
the revenue of the catering industry was RMB4,394.1 billion in
2022, representing a decrease of 6.3% year-on-year. From the view
of the demand side, the recession in the catering industry led to a
decline in the demand for and purchase of condiments. From the
view of the supply side, the increase in the price of bulk commodities
resulted in higher prices of condiment raw materials. Therefore,
condiment enterprises recorded a drop in revenue and an increase in
cost, which squeezed their profit margin.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RESULTS

During the Reporting Period, the Group achieved a revenue of
approximately RMB3,829 million (2021: approximately RMB3,883
million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 1.4%; gross profit
margin of 49.0% (2021: 59.2%), representing a year-on-year
decrease of 10.2 percentage points; operating loss of approximately
RMB608 million (2021: operating profit of approximately RMB1,114
million); loss attributable to the equity holders of the Company of
approximately RMB1,055 million (2021: profit attributable to the
equity holders of the Company of approximately RMB675 million);
and basic loss per share of approximately RMB32.65 cents (2021:
basic earnings per share of approximately RMB21.70 cents).

During the Reporting Period, based on the applicable accounting
principles on a prudent basis, the management recognised total
goodwill impairment of approximately RMB1,508 million (2021:
approximately RMB293 million), which comprised of goodwill
impairment of approximately RMB293 million for the RTL CGU
(2021: approximately RMB293 million), goodwill impairment of
approximately RMB1,171 million for the Jiahao CGU (2021: nil)
and goodwill impairment of approximately RMB44 million for the
Shanghai Yifang CGU. For details of the goodwill impairment of
the above-mentioned CGUs, please refer to the section headed
“Analysis of the Goodwill Impairment”. The Board considers that the
valuation methodology and key assumptions used in the impairment
tests on goodwill have been consistently adopted by the Company
and are fair and reasonable. Meanwhile, the basis of the calculation
and the key assumptions used have been projected and determined
by the management based on the past performance of RTL CGU,
Jiahao CGU and Shanghai Yifang CGU, and in conjunction with the
management’'s knowledge and experience of the market and the
actual situation, which are fair and reasonable.

Excluding the goodwill impairment of approximately RMB1,508
million and RMB293 million for the Reporting Period and
2021 respectively, the Group recorded an operating profit of
approximately RMB900 million (2021: approximately RMB1,408
million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 36.1%; profit
attributable to the equity holders of the Company of approximately
RMB445 million (2021: approximately RMB968 million), representing
a year-on-year decrease of 54.1%; basic earnings per share of
approximately RMB13.77 cents (2021: approximately RMB31.12
cents), representing a year-on-year decrease of 55.8%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of F&F and food ingredients business

During the Reporting Period, revenue of the F&F and food
ingredients business of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB1,877 million (2021: approximately RMB1,927 million),
representing a year-on-year decrease of 2.6%, and accounting for
49.0% (2021: 49.6%) of the Group’s total revenue. The decrease in
revenue from the business segment was mainly due to the decreased
demand of downstream customers and the changes in product mix.
The operating profit of the segment amounted to approximately
RMB824 million (2021: approximately RMB1,104 million),
representing a year-on-year decrease of 25.4%; and operating profit
margin was 43.9% (2021: 57.3%), representing a year-on-year
decrease of 13.4 percentage points. The decline in operating profit
margin was primarily attributable to higher proportion of sales of the
products with lower gross profit margin as a result of the changes in
product mix.

1.  Flavours

In terms of tobacco flavours, focusing on the R&D of flavours
for innovative tobacco products, the Group developed a variety
of HNB tobacco flavours. After testing, such flavour products
can steadily release aroma in HNB cigarettes, which could be
able to improve users’ experience. In terms of food flavours,
with fast product development and short production cycle of
downstream customers, the Group’s R&D and marketing team
has closely followed market changes and adjusted the formula
more quickly to launch products that cater for the needs of
customers. The Group has also worked with its customers
to develop products, so as to improve the flavour of their
products leveraging on our industry expertise.

In order to better develop international business, the Group
has established the “Huabao Asia Pacific” R&D center in
Singapore. The R&D center engaged outstanding personnel
in R&D, technology and market analysis in the industry to
study and analyze beverage, baking and savoury products
in the Southeast Asian market. The Group believes that Asia
will be the market with the greatest growth potential in the
future. Starting from the Southeast Asian market, the Group
will gradually develop more overseas businesses and enhance
its business internationalization, thus diversifying its revenue
sources.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

2.

Fragrances

The Group's fragrances mainly include insect-repelling
incense, detergent and personal care products. Consumers
have attached great importance to personal hygiene and
the cleanliness and comfort of living space as the Pandemic
has normalized. The Group has developed more products of
different types by improving the R&D of personal care and
space fragrance products and introduced the products to
more customers so that their products are able to bring more
pleasant experience to consumers. During the Reporting
Period, the proportion of revenue from personal care and
space fragrance products further increased.

Food ingredients

On 8 March 2022, the Group further acquired 27% of the
equity interests in Shanghai Yifang, resulting in holding 67%
of the equity interests in Shanghai Yifang in aggregation.
Shanghai Yifang is mainly engaged in the promotion and
consulting of agricultural technology, cultivation of fruits
including lemon, blueberry and grapefruit, processing such
fruits into pulps and jams and selling them to various food and
beverage manufacturers as well as restaurants and tea shops.
These fruit pulp and jam products are able to add flavours and
improve taste of customers’ products, which are popular with
customers and consumers.

Leveraging on its expertise and accumulation in the flavours
and fragrances field, the Group made R&D suggestions on
product flavours to Shanghai Yifang to enhance its product
competitiveness. The Group also actively introduced a number
of customers to Shanghai Yifang through its sales network to
help Shanghai Yifang increase its revenue.

Through the acquisition of Shanghai Yifang, which is the main
production unit of the Group in the food ingredients segment,
the Group has expanded its business to the downstream
market, enhancing its layout and competitiveness in the whole
food industry chain, and diversifying its sources of income.

e

.
Popping boba produced by Shanghai Yifang
FREF EERRIREK
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Management Discussion and Analysis

4.

Investment progress of the proceeds raised by Huabao
Flavours

In April 2021, the Group adjusted the use of the proceeds
raised from the initial public offering of Huabao Flavours
in 2018 and the implementation plans for the investment
projects in order to better respond to the industry changes
and the Company’s development. The Group will continue
the construction of “Huabao Yingtan Flavours and Ingredients
Production Base Project” (“Huabao Yingtan Project”), cease
the “Lhasa Pure Land Healthy Food Project” and transform
the "Huabao H&K Food Flavours and Food Technology
Development Project” into the “Huabao Technology
Innovation Center and Supporting Facilities Project” (“Huabao
Techinno Project”), as well as launch the new “Huabao Digital
Transformation Project” (“Huabao Digital Project”).

As of 31 December 2022, the cumulative amount dedicated
for the Huabao Yingtan Project was approximately RMB210
million (31 December 2021: approximately RMB158 million),
representing an investment progress of 20.3% (31 December
2021: 15.3%). The cumulative amount dedicated for the
Huabao Techlnno Project was approximately RMB5.03
million (31 December 2021: approximately RMB1.68 million),
representing an investment progress of 1.1% (31 December
2021: 0.4%). The cumulative amount dedicated for the
Huabao Digital Project was approximately RMB17.59 million (31
December 2021: approximately RMB3.53 million), representing
an investment progress of 29.3% (31 December 2021: 5.9%).
As of 31 December 2022, the balance of unused IPO Proceeds
(including accumulated interest income received) amounted
to approximately RMB1,668 million (31 December 2021:
approximately RMB1,685 million). As of 31 December 2022,
the IPO Proceeds utilized amounted to approximately RMB901
million (31 December 2021: approximately RMB832 million),
accounting for 39.0% of the total proceeds from the initial
public offering in 2018 of approximately RMB2,310 million.

There were no major changes in Huabao Digital Project and
the project is expected to be completed by 31 December 2024.
Considering the actual conditions of the investment projects
with raised funds, changes in the market environment and
external influences, etc., Huabao Flavours has planned to cease
Huabao Yingtan Project and rescheduled the completion time
of Huabao Techlnno Project from 31 December 2025 to 31
December 2026.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Review of the tobacco raw materials business

During the Reporting Period, revenue of the Group’s tobacco
raw materials business was approximately RMB454 million (2021:
approximately RMB565 million), representing a year-on-year
decrease of 19.7%, and accounting for 11.9% of the Group's total
revenue (2021: 14.6%). The decrease was mainly due to the decline
in market demand for traditional RTL and lower price of cigarette
capsules. Operating loss of the business segment was approximately
RMB238 million (2021: operating loss of approximately RMB80.09
million), which was mainly due to goodwill impairment of RTL
CGU. Excluding the goodwill impairment of RTL CGU, the adjusted
operating profit of the segment would be approximately RMB55.68
million (2021: adjusted operating profit of approximately RMB213
million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 73.9%, and the
adjusted operating profit margin would be 12.3% (2021: adjusted
operating profit margin of 37.7%), representing a year-on-year
decrease of 25.4 percentage points. The decrease in adjusted
operating profit and operating profit margin were mainly due to the
decline in the price of cigarette capsules and lower profit margin as a
result of the inadequate dilution of fixed cost caused by insufficient
production volume of traditional RTL.

1. RTL

During the Reporting Period, the tobacco industry continued
to proceed the de-stocking of tobacco leaves. On the one
hand, customers increased the use of tobacco leaves and
reduced the use of traditional RTL, resulting in a decrease in
the demand for traditional RTL. On the other hand, since there
were numerous suppliers in the traditional RTL industry, the
total production capacity exceeded the demand, resulting in
fierce competition and lower product prices. The decline in
both quantity and price of traditional RTL led to a decrease
in revenue. In addition, due to the high fixed cost of RTL
production, the insufficient production volume has caused
the failure to effectively dilute the fixed cost, resulting in a
decrease in the gross profit margin of RTL.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In order to turn the performance of the RTL business, the
Group has shifted its focus onto the production of HNB RTL
and the expansion of overseas markets. In 2022, the Group
completed the construction of a factory in Indonesia, which
mainly produces HNB RTL and supplies the products to
international tobacco companies. The factory has a complete
organizational structure and has obtained the quality system
certification and ESG standard certification, indicating that
it could provide high-quality products and services for global
customers. As international tobacco companies focus on
HNB cigarettes for future development, the demand for HNB
RTL will be increasingly higher. With its extensive experience
and strong technical capabilities in the RTL sector, the Group
will strive to maintain its competitiveness in the industry and
capture more customers. Meanwhile, the Group will closely
monitor the demand of overseas customers, development
progress of customers and the production efficiency of
factories before deciding whether to increase additional
capacity abroad.

Tobacco new materials

Tobacco new materials mainly include cigarette capsules and
filters. For cigarette capsules, there were many market players
and the price competition was fierce. The inflation resulted
in an increase in the price of capsule raw materials, and the
declined sales price and higher cost led to a decrease in profit
margin for the capsules. In order to further business growth,
the Group has developed and manufactured different types
of food capsules, and successfully marketed and sold them
to customers. Leveraging on its technology and experience
in capsule production, the Group has successfully produced
crystogen and capsule products for probiotic customers, and it
is expected to be one of the growth point of Group’s business.

In terms of cigarette filters, the Group has strengthened the
R&D and application of special filter rods, and improved the
production efficiency. The Group has been improving the
innovation and technology reserves in HNB cigarettes filter and
improved the performance and quality based on the customers’
feedback on a small number of products sold for testing. As
a filter rod is a key material to conduct thermal and transmit
gas in cigarettes, the investment in filter rods will enhance the
overall service capability of the Group in cigarettes.

Due to the market demand and industry competition, the
performance of the tobacco raw materials segment has been
declining in the past three years. To turn the performance of
the business segment, the Group has taken measures and
successfully found new growth points. As such, the Group
is actively advancing the development of new projects and
products to facilitate its business growth.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Review of the aroma raw materials business

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s aroma raw materials
business recorded a revenue of approximately RMB924 million
(2021: approximately RMB714 million), representing a year-on-year
increase of 29.5%, and accounting for 24.1% (2021: 18.4%) of the
Group's total revenue. The growth in segment revenue was mainly
attributable to the mass production in Jiangxi Xianghai during the
Reporting Period. Operating profit of the segment was approximately
RMB79.53 million (2021: approximately RMB59.10 million),
representing a year-on-year increase of 34.6%; and the operating
profit margin was 8.6% (2021: 8.3%), representing a year-on-year
increase of 0.3 percentage point. The increase in operating profit
margin of the business segment was primarily due to the economies
of scales as a result of the mass production of Jiangxi Xianghai.

During the Reporting Period, due to the war and the prevention
and control of the Pandemic, the macroeconomic environment
both at home and abroad was depressed, and the declining
consumer demand led to a decrease in purchase demand in the
downstream market. The inflation resulted in a rise in the prices of
bulk commodities, thereby increasing the production cost of aroma
raw materials. Facing those unfavourable external headwinds,
the management of the segment optimized production and
management, strived to reduce cost and improve efficiency, so that
the profit of the segment achieved a year-on-year growth. As the
main production base of aroma raw materials, Jiangxi Xianghai has
advanced production and environmental facilities and established
management process, and is able to achieve standardized, fast
and large-scale production. Jiangxi Xianghai also attaches great
importance to production safety by conducting several safety drills
and education, so as to ensure that the production and operation
meet the safety requirements imposed by regulators, and thus to
protect the life safety of employees.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Review of the condiment business

During the Reporting Period, the revenue of the Group’s condiment
business was approximately RMB573 million (2021: approximately
RMB676 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 15.3%,
and accounting for 15.0% (2021: 17.4%) of the Group’s total
revenue. The decrease in revenue from the segment was mainly due
to the decrease in demand of the downstream catering industry
because of the Pandemic. The operating loss of the segment
was approximately RMB1,117 million (2021: operating profit of
approximately RMB137 million), which was mainly attributable to
the recognised goodwill impairment of Jiahao CGU of approximately
RMB1,171 million for the Reporting Period. Excluding the goodwill
impairment of Jiahao CGU, the adjusted operating profit of the
condiment segment would be approximately RMB53.73 million
(2021: operating profit of approximately RMB137 million),
representing a year-on-year decrease of 60.7%; and the adjusted
operating profit margin would be 9.4% (2021: operating profit
margin of 20.2%), representing a year-on-year decrease of 10.8
percentage points. The decreases in adjusted operating profit and
operating profit margin were mainly due to lower gross profit margin
resulted from rising raw material costs and higher channel marketing
expenses.

In 2022, the Pandemic has spread in many provinces and regions
across the country. To prevent and control the spread of the
Pandemic, several catering enterprises have suspended operation
and banned dine-in, and the demand for condiments has declined
accordingly. As the Pandemic has disordered the normal needs
and operations of customers, the management of Jiahao has
adjusted business development strategy based on its analysis on the
Pandemic, striving to minimize the adverse impact of the Pandemic
on business operation.

In terms of product mix, due to weak market demand, the Group
adopted a conservative product strategy. The Group considered that
in the depressed business environment, the customers needed to
reduce costs and increase efficiency in priority. As such, the Group
has launched some highly cost-effective products, such as “soup
chicken sauce”, and “Jinba Jinbiao Sanfan wasabi”, which are of
high quality and priced reasonably, and are able to effectively help
customers reduce costs.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In terms of sales channel, due to the weakness in the downstream
market demand, distributors maintained a high level of inventories,
and their willingness to purchase inventories was weak. The
Group actively maintained cooperation and communication
with distributors, and helped them in market analysis and
customer management. As of 31 December 2022, the Group had
approximately 400 Tier 1 distributors. In order to further improve the
distribution system and expand customer coverage, the Group has
also invested in building sales channels at lower levels and tried to
develop more sales points in counties and townships.

In terms of marketing strategy, the Group reduced its investment
in brand promotion and marketing activities considering the weak
market demand. Nevertheless, it also invested money in specific
marketing activities according to its actual needs to maintain the
brand awareness among users. By cooperating with well-known
chefs in the industry, the Group has launched an influential
marketing activity themed by “Chinese Stir-fry (/N e E)”, which
introduces to cooks the classic dishes in various provinces and cities
around the country and teaches them how to enhance flavours of
these dishes by using Jiahao's products, so that they learn more
methods and application scenarios to use Jiahao's products, thereby
enhancing their understanding of Jiahao's products.

Review of R&D

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s investment in R&D was
approximately RMB266 million (2021: approximately RMB251
million). R&D expenses accounted for 7.0% (2021: 6.5%) of revenue,
representing an increase of 0.5 percentage point as compared to
that for the corresponding period last year. All (2021: 100%) of the
R&D expenses were expensed, with no R&D cost capitalised (2021:
Nil).

In terms of F&F and food ingredients business, the Group
strengthened the R&D in the fields of food, daily-use chemicals,
and ingredients, and was granted industry patents, including “A
Method of Preparing Egg Yolk Flavours”, “A Laundry Detergent with
Microcapsule Flavour and its Preparation Method”, and “A Device
for Automatic Grading and Screening of Fruit Pieces”. The product
and technological R&D in the fields of food, daily-use chemicals,
and ingredients, being the important business growth points of the
Group, will help the Group improve competitiveness and quality of
the services to our food and beverage customers. As the production
base of fragrances, Xiamen Amber was recognized as one of
the “2022 Specialized and Innovative Small and Medium-sized
Enterprises in Xiamen".
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In respect of tobacco raw materials, Shenzhen Huabao Collaborative
Innovation Technology Research Institute, which was established
in 2021, was granted several patents on new tobacco products,
including “An HNB cigarette and an HNB system”, “A heat
dissipation structure and aerosol generating device” and “An
aerosol-generated heating module and HNB smoking set”. Shenzhen
Huabao Collaborative Innovation Technology Research Institute
has engaged a group of experienced R&D personnel, which have
provided sufficient talent reserve and support for the R&D of new
tobacco-related products in the tobacco raw materials segment.
Shenzhen Huabao Collaborative Innovation Technology Research
Institute was granted a total of 12 patents, making outstanding
achievements. In addition, Guangdong Jinye has applied for several
patents on the preparation method of RTL, enhancing the Group's
competitiveness in the field of RTL.

In regard to aroma raw materials, Jiangxi Xianghai continued to
be recognized as a “high-tech enterprise”, and was granted the
title of “Safe Enterprise” because of its excellent performance in
construction safety. Guangdong Zhaoqing applied for the invention
patent of “A method for recovering chloroethane and its solvent
from the production of alpha-ethyl furan carbinol”. In terms of
condiments, Jiahao cooperated with Jiangnan University for R&D and
obtained the invention patents of “A Fermented Wasabi Spicy Sauce
Formula Rich in Lemongrass Flavour and its Preparation Method”
and “A Salty and Fresh Flavoured Rice Flour-based Snack 3D Printing
Material and its Application”. They also together applied for other
invention patents related to compound condiments and fruit juice
products.

Human Resources and Corporate Culture Construction

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed a total of 3,875 (as
at 31 December 2021: 3,583) employees in Mainland China, Hong
Kong, Germany, Indonesia, Singapore and other places.

In 2022, as the Pandemic recurred in several provinces and regions
across the country, employees of the Group in some places were
locked down and unable to go to work. The management and
the human resources department of the Group have formed an
anti-Pandemic working group which used the resources of the
Group to purchase necessary living materials for affected employees
to ensure their normal life. The Group arranged regular nucleic
acid tests for employees, distributed anti-pandemic medicines to
employees, as well as made statistics and analysis on daily pandemic
prevention data, so as to ensure that employees at work were
sufficient to perform their duties in all departments and that the
Group could carry out business operations normally.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As the Pandemic had a certain negative impact on the development
of all industries in China, many enterprises cut costs by reducing
employees and wages. Nevertheless, the Group has maintained the
existing levels of compensation and welfare packages, and even
increased the salaries and rewards for outstanding talents. The
Group believes that amid the difficult external business environment,
maintaining and improving the salaries of employees can enhance
their loyalty and confidence to the Group, and also enable the
Group to retain and develop talents, thus promoting better business
development of the Group.

Corporate culture that is playing an increasingly important role in
the operation and development of the Group, can give employees
greater senses of mission, achievement, and responsibility at work.
It also enables shareholders, investors, suppliers, customers, and
other stakeholders to have a more comprehensive and positive
understanding of the Group’s brand and operation, which helps
to establish and improve the Group’s brand image to obtain more
business opportunities. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
introduced a comprehensive corporate news management system
and conducted professional news writing trainings for all business
segments. It has also introduced the Group’s business progress,
cultural activities and outstanding employees through its official
website and WeChat public account, giving the public a view from
multiple perspectives of how we practice the Group’s vision, spirit
and core values in a timely and accurate manner.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Digital Transformation

Digital transformation is an important means for the Group to
improve its management and operational efficiency and promote
its business development. In 2021, the Group planned the digital
transformation, including the construction of an enterprise resource
management platform SAP ERP, a decision-making management
platform, a fund management platform, and a product lifecycle
management (PLM) system. It will take 5 years for the work to be
carried out within the Group and in all business segments step by
step. The year 2022 is the first year of our digital transformation.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has launched the SAP ERP
system at the headquarters and in all business segments, which
connects the operation and financial information between the
headquarters and each business segment, so that the management
is able to understand the operation situation and results of each
segment in a timely and accurate manner. The system enables the
Group to collect sales data, settle and manage funds and prepare
financial statements more systematically to improve the efficiency
and scientificity of decision-making. All business segments of the
Group adopt a uniform business process to manage and track
procurement, production, inventory, storage, and transportation,
allowing each section to cooperate more efficiently, and thus to
maximize the use of materials and resources. Through the operation
of digital systems, the Group has greatly improved the level of
integration of business and finance, so that finance can better
support business development.

By using the product lifecycle management system, the Group is able
to systematically track the production cycle of a single product, i.e.,
“Concept — Development — Production — Sales - After-sales Service -
Retirement”. By recording and sharing the lifecycle of each product,
employees from various departments of the Group can better
understand the conditions of each product from section to section,
so as to improve the quality and speed of product development,
and the Group is also able to better master the advantages and
disadvantages of a single product, so as to design products that
can better cater for the needs of consumers and improve consumer
experience.

Finally, in order to better implement the digital transformation, the
digital transformation team has trained more than 100 key users for
all business segments of the Group. These key users will consistently
give feedbacks to the digital transformation team on the problems
arising from the application process of digital transformation, so that
the digital transformation team will constantly improve the system
and the user experience.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OUTLOOK

In 2023, the Group will facilitate its development in three aspects:
business, market, and digitalization. In respect of business, the
Group will continue to develop innovative tobacco related projects
and food, beverage, daily-use chemical, and food ingredient
products. In terms of market, it will consolidate its domestic market
share and expand overseas markets focusing on Southeast Asia. In
terms of digitalization, the Group will continue to advance digital
transformation and increase the efficiency of internal and external
communication and cooperation, to reduce operating costs and
improve operating efficiency.

In terms of F&F and food ingredients, the Group will invest more
resources in the development and product reserves of HNB tobacco
flavours, and will invest resources to develop customers of food
flavours and fragrances to increase the proportion of revenue from
food flavours and fragrances. Leveraging on its experience and
technology in the field of flavours, the Group will help the food
ingredients segment to improve its capabilities in flavour R&D and
formula, develop more customers and promote sales growth of the
food ingredients.

In terms of tobacco raw materials business, the Group will improve
its R&D and technology reserve in innovative tobacco products,
enhance its capacity in functionality, quality, and competence. The
Group will carefully assess the demand and business development
opportunities in the overseas market, and increase its production
capacity in good time, strengthen its overseas services capability,
provide quality products and solutions to enhance its overseas
market share and boost sales of the segment. The Group will further
optimize the flavouring techniques and product quality of food
capsules, and develop more food capsule customers to increase the
sales proportion of food capsules.

As for aroma raw materials, the Group will closely monitor the
raw materials prices, plan well in procurement, and try its best to
reduce the cost of raw materials. Considering the uncertainties in
the macroeconomy, the demand of the market is likely to be volatile.
The Group will consistently re-examine its product mix and pricing,
optimize its product mix, improve its price competence, and further
the sales and profit growth of the segment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In respect of condiments, the Group will seize the opportunity arising
from the recovery of the catering industry to boost the promotion
and sales of the core products; the Group will optimize the network
of distributors, dig the consumption potential of the down market,
grow the quantity and quality of end clients; the Group will
launch more theme marketing activities, provide customers with
comprehensive foods solutions, communicate Jiahao's brands power
and influence to customers. The Group believe that the demand
of the catering industry will bounce back in 2023, which has set a
good external environment for the development of the condiment
business. The Group will seize the opportunity to improve the
performance of the condiment business.

Looking into 2023, the Pandemic in China has ended generally,
and the economic activities have started to normalize gradually.
The central and local governments have introduced measures to
encourage and promote consumption. The Group believes that the
domestic consumer market and demand will gradually rebound. The
Group will duly implement the development strategies of its business
segments and improve the quality of its products and services, with
an aim to improve its performance.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ANALYSIS OF THE GOODWILL IMPAIRMENT

Analysis of Shanghai Yifang CGU’s goodwill impairment

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Company engaged a
valuer to conduct an impairment test on goodwill of Shanghai
Yifang CGU as at 31 December 2022. According to the test results,
an impairment of goodwill of approximately RMB43.84 million was
recognized for the Shanghai Yifang CGU.

The background of Shanghai Yifang CGU’s goodwiill
impairment

On 9 August 2021, the Group acquired 40% equity interests
in Shanghai Yifang from independent third parties with a total
consideration of RMB180 million in cash. On 8 March 2022, the
Group further acquired 27% equity interests in Shanghai Yifang
from independent third parties with a total consideration of
RMB121.5 million in cash. The Group’s shareholding in Shanghai
Yifang, in aggregate, reaches 67% and Shanghai Yifang becomes
a subsidiary of the Group. The goodwill arising from the acquisition
of Shanghai Yifang by the Group amounted to approximately
RMB49.42 million.

Reasons for the recognition of goodwill impairment of
Shanghai Yifang CGU

Shanghai Yifang officially became a subsidiary of the Group on
8 March 2022. Upon completion of the acquisition, the Group
expected to be able to integrate the competitive advantages of the
Group and Shanghai Yifang in the future, to exert synergistic effects,
and to increase the revenue and profit of Shanghai Yifang. However,
after the completion of the acquisition, a series of unexpected
events had a great negative impact on Shanghai Yifang’s operation
and performance. First of all, the products of Shanghai Yifang are
mainly jams and fruit pieces, which are mainly sold to downstream
catering and tea shops to make drinks. Since the Pandemic has
occurred repeatedly across the country since April and May, many
restaurants and tea shops could not operate normally, which led to
the decline in demand for Shanghai Yifang's products. Secondly,
starting from July 2022, Jiangxi Province experienced several
months of drought, which affected the quantity and quality of fruit
harvested by Shanghai Yifang and increased its production cost. At
the same time, the drought also required the Group to invest more
funds in drought and heatstroke prevention, which indirectly led to
an increase in operating costs. The above factors led to Shanghai
Yifang's performance failing to meet the Group's expectations at the
time of acquisition. Based on the applicable accounting principles on
a prudent basis, the Group lowered the profit forecast of Shanghai
Yifang in the future, and recognized the impairment of goodwill of
approximately RMB43.84 million for Shanghai Yifang CGU. After the
recognition of the impairment, the remaining balance of Shanghai
Yifang CGU’s goodwill is approximately RMB5.58 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Analysis of RTL CGU’s goodwill impairment

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Company engaged a
valuer to conduct an impairment test on goodwill of RTL CGU as at
31 December 2022. According to the test results, an impairment of
goodwill of approximately RMB293 million was recognized for the
RTL CGU.

Background of the goodwill impairment of RTL CGU

In November 2010, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in
Guangdong Jinye Group, which was principally engaged in the
R&D, production and sales of RTL in the PRC, from independent
third parties at a consideration of approximately RMB1.147
billion. Guangdong Jinye Group has become the RTL CGU of
the Group since then. Guangdong Jinye Group is one of the few
designated production bases authorized by the STMA specializing
in the manufacturing of RTL and is also one of the largest RTL
manufacturers in the PRC. The completion of acquisition marked
that the Group had strategically entered the sector of traditional RTL
with broad development prospects.

Changes had taken place in the traditional RTL industry after 10
years of development. On the demand side, the market demand for
traditional RTL continued to decline whereas on the supply side, the
production capacity of the traditional RTL industry remained high
which exceeds the annual demand of the traditional RTL industry,
resulting in an oversupply in the industry. For the year ended 31
December 2021, the revenue of the Group’s RTL CGU decreased by
approximately 20% to approximately RMB351 million, the impact of
the oversupply in the traditional RTL industry has gradually emerged
over the past few years, which resulted in indications of impairment
of RTL CGU's goodwill. Accordingly, the Group has engaged a valuer
to conduct an impairment test on the goodwill of RTL CGU as at
31 December 2021 and recognised an impairment of goodwill of
approximately RMB293 million. After the impairment, the remaining
balance of RTL CGU's goodwill is approximately RMB649 million. For
details, please refer to the section headed “Analysis of RTL CGU'’s
goodwill impairment” in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”
of the Group’s 2021 annual report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Reasons for the recognition of goodwill impairment of RTL
caqu

Based on the audited accounts of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022, the revenue of the Group’s RTL CGU decreased by
7.3% to approximately RMB326 million from RMB351 million for the
corresponding period last year. It was aware that the oversupply in
the traditional RTL industry was still continued in 2022 which created
pressure on the sales and gross profit margin of the RTL CGU for the
year, as a result, the operating profit of the RTL CGU dropped by
34.9% year-on-year. The management of the Group considered that
the oversupply in the traditional RTL would remain for a relatively
longer period of time, while based on the principle of prudence
and conservatism, a conservative forecast on the future sales of the
traditional RTL was made with the expectation that the RTL CGU
would incur an impairment loss on goodwvill.

Goodwill impairment test

In accordance with HKAS 36, the Company performed a goodwill
impairment test on RTL CGU on 31 December 2022 (the valuation
benchmark date), and conducted a value analysis to determine
the recoverable amount of RTL CGU. According to the standard,
the recoverable amount of the CGU is determined on the higher
of the fair value less the costs of disposal (“FVLCOD") and value
in use ("VIU"). In the goodwill impairment test carried out by the
valuer, FVLCOD and VIU of RTL CGU was assessed by using market
approach and income approach respectively. According to the result
of the test, VIU was higher than that FVLCOD and therefore VIU
was adopted to be the recoverable amount of RTL CGU, which was
RMB293,195,000 lower than the carrying amount of RTL CGU. As a
result, goodwill impairment loss of RMB293,195,000 was recognised
in the consolidated income statement of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The methodology, key assumptions and basis used in
calculating the VIU of RTL CGU

The Company has engaged the valuer to carry out an impairment
test on goodwill of RTL CGU as at 31 December 2022. The valuer
used the income approach to access the VIU in the goodwill
impairment test, which was consistent with the valuation
methodology used in the impairment test of RTL CGU for end of the
last year. It was based on a five-year net cash-flow projection of RTL
CGU and cash flows beyond the five-year period were calculated
using the terminal growth rate, and the present value of such net
cash-flows were calculated using an appropriate discount rate.

The key assumptions and basis used in calculating RTL CGU’s VIU
were as follows:

1. Forecast growth rate — as determined by the management
based on past performance, the latest external economy and
business environment, combined with their projections of
market development;

2. Terminal growth rate — long-term average growth rate of RTL
CGU as estimated by the management;

3.  Budgeted gross profit margin — as determined by the
management based on the past performance and the expected
development of the market;

4. Pre-tax discount rate — the discount rate for impairment test,
with reference to the actual situation of RTL CGU, the market
condition of the same industry and its specific risk premium,
calculated with the applicable cost of equity capital and cost of
debt capital to come up with weighted average cost of capital
("WACC") based on the company’s capital structure.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Changes in key assumptions

Comparing certain key assumptions used in determining the VIU of
RTL CGU as at 31 December 2022 against those used in assessing
the VIU of RTL CGU as at 31 December 2021, major changes are as
follows:

EERENWE DT

1R 12 B
HENAE T B EEECGUR2022F12 A
BTEZERAEER B HEEECGUR
2021 F12A31B 2 AEERKMAERNE T
ARBRIXEUTEEEZE)

VIU assessment as at 31 December

R12A31B 2 R AEE
2022 2021
Key assumptions BREX 2022%F 20214F
Forecast five-year sales growth rate AFEFHEEREX -6.0% - 20.1% 3.9% - 20.6%

Reasons for change

The sales of the RTL CGU of the Group dropped approximately
7.3% from approximately RMB351 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 to approximately RMB326 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly due to the significant
decline in sales of traditional RTL of about 48.3% as compared with
the corresponding period last year. The management of the Group
re-evaluated the supply and demand situation of the traditional
RTL industry and considered that the oversupply situation in the
traditional RTL industry would remain for a relatively longer period of
time. As a result, the management downward adjusted the forecast
sales for the period between 2023 to 2026 by 14.7% to 32.1%
from the forecast for the same period made at the end of 2021, the
corresponding forecast sales growth rate was adjusted to -6.0% to
20.1%.

B R
AREFBNBEEZECGUNEEKR ABRES
2021F12A31B8 EFEHAREISETTHE
DT 3% EEE2022F12A31MBIEFEHA
RE326BTL T ZHRERBEREENHE
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EEEEY SR ERETERTBREN
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978 B HA 2023 E2026F SHE WA - B R
2021 R TEORI BR R RO FEORISH &S WA T 58
T147%%E32.1% EYHEMBEAHEER R
RIAEFIE 5-6.0%%220.1% °

VIU assessment as at 31 December

R12A318 2 EREER L
2022 2021
Key assumptions BRERX 2022%F 20214F
Budgeted gross profit margin TEEFER X 51.9% - 54.9% 49.1% - 54.3%

Reasons for change

The management’s forecast gross profit margin for the period
between 2023 to 2026 was similar to that for the same period
made at the end of 2021. It was mainly due to the proportion of the
forecast sales of products with higher gross profit margin in the CGU
will be decreased which caused the composite gross profit margin of
the CGU decreased in the forecast period. However, it will be offset
by the lower production cost resulted from the fully depreciation of
the production plants of traditional RTL at the end of 2022 and the
streamlining of labour. Therefore, the management adjusted the
budgeted gross profit margin for the forecast period between 2023
to 2026 from 52.2% to 54.3% of the forecast made at the end of
202110 51.9% to 54.9% of the forecast made at the end of 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EERENWE DT

VIU assessment as at 31 December

R12A3MB ZERAEET R
2022 2021
Key assumptions BRERR 20224 20214F
Pre-tax discount rate A AL 3R = Pre-tax discount rate of 19.0% Pre-tax discount rate of 16.5%

(approximately equivalent to
post-tax discount rate of 16.0%)
BAT AR %£19.0%
(WERBEIEIRE16.0%)

Reasons for change

The valuer determined the post-tax discount rate based on WACC.
The equity risk premium and size premium increased during the
period, after considering these factors and the combined effect of
other factors, the post-tax discount rate was calculated as 16.0%,
which was increased by 1.5 percentage points as compared with the
post-tax discount rate of 14.5% adopted at the end of 2021. With
reference to the post-tax discount rate, the valuer calculated the
corresponding pre-tax discount rate according to pre-tax cash flows
through an iterative process.

Analysis of Jiahao CGU’s goodwill impairment
The background of Jiahao CGU’s goodwill impairment

In September 2018, the Group completed the acquisition of 100%
interest in Jiahao from an independent third party for approximately
RMB4,745 million and Jiahao has since become a CGU of the Group.
Jiahao is principally engaged in the production, sale, marketing
and distribution of condiment products in China. Upon completion
of the acquisition, the Group focuses on the ancillary products of
taste-based FMCG products, including F&F products, additives,
ingredients and packaging materials, condiments and other products
in the market segments. The goodwill arising from the acquisition
of approximately RMB3,635 million is attributable to the synergies
and operating benefits expected to arise from the integration of the
operations of the Group and Jiahao.

During early 2020, the outbreak of the Pandemic in China and
its subsequent national outbreaks, the Chinese government took
various contingency measures such as extending the Chinese New
Year holidays, imposing travel and work restrictions and suspending
various daily consumption activities (including retail and catering),
which resulted in a significant decline in the revenue of Jiahao for
the six months ended 30 June 2020 and indications of impairment
of Jiahao's goodwill. Accordingly, the Group has engaged a valuer
to conduct an impairment test on the goodwill of Jiahao CGU as
at 30 June 2020 and recognised an impairment of goodwill of
approximately RMB495 million. After the impairment, the remaining
balance of Jiahao CGU's goodwill was approximately RMB3,140
million. For details, please refer to the section headed “Analysis
of Jiahao CGU’s goodwill impairment in the Interim Period” in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of the Group’s 2020 annual
report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Jiahao CGU’s goodwill impairment (for the six months
ended 30 June 2022)

Reasons for the recognition of Jiahao CGU’s goodwill
impairment

The Group originally expected the catering industry to start
recovering rapidly in 2022 as the outbreak control stabilised.
Unexpectedly, the Pandemic resurfaced in many cities and regions in
Mainland China. To protect people’s lives, the Chinese government
adopted strict lockdown measures, including mobility restriction,
business suspension and dine-in bans. These measures were
effective in controlling the Pandemic, but they also had a negative
impact on the catering industry, which is mainly focused on crowd
consumption, as the recovering catering industry had to suspend
normal business once again, resulting in a significant drop in
revenue for catering enterprises. Revenue from the catering industry
dropped by 7.7% year-on-year in the first half of 2022, and by 5.8%
compared to the first half of 2019 before the Pandemic.

In addition, the first half of 2022 saw the increase in raw material
costs due to inflation, which increased production and operating
costs for enterprises and increased downward pressure on profits.
Lastly, the highly contagious and evolving nature of the novel
coronavirus, has created additional challenges and uncertainties
for the upcoming economic recovery and normal operations of the
catering business.

For the above reasons, the Group considered that the recovery
and subsequent development of the catering industry would be
below the Group's expectation as at 31 December 2021 and would
affect the subsequent performance of the condiment business. In
accordance with prudent and appropriate accounting principles,
the management performed an impairment test on Jiahao CGU and
ultimately recognised the impairment.

Impairment test of goodwiill

In accordance with HKAS 36, the Company performed a goodwill
impairment test and conducted a value analysis on Jiahao CGU as
at 30 June 2022, the valuation benchmark date, to determine the
recoverable amount of Jiahao CGU. According to the standard, the
recoverable amount of the CGU is determined on the higher of the
FVLCOD and VIU. In the goodwill impairment test conducted by
the valuer, market approach and income approach were used to
assess the FVLCOD and VIU of the Jiahao CGU respectively. Based
on the results of the tests, the VIU amount was higher than the
FVLCOD amount and the VIU amount was therefore adopted as
the recoverable amount of Jiahao CGU, which was approximately
RMB614 million lower than the carrying value of Jiahao CGU. For
this purpose, an impairment loss of approximately RMB614 million
on goodwill was recognised in the Group’s consolidated income
statement for the six months ended 30 June 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The methodology, key assumptions and basis used in
calculating Jiahao CGU’s VIU

The Company has engaged a valuer to conduct an impairment test
on goodwill of Jiahao CGU as at 30 June 2022. The Valuer used
the income approach to assess the VIU of Jiahao CGU, which is
consistent with the valuation methodology used for the impairment
test of Jiahao CGU as at 31 December 2021. It is based on a
five-year net cash-flow projection of Jiahao CGU. Cash flows beyond
the five-year period were calculated using the terminal growth rate,
and the present value of such net cash-flows were calculated using
an appropriate discount rate.

The key assumptions and basis used in calculating Jiahao CGU’s VIU
are as follows:

1. Forecast growth rate — as determined by the management
based on past performance, the latest external economy and
industry business environment, combined with their projections
of market development;

2. Terminal growth rate — long-term average growth rate of
Jiahao CGU as estimated by the management;

3.  Budgeted gross profit margin — as determined by the
management based on the past performance and the expected
development of the market;

4. Pre-tax discount rate — the discount rate for impairment test,
with reference to the actual situation of Jiahao CGU, the
market condition of the same industry and its specific risk
premium, calculated with the applicable cost of equity capital
and cost of debt capital to come up with WACC based on the
company's capital structure.

Huabao International Holdings Limited & B2t AR A7 2022 Annual Report 3§

EERENWE DT

FTEERCGUNEREEMRERANE E
BARBRERMEE

KARIERE AN AR ICGUR2022F
68308 z & & # 7R E B R - 7146 R A
W ERTIERESZCGUNEAREBE BEx
CGUR2021412 A31 8 Fr i 89 35 18 81 558 B %
ARFEAE B - ERERCGUN R
FHMFHReREEN f&?ﬁﬁiﬁﬂmiﬁé
MEFERAKEFEEERAE SUANEBEZH
EETXD+::;A;?}£Ei//\bZEETE

Eﬁﬁ?%aw%@%%ﬁ%ﬁ%m%ﬁ@
RAEENMT -

1. BEARBREX-EEEREBAEERE
M NBERBEMITREERE - I,u:.
HE M 5% ROEMHEE

2. KEFBERER-EEEIEZSCGUR
REIFHEEE

3. BEIHEMNZX-EBREBERBEBATEENH

HMIZEREMNBEHEMET

4. BATAE IR X R ZRCGUN BERIBE R -
W2EZRZEMSEELETERBEE -
At B R R S B AR BB B AR
K- BRABEREBTTEWACC 1F
ARERHONITIREK




Management Discussion and Analysis

Changes in major key assumptions

Comparing certain major key assumptions used in determining
the VIU of Jiahao CGU as at 30 June 2022 against those used in
assessing the VIU of Jiahao CGU as at 31 December 2021, major
changes are as follows:

EERENWE DT

BARBRNER

LA R E 32 2CGUMR2022F6A30H 2
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VIU assessment

& A EER

As at 30 June 2022  As at 31 December 2021
Key assumptions BRE/RRK 7202266 H30A 72021512 H31H
Forecast five-year sales growth rate hFEFEFHIHEERE 3.5% - 26.8% 6.7% - 26.4%

Reasons for change

Revenue of Jiahao CGU for the six months ended 30 June 2022 was
approximately RMB289 million, representing a year-on-year decrease
of approximately 10.8%. In the first half of 2022, the Pandemic
resurfaced in many cities and regions in Mainland China. The
Chinese government adopted strict lockdown measures to control
the Pandemic, including mobility restriction, business suspension and
dine-in bans, resulting in a significant drop in revenue for catering
enterprises. Revenue from the catering industry dropped by 7.7%
year-on-year in the first half of 2022, and by 5.8% compared to the
first half of 2019 before the Pandemic. This, coupled with the highly
contagious and evolving nature of the novel coronavirus, has created
additional challenges and uncertainties for the upcoming economic
recovery and normal operations of the catering business. As a result,
the Group’s management has re-evaluated the development and
growth of the condiment business and has revised downward its
revenue for the forecast period of years 2022 to 2026 by 9.4% to
18.1% as compared to the forecast revenue for the same period
made at the end of 2021.
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VIU assessment

£ A E AR

As at 30 June 2022  As at 31 December 2021
Key assumptions BEBREZ 7202256 A30H 20216 12H31H
Budgeted gross profit margin AR EFE 56.5% - 57.2% 58.5% - 59.4%

Reasons for change

Production costs increased due to the higher raw material prices as a
result of inflation in the first half of 2022. The gross profit margin of
Jiahao CGU decreased to 56.5% for the six months ended 30 June
2022. As a result, the management has adjusted the budgeted gross
profit margin for years 2022 to 2026 downwards by approximately
1.3 to 2.9 percentage points from a forecast of 58.5% to 59.4% for
this budgeted period at the end of 2021 to a forecast of 56.5% to
57.2% for this budgeted period at the mid-2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 30 June 2022

EERENWE DT

VIU assessment

FRAEETG
As at 31 December 2021

Key assumptions BERR 7202256 H30H 202112 A31H
Pre-tax discount rate TR AL IR = Pre-tax discount rate of 14.6% Pre-tax discount rate of 13.5%

(approximately equivalent to
post-tax discount rate of 13.0%)
BLATRE B £ 14.6%
(WERBEIRE13.0%)

Reasons for change

The Valuer determined the post-tax discount rate based on WACC.
Considering that in the first half of 2022, several cities and regions
in Mainland China experienced a resurgence of the Pandemic.
Chinese government adopted very stringent lockdown measures
which were effective in controlling the Pandemic, but they also had
a negative impact on the catering industry, which is mainly focused
on crowd consumption, resulting in a significant drop in revenue
for catering enterprises. In the first half of 2022, the revenue of
the catering industry dropped by 7.7% year-on-year, and by 5.8%
year-on-year compared to 2019, the year before the Pandemic. The
catering industry is a major customer of the condiment business, and
considering that the Pandemic’s impact on the condiment business
will last for a long period, so the external risk of Jiahao CGU has
increased. Taking into account the combined effect of other factors,
the post-tax discount rate was calculated as 13.0%, which is a 1.0
percentage point increase over the post-tax discount rate of 12.0%
adopted at the end of 2021. With reference to the post-tax discount
rate, the valuer calculated the corresponding pre-tax discount rate
according to pre-tax cash flows through an iterative process.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Jiahao CGU’s goodwill impairment (for the year ended 31
December 2022)

Reasons for the recognition of Jiahao CGU’s goodwill
impairment

In the second half of 2022, the Pandemic further spread in many
provinces and regions in China. In order to prevent the spread of the
Pandemic, restaurants had to suspend or stop operations, and the
pace of recovery in the catering industry was once again disrupted.
In the second half of the year, the revenue of China’s catering
industry was RMB2,390.1 billion, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 5%. Although the Chinese government began to relax
the Pandemic prevention and control measures in early December
2022, due to the slowdown of the macro economy, the speed
of recovery in consumption desire and capability is uncertain. In
addition, the demand for cost reduction of small and medium-sized
catering shops that have suffered heavy losses in the past few years
would not decrease, resulting in great operational challenges and
pressure for the condiment business; finally, whether the novel
coronavirus would further mutate and affect the catering industry’s
recovery remains unknown. Taking these factors into consideration,
the Group believed that the performance and development of the
condiment business would be below the Group’s expectation as
at 30 June 2022. Based on prudent and appropriate accounting
principles, the management conducted an impairment test on Jiahao
CGU and finally confirmed the impairment.

Impairment test of goodwill

In accordance with HKAS 36, the Company performed a goodwill
impairment test and conducted a value analysis on Jiahao CGU as
at 31 December 2022, the valuation benchmark date, to determine
the recoverable amount of Jiahao CGU. According to the standard,
the recoverable amount of the CGU is determined on the higher of
the FVLCOD and VIU. In the goodwill impairment test conducted
by the valuer, market approach and income approach were used to
assess the FVLCOD and VIU of the Jiahao CGU respectively. Based
on the results of the tests, the VIU amount was higher than the
FVLCOD amount and the VIU amount was therefore adopted as
the recoverable amount of Jiahao CGU, which was approximately
RMB556,344,000 lower than the carrying value of Jiahao CGU. For
this purpose, an impairment loss of approximately RMB556,344,000
on goodwill was recognised in the Group's consolidated income
statement for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The methodology, key assumptions and basis used in
calculating Jiahao CGU’s VIU

The Company has engaged a valuer to conduct an impairment test
on goodwill of Jiahao CGU as at 31 December 2022. The Valuer
used the income approach to assess the VIU of Jiahao CGU, which is
consistent with the valuation methodology used for the impairment
test of Jiahao CGU as at 30 June 2022. It is based on a five-year
net cash-flow projection of Jiahao CGU. Cash flows beyond the
five-year period were calculated using the terminal growth rate, and
the present value of such net cash-flows were calculated using an
appropriate discount rate.

The key assumptions and basis used in calculating Jiahao CGU’s VIU
are as follows:

1. Forecast growth rate — as determined by the management
based on past performance, the latest external economy and
industry business environment, combined with their projections
of market development;

2. Terminal growth rate — long-term average growth rate of
Jiahao CGU as estimated by the management;

3.  Budgeted gross profit margin — as determined by the
management based on the past performance and the expected
development of the market;

4. Pre-tax discount rate — the discount rate for impairment test,
with reference to the actual situation of Jiahao CGU, the
market condition of the same industry and its specific risk
premium, calculated with the applicable cost of equity capital
and cost of debt capital to come up with WACC based on the
company's capital structure.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Changes in major key assumptions

Comparing certain major key assumptions used in determining the
VIU of Jiahao CGU as at 31 December 2022 against those used in
assessing the VIU of Jiahao CGU as at 30 June 2022, major changes
are as follows:

EERENWE DT
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G RTRE E 32 2CGUR2022F12A318H 2
F AEER - HiF 3% 5%CGUR2022F6 A
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VIU assessment

EREETM
As at 31 December 2022 As at 30 June 2022
Key assumptions RREREZ 7A2022F12A31H 7202256 6H30H
Forecast five-year sales growth rate hFEFEFHEERE 7.8% —22.7% 3.5% —26.8%

Reasons for change

Revenue of Jiahao CGU for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
approximately RMB573 million, representing a year-on-year decrease
of approximately 15.3%. In the second half of 2022, the Pandemic
further spread in many provinces and regions in China. In order to
prevent the spread of the Pandemic, restaurants had to suspend
or cease operations, the revenue of China’s catering industry
dropped sharply. In the second half of the year, the revenue of
China’s catering industry decreased by 5% year-on-year. Although
the Chinese government began to relax the Pandemic prevention
and control measures in early December 2022, the recovery speed
of the catering industry was unpredictable. At the same time,
it was not certain whether the Pandemic would further mutate
and affect the recovery of the catering industry. As a result, the
Group’s management re-evaluated the development and growth
of the condiment business and revised downward its revenue for
the forecast period between 2023 to 2026 by 7.8% to 21.1% as
compared to the forecast revenue for the same period made at 30
June 2022.

Key assumptions

As at 31 December 2022

EB#ERE

7= 5CGUMEH & I A R 1E2022F12 A31H
IFFEEHNARES 73BT A 15.3% o
Q02F TN HEF - BIBE—TEFHZ@EE D
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VIU assessment
As at 30 June 2022

72022512H31H 7202246 A30H

Budgeted gross profit margin TR ERE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Reasons for change

Production costs increased due to the higher raw material prices
as a result of inflation in 2022. The gross profit margin of Jiahao
CGU decreased to 56.1% for the year ended 31 December 2022.
The management estimated that the raw material prices may
continue to rise, the gross profit margin would be subject to certain
downward pressure. As a result, the management has adjusted the
budgeted gross profit margin for years 2023 to 2026 downwards
by approximately 0.9 to 1.9 percentage points from a forecast of
56.5% to 56.6% for the forecast period made at the mid-2022 to a
forecast of 54.7% to 55.6% for the forecast period made at the end
of 2022.

g2HRE

RR2022F BIRBEBURM KB &M EEK
AEF - ZRCGURE =2022F12A31H
FFEEEFERTHRES1% - EREHEFR
MEEBRIUESFELFENBE  Efxe
XE—FETEBEN Bt BEEB2023F
F2026FMTERBEFETH T £0.921.91F
BB 20224 A HA ¥ )t 78R B A0 T8 ORI
56.5%%56.6%[[ T 88 £2022F K It 78
Bl BA 5 A 78081 54.7 % 2= 55.6% ©

VIU assessment

fEAEET N
As at 31 December 2022 As at 30 June 2022
Key assumptions AREBR 7A2022%612A31H 202246 H30H
Pre-tax discount rate i ATBLIE =K Pre-tax discount rate of 15.9% Pre-tax discount rate of 14.6%

(approximately equivalent to
post-tax discount rate of 14.0%)
BAl B IR #*£15.9%
(WERBIEBEIRE14.0%)

Reasons for change

The Valuer determined the post-tax discount rate based on WACC.
The equity risk premium increased during the period, after taking
into account the combined effect of other factors, the post-tax
discount rate was calculated as 14.0%, which was increased by 1.0
percentage point as compared with the post-tax discount rate of
13.0% adopted at 30 June 2022. With reference to the post-tax
discount rate, the valuer calculated the corresponding pre-tax
discount rate according to pre-tax cash flows through an iterative
process.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Analysis of annual results for the year ended 31 December 2022

Revenue

The Group's revenue amounted to RMB3,828,984,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022, representing a decrease of 1.4% as
compared with RMB3,882,683,000 for the corresponding period
last year. The decrease in the revenue was due to lower sales volume
as a result of increased competition in the market, the revenue of
F&F & food ingredients segment declined by 2.6% year-on-year
to RMB1,877,336,000. Also, due to the lower demand for the
traditional RTL and intense competition in the cigarette capsule
industry that resulted in a declining sales volume and price of
capsule, revenue of tobacco raw materials segment declined by
19.7% year-on-year to RMB454,257,000. In addition, due to the
decrease in customer demand as a result of the Pandemic’s impacts
on the catering industry, revenue of condiment segment decreased
significantly by 15.3% year-on-year to RMB573,069,000. However,
the revenue of aroma raw materials segment increased by 29.5%
year-on-year to RMB924,322,000 resulted from the mass production
in Jiangxi Xianghai during the Reporting Period. As a result, the
decrease in revenue was offset largely.

Cost of goods sold

The Group’s cost of goods sold amounted to RMB1,951,421,000
for the year ended 31 December 2022, representing an increase of
23.0% as compared with RMB1,586,021,000 for the corresponding
period last year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's gross profit decreased from RMB2,296,662,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2021 to RMB1,877,563,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022, representing a decrease of approximately
18.2%. The decrease in gross profit was mainly attributable to the
decrease in gross profit margin of the current year. The Group’s
gross profit margin for the current year was 49.0%, representing a
decrease of 10.2 percentage points as compared with 59.2% for the
same period last year. It was mainly attributable to the increase in
production cost as a result of inflation and prices increase of major
commodities, expenses related to unutilized production capacity
being accounted for in the cost of goods sold, and the changes in
products’ mix of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other income and other gains - net

For the year ended 31 December 2022, other income and other
gains (net) of the Group was RMB212,812,000, representing a
decrease of RMB35,707,000 as compared with RMB248,519,000
for the corresponding period last year. The decrease in other income
and other gains was mainly due to the government grants reached
of RMB126,085,000 in the current year, representing a decrease
of RMB20,457,000 as compared with RMB146,542,000 of the
corresponding period last year. Also, a loss of RMB24,083,000
for the change in fair value of previously held interest in a jointly
controlled entity upon acquisition as a subsidiary was recorded in the
current year.

Selling and marketing expenses

The selling and marketing expenses of the Group comprised mainly
travelling expenses, business and markets promotion expenses,
agency services expenses, salaries and office expenses, etc. For the
year ended 31 December 2022, the selling and marketing expenses
of the Group was RMB344,405,000, representing an increase of
17.8% as compared with RMB292,244,000 for the corresponding
period last year. Selling and marketing expenses for the current
year accounted for approximately 9.0% of the total revenue,
representing an increase of 1.5 percentage points as compared
with approximately 7.5% for last year. The increase in such ratio
and the increase in the selling and marketing expenses were
mainly attributable to the Group’s increase in business and markets
promotion expenses in response to the fierce market competition
and the newly acquired food ingredients business in the current
year.

Administrative expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s administrative
expenses amounted to RMB825,959,000, representing a decrease
of 1.9% as compared with RMB841,663,000 for the corresponding
period last year. The decrease was mainly attributable to the
expenses related to unutilized production capacity being accounted
for in cost of goods sold, but largely offset by the provision of
impairment loss on construction in progress provided in the current
year. Administrative expenses for the current year accounted for
approximately 21.6% of the total revenue, which was basically the
same as approximately 21.7% for the year ended 31 December
2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Operating (loss)/profit

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's operating
loss was RMB607,975,000, representing a decrease of
RMB1,722,452,000 as compared with the operating profit of
RMB1,114,477,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
year-on-year decrease in operating profit was mainly due to an
increase of RMB1,214,440,000 in impairment of goodwill, a
decrease of RMB35,707,000 in other income and other gains (net),
and a decrease in gross profit.

If goodwill impairment of RMB1,507,710,000 and RMB293,270,000
for the current year and last year were excluded respectively, the
operating profit for the current year would be RMB899,735,000,
representing a decrease of 36.1% as compared with the
corresponding period last year of RMB1,407,747,000 (goodwill
impairment were excluded); the operating profit margin for the
current year would be approximately 23.5%, representing a decrease
of 12.8 percentage points as compared with approximately 36.3%
(goodwill impairment were excluded) for the corresponding period
last year, which was mainly due to the decrease in gross profit
margin of the current year.

Income tax expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2022, income tax expenses of
the Group was RMB180,840,000, representing a decrease of
RMB70,753,000 as compared with RMB251,593,000 for the last
year. If the goodwill impairment of the current year and last year
were both excluded respectively, and the provision for impairment
on the investment in an associate were excluded, income tax rate
of the current year would be approximately 19.5%, representing an
increase of 2.0 percentage points as compared with approximately
17.5% for the last year, which was mainly attributable to the
increase in the current year's amount of tax losses for which no
deferred income tax assets were recognized.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

(Loss)/profit for the year

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's loss for
the year was RMB901,050,000, representing a decrease of
RMB1,796,834,000 as compared with the profit of RMB895,784,000
of last year. The year-on-year change was mainly due to the increase
of RMB1,214,440,000 in impairment of goodwill in the current
year, the provision of RMB139,000,000 for impairment loss on the
investment in an associate and the decline in gross profit. During the
current year, due to the impacts of prevention and control policies
of Pandemic and the closure of many cities in the Mainland, revenue
of Junjieshang Network Technology Co., Ltd (“Junjieshang”), which
is principally engaged in technology development and promotion
in the field of internet technology, advertisement design and
production, has not reached the expectation in the current year and
therefore impairment indicator has arisen. The Group has engaged
an independent valuer to make an impairment test on Junjieshang
and finally recognised an impairment loss of RMB139,000,000.

If goodwill impairment for the current year and last year were both
excluded respectively, and the provision of impairment relating to
the investment in an associate were excluded for the current year,
the profit for the year would be RMB745,660,000, representing a
decrease of 37.3% as compared with the corresponding period last
year of RMB1,189,054,000 (goodwill impairment were excluded).

(Loss)/profit attributable to the equity holders of the
Company

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the loss attributable to
the equity holders of the Company was RMB1,054,547,000,
representing a decrease of RMB1,729,678,000 as compared
with the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company of
RMB675,131,000 of last year. The year-on-year change was mainly
due to the increase of RMB1,214,440,000 in impairment of goodwill
in the current year, the provision of RMB139,000,000 for impairment
loss on the investment in an associate and the decline in gross profit.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Net current asset value and financial resources

As at 31 December 2022, the net current asset value of the Group
was RMB6,944,129,000 (31 December 2021: RMB6,738,947,000).
The Group generates its working capital mainly through its
operating activities to maintain a sound financial position. As at 31
December 2022, the Group’s cash and bank balances amounted
to RMB4,747,978,000 (31 December 2021: RMB3,553,409,000),
over 83.5% of which was held in RMB. In addition, the fair value
of the Group’s investment in bank wealth management products
that remain outstanding as at 31 December 2022 amounted to
RMB1,594,315,000 (31 December 2021: RMB3,256,499,000) which
was classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Bank borrowings and gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had bank borrowings of
RMB677,700,000 (31 December 2021: RMB962,774,000), of which
secured loans amounted to RMB65,000,000 (31 December 2021:
nil) and the unsecured loans amounted to RMB612,700,000 (31
December 2021: RMB962,774,000), all of which were denominated
in RMB due within one year (31 December 2021: RMB459,950,000
was denominated in RMB and RMB502,824,000 was denominated
in HKD, and due within one year). For the current year, the average
annual interest rate of the secured loans was 4.2% (year ended 31
December 2021: 5.7%), and the average annual interest rate of
the unsecured loans were 2.8% (year ended 31 December 2021:
2.9%). As at 31 December 2022, the Group's gearing ratio (total
borrowings, include current and non-current borrowings, divided by
total equity (excludes non-controlling interests)) was 5.4%, which
was decreased significantly by 1.5 percentage points from 6.9% as
of 31 December 2021.

Investing activities

The Group’s investing activities included the purchase of property,
plant and equipment, financial assets investment and merger &
acquisition activities related to the strategical development strategies.
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the net cash generated
from investing activities amounted to RMB1,244,039,000, mainly
the proceeds from wealth management products upon expiry. For
the year ended 31 December 2021, the net cash used in investing
activities amounted to RMB2,095,235,000.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the net cash used in
financing activities of the Group amounted to RMB997,635,000,
mainly comprised of repayment of bank loans of RMB1,179,178,000,
payment of cash dividends of RMB150,661,000 paid to
shareholders of the Company, cash dividends of RMB194,454,000
paid to non-controlling interests and addition of bank loans of
RMB750,590,000. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the net
cash used in financing activities amounted to RMB672,724,000.

Trade receivables turnover period

Trade receivables turnover period is calculated on the basis of the
average amount of trade receivables as at the beginning and at the
end of a relevant financial period divided by the total revenue for
the corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days. The Group
generally offers its customers a credit period of approximately
0-180 days, depending on the business volume of, and the length
of business relationship with the customers. For the year ended 31
December 2022, the Group’s average trade receivables turnover
period was 89 days, which basically remained the same as 87 days
for the corresponding period last year.

Trade payables turnover period

Trade payables turnover period is calculated on the basis of the
average amount of trade payables as at the beginning and at the
end of a relevant financial period divided by the cost of goods sold
for the corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days. Credit
periods granted by suppliers to the Group ranged from 0-180 days.
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s average trade
payables turnover period was 53 days, representing a decrease of
12 days as compared with 65 days of the corresponding period last
year. The decrease was mainly due to the spread of the Pandemic
in the fourth quarter of 2022 in the mainland that affected the
purchase and logistic of raw materials, and led to the decline in the
balance of trade payables as at 31 December 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Inventory and inventory turnover period

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's inventory balance amounted
to RMB1,020,023,000, representing an increase of RMB122,797,000
as compared with the balance of RMB897,226,000 as at 31
December 2021. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group’s inventory turnover period (calculated on the basis of the
average amount of inventory balances as at the beginning and at
the end of a relevant financial period divided by the total cost of
goods sold for the corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days)
was 177 days, decreased by 22 days as compared with 199 days of
the corresponding period last year. The decrease of such ratio was
mainly due to the effective management of inventory and the spread
of the Pandemic in the fourth quarter of 2022, which affects the
procurement and logistic of raw materials.

Foreign exchange and exchange rate risk

The principal businesses of the Group are located in Mainland China
and the majority of the revenue is denominated in RMB, with the
exception of only a certain amount of imported raw materials and
equipment which are denominated in foreign currency such as USD
or EUR, etc.. The Group’s bank deposits are mainly denominated in
RMB, USD and HKD. Management concurs with the views of the
People’s Bank of China on the RMB exchange rate, that is, the RMB
exchange rate has the capability to continuously remain basically
stable within reasonable range of equilibrium.

Pledge of assets

During the year ended 31 December 2022, certain buildings and
right-of-use assets of Shanghai Yifang Group with total carrying
values of RMB17,662,000 were used as collateral for bank loans
of RMB65,000,000 (31 December 2021: nil). Apart from the
above-mentioned, the Group had no pledged assets as at 31
December 2022.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had capital commitments
in respect of the purchase of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, right-of-use assets, investments in a jointly
controlled entity and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, contracted for but not provided in the financial statements
amounted to approximately RMB215,563,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB251,181,000).

Contingent liabilities

According to the information available to the Board, the Group had
no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2022.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu, aged 53, the Chairlady of the Board, CEO,
Executive Director and the Chairlady of Nomination Committee of
the Company. Ms. Chu has been a member of the Board since March
2004. Ms. Chu is the mother of Mr. LAM Ka Yu (the Co-Chairman
of the Board and an Executive Director of the Company) and
Ms. LAM Ka Yan (an Executive Director and a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company). Ms. Chu is also a director
of the Company's principal subsidiaries marked with “C1" as set
out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. Ms. Chu
has extensive experience in formulating strategies and making
executive decisions on business operation, investments and market
development. She was a member of the Fourth and Fifth Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference Committee (Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province). Ms. Chu, through the corporations controlled
by her, is the beneficial owner of Company as set out on page 107
of this annual report headed under Directors’ Interests in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures.

Mr. LAM Ka Yu, aged 30, the Co-Chairman of the Board and an
Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lam has been a member
of the Board since November 2013. Mr. Lam is the son of Ms. CHU
Lam Yiu (the Chairlady of the Board, CEO, Executive Director
and Controlling Shareholder of the Company), and the brother
of Ms. LAM Ka Yan (an Executive Director and a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company). Mr. Lam is also a director
of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with “L1" and the
legal representative of those companies marked with “L2" as set out
in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Lam was
educated in the United Kingdom and the United States of America.
For corporate management experiences, Mr. Lam is currently a
managing director and legal representative of a private company,
which is engaged in e-commerce business in China. He previously
served as a director and the general manager of a company which is
engaged in advertising media business in China.

Mr. XIA Liqun, aged 56, an Executive Director, Vice Chairman,
President and a member of the Remuneration Committee of
the Company. Mr. Xia has been a member of the Board since
September 2006. Mr. Xia is also a director of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries marked with “X1" and the legal representative
of those companies marked with “X2" as set out in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements. Mr. Xia holds a Bachelor’s degree
in economics and is a certified accountant, certified tax specialist and
certified appraiser in China. Mr. Xia has over 20 years of financial
and corporate management experience. He previously worked in
domestic accounting firms in China and was a senior management
member of a foreign invested enterprise in China. Mr. Xia is currently
the honorary chairman of the Shanghai Food Additive & Batching
Association.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok, aged 60, an Executive Director, Vice
President and the Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Poon
has been a member of the Board since March 2004. Mr. Poon was
awarded the postgraduate diploma in laws by the University of
London. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in laws, a Bachelor’s degree in
business studies and a Master’s degree in international accounting.
He is a fellow of CPA Australia Ltd., The Chartered Governance
Institute, and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and
a member of its Technical Consultation Panel, and a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute. Mr. Poon
has extensive experience and knowledge in areas of compliance,
corporate finance and corporate governance of listed companies.

Ms. LAM Ka Yan, aged 25, an Executive Director and a member
of the Nomination Committee of the Company. She has been a
member of the Board since February 2022 where she is involved in
the formulation and implementation of the Group's strategy and
involved in the strategic direction and positioning of the Group's
innovative businesses. Ms. Lam had joined the Group in July 2020
where she was engaged in the sales and marketing of the Group’s
condiment segment. Ms. Lam is the daughter of Ms. CHU Lam Yiu
(the Chairlady of the Board, CEO, Executive Director and Controlling
Shareholder of the Company), and the sister of Mr. LAM Ka Yu
(the Co-chairman of the Board and an Executive Director of the
Company). Ms. Lam obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from
Columbia University (U.S.).

Ms. CHOY Man Har, aged 56, an Executive Director of the
Company. She has been a member of the Board since February 2022.
Ms. Choy joined the Group since 2006 and has held various positions
within the Group. She has been the deputy chief financial officer of
the Group since 2018 and was mainly responsible for the financial
reporting and financial management of the Group. Ms. Choy has
over 30 years of experience in accounting and financial management
related disciplines. Before joining the Group, Ms. Choy worked
in quasi-governmental organizations in Hong Kong. Ms. Choy
holds a bachelor degree in Business Administration of the Chinese
University of Hong Kong and is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom, a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
and a fellow member of The Chartered Governance Institute and The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu, aged 65, an Independent Non-executive Director,
the chairman of both of the Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Lee has been a member of the Board since May 2006.
Mr. Lee is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom and a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lee has over 30
years of experience in commercial accounting and corporate finance.
Mr. Lee has principally engaged in corporate finance and regulatory
aspects in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He was an assistant vice
president of the Listing Division of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
and his duties included regulating and monitoring the Hong Kong
listed companies in relation to their compliance with the Listing Rules
and processing new listing applications. He also served as a senior
consultant of an investment bank for more than 5 years.

Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN, aged 60, an Independent Non-executive
Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee (appointed in February 2022) of the
Company. Mr. Yan has been a member of the Board since May
2019. Mr. Yan graduated from University of Technology, Sydney
with a Master of Management. Mr. Yan previously served as the
Director of the MBA (Mandarin International) Education Centre
of the University of Technology, Sydney from 1998 to 2000, the
General Manager of Insearch Consulting (Shanghai) Ltd. from
2001 to 2005, the General Manager of Ecole Fashion Consulting
(Beijing) Ltd. from 2006 to 2013 and the Director of Global Finance
Development Education Center of PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua
University from 2013 to 2020. Mr. Yan is the president of China
Global Philanthropy Institute (CGPI) since September 2020.

Mr. HOU Haitao, aged 42, is an Independent Non-executive
Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. He has
been a member of the Board since May 2022. Mr. Hou has over 13
years of experience in the investment banking industry. Mr. Hou
holds a master’s degree in accounting. Since 2008, Mr. Hou has
been working in different securities companies in China. He is a
senior professional in the capital market. He has presided over the
listing and capital operation of many companies and has extensive
experience in the capital market.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. YUAN Xiaoqin, aged 54, a president of Huabao Flavours, joined
the Group since August 2006. Ms. Yuan is also a director of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with “YX1” and the legal
representative of those companies marked with “YX2" as set out in
Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. Ms. Yuan holds an
MBA degree and is a qualified engineer. Before joining the Group,
Ms. Yuan served as an executive in a Hong Kong listed state-owned
enterprise. She has over 20 years of experience in senior management
position. Ms. Yuan is currently the deputy director of China Association
of Fragrance Flavour and Cosmetic Industries, deputy director of China
Association of Bakery & Confectionery Industry, chairman of the Food
Additives and Ingredients Industry Association in Shanghai City and
consultant of the Federation of Industry and Commerce in Chaoyang
District, Shantou City. She was a representative of the People’s Congress
in Shantou City, Guangdong Province and a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in
Chaoyang District, Shantou City.

Mr. ZHAO Dexu, aged 46, a vice president of the Group, joined the
Group since July 2020. Mr. Zhao is also a director of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries marked with “ZD1" and the legal representative
of those companies marked with “ZD2" as set out in Note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Zhao graduated with
a Master’s degree in Computer Science from The Brandenburg
University of Technology Cottbus-Senftenberg in Germany and
had previously worked in Germany. Mr. Zhao was selected as an
“overseas high level talent” of Jiangsu Province and as a “high-end
foreign talent” in Shanghai. He was presented the “2012 Best
Value CIO Award” in 2012 and was named as one of China’s digital
transformation leader in 2018 and 2019. Since 2019, he also serves
as the sixth batch of postgraduate advisor of Jiangsu Province and
an industry professor of Jiangsu University. Before joining the Group,
Mr. Zhao held executive position in large diversified organizations.
He has extensive experiences in the fields of corporate management,
strategic and information management.

Mr. CHOY Man Fai, aged 59, a vice president of Huabao Flavours,
joined the Group since August 2006, responsible for the technical
aspect of marketing and sales of tobacco flavours. Mr. Choy is also
a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked “FC1"” as
set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. He holds
a diploma of applied chemical technology of Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Mr. Choy served as a marketing manager in a number of
world renowned flavours and fragrances companies. Mr. Choy has
over 20 years of experience in flavours and fragrances marketing and
management.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Alan DAVIES, aged 75, the chief flavourist of Huabao Flavours
and general manager of Aromascape Development Centre in
Germany, joined the Group since February 2007. Mr. Davies is also a
director of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries marked with “AD1"
as set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.
Mr. Davies holds a Higher National Diploma in food science of
Grimsby College of Technology, United Kingdom. Mr. Davies served
as a senior flavourist in charge of creation and applications in a
number of world renowned flavours and fragrances companies
and tobacco factory, including BBA, Carreras Rothmans, Dragoco
and Symrise. Mr. Davies has over 50 years of experience in tobacco
flavours.

Mr. REN Miao, aged 43, a vice president of Huabao Flavours, joined
the Group since September 2016. Mr. Ren is also a director of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with “"RM1” as set out in
Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Ren graduated
from Taiyuan University of Technology with a bachelor’s degree
in Machinery Design, Manufacturing and Automation. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Ren held several executive positions such as
marketing director, vice president, etc. at various companies, and has
extensive practical experience in marketing strategy management.

Mr. GAO Xu, aged 39, the president of Tobacco Raw Materials
Business Division and general manager of the Company’s subsidiaries
namely, Shanghai Huabao Biological Technology Co., Ltd., Guangdong
Golden Leaf Technology Development Co., Ltd. (“Guangdong Jinye")
and Hunan Jishou Minzu Materials Co., Ltd, joined the Group since
April 2007. Mr. Gao is also a director of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries marked with “GX1" and the legal representative of
those companies marked with “GX2" as set out in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements. Mr. Gao holds a bachelor’s degree
in Food Science and Engineering from Nanjing University of Finance
and Economics and a master’s degree in Food Science from Jiangnan
University. Since joining the Group in 2007, Mr. Gao has held different
positions, namely technician of tobacco flavour market service center,
deputy general manager of Yunnan Tianhong Flavor and Fragrance Co.,
Ltd., assistant to the chairman of Guangdong Jinye, vice president of
Tobacco Raw Materials Business Division and president of Tobacco Raw
Materials Business Division. He has extensive operational and managerial
experience in tobacco raw materials.

Ms. LI Xiaojun, aged 53, a vice president of Huabao Flavours,
joined the Group since June 2000. Ms. Li is also a director of the
Company'’s principal subsidiaries marked with “LX1" and the legal
representative of those companies marked with “LX2" as set out
in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. Ms. Li holds a
bachelor’s degree and is a qualified Intermediate Accountant. After
joining the Group, Ms. Li served as a financial manager in the Group
and presidents of several subsidiaries. Since August 2020, she is also
the chairman of Amber (XiaMen) Fragrance Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of
the Group listed on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations).
Ms. Li has about 20 years of extensive experiences in the field of
corporate management.
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Corporate Governance Report

Corporate governance refers to the rules and incentives by which the
management of a company is directed and controlled to maximize
the profitability and long-term value of the firm for shareholders
while taking into account the interest of other legitimate
stakeholders (UK Cadbury Report 1992). The Board recognises the
importance and benefits of good corporate governance practices
and has adopted certain corporate governance and disclosure
practices aiming at a high level of transparency and accountability.
The Company is committed to continuously improving its corporate
governance practices as part of its own corporate culture.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Save and except as disclosed below, the Company had complied
with the code provisions in the CG Code and, where appropriate,
adopted the recommended best practices as set out in the CG
Code throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (the
“Financial Year").

The Company has not fully complied with the code provisions
C.1.4, C.2 and F.2.2 as the performance of the chairman’s duties
by Ms. Chu has been affected to a certain extent since late January
2022 as Ms. Chu was placed under residential surveillance at a
designated location (3§ 7€ /& FT B 4% /& {X). For details, please refer
to the section headed “Investigation Against Directors” on pages
110 to 111 of this report. The responsibilities under code provisions
C.2 during the Financial Year were shared and undertaken by
the Co-Chairman (Mr. LAM Ka Yu had resumed his duties since
21 July 2022), Vice Chairman & President, the Vice President &
Company Secretary and other directors. In addition, due to the
reasons discussed above, Ms. Chu did not participate in continuous
professional development during the Financial Year in accordance
with code provision C.1.4 and Ms. Chu and Mr. Lam did not attend
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 20 May 2022
in accordance with code provision F.2.2. Notwithstanding the above,
the Company has adopted the following alternative actions and
steps during the Financial Year to redress the deficiencies in the
relevant code provisions:
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Code Provision

<FRIMR 3

EEERBRE

Alternative actions and steps taken during the
Reporting Period
RAEFBFERRRMNERTHNSR

C.2.1: The roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. The division of responsibilities
between the chairman and chief executive should be
clearly established and set out in writing.

C2IERETRAENABEAR Y - X TEH—
AREFE - TFRETRAR CFABEN D TEF
BREWASEINE -

C.2.2 The chairman should ensure that all directors are
properly briefed on issues arising at board meetings.

C2EREEREES SR LMAESHEHEN
EERMNSEE -

Ms. Chu’'s duties as Chairlady and CEO were shared and
undertaken by the Co-Chairman, Vice Chairman (also as
President of the Group), the Vice President & Company Secretary
and other directors, including presiding over the daily business
meetings and meetings of the board of directors, participating
in the general meeting of shareholders, and implementing the
formulated business strategies, etc.

KRLTEREIRFRERATE  HBBHAREEBREELE - B
FTRERREH FBIRRAWEREMEZTHA R OES
RIFBHELLERNEFTE 2MKRERE  HTEHED

7 M Ape
KBRS -

The Co-Chairman, Vice Chairman & President of the Group,
with the assistance of the Vice President & Company Secretary
and their respective teams, ensures that the Board operates
effectively and discharges its due responsibilities, and promptly
discusses all important and appropriate matters and establishes
good corporate governance practices and procedures. The Vice
President (with dual capacity as Company Secretary) prepares
the agenda of the board of directors according to the annual
schedule of the board meeting and communicates with all
directors in a timely manner, including but not limited to daily
announcement disclosure, annual budget review, annual
corporate management report, audit matters and risk and
internal control audit, etc. The Vice Chairman & President of the
Group, with the assistance of the Vice President & Company
Secretary and their respective teams, has also sent board papers,
including but not limited to, records of minutes of the board
meetings to Ms. Chu and Mr. Lam to keep them apprised of the
developments of the Group.
AEEMEERELEEFRERERERAIFLATNWEREE
SHH THRAREESABOLEE BBETEARE L NE
MEEZMNEEFHETARRIERINEEERERR
B BlARRAINERFEESEERARHARBRHRES
SRENEREFNNEREEETRRAEAERE &
EREEZ FECEELORE FAFEMABEAEES
Z-AEBEBEIFREBERNEIHFATWE LA BB B
THhHBEFEXH BRETRRNEFSSHLHE  BXETK
T+ RMEENETHARER -
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Code Provision

<FRIMR 3

TEERBRE

Alternative actions and steps taken during the
Reporting Period
RAEFBFERRRMNERTHNSR

C.2.3 The chairman should be responsible for ensuring
that directors receive, in a timely manner, adequate
information, which must be accurate, clear, complete
and reliable.
C23FEEEERRESTIFRIZHHNEN - M
BERAEMIT L /AERBH RTHEa 5 -

C.2.4 One of the important roles of the chairman is to
provide leadership for the board. The chairman should
ensure that the board works effectively and performs
its responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate
issues are discussed by it in a timely manner. The
chairman should be primarily responsible for drawing
up and approving the agenda for each board
meeting. The chairman should take into account,
where appropriate, any matters proposed by the other
directors for inclusion in the agenda. The chairman
may delegate this responsibility to a designated
director or the company secretary.

C24 TREF—AEEACETEAEERTE -
FRERESSARULERF ABETERARE
TEERMBEEZMNEE FHRETIR TR
BEXr2REEFTIHEFRETSEHRNRRE
WHEEEBTR T MEMEFRZNARREN
ERER - TFAKERECEREENES
HRFME

C.2.5 The chairman should take primary responsibility
for ensuring that good corporate governance practices
and procedures are established.
C25FXFEREBIESE BRAAGERIFNDE
ERBREARR -

Refer to C.2.2 above.

BHRE A EC22-

The Company conceived and formulated a three-year strategic
plan from 2021 to 2023 in September 2020, and Ms. Chu
participated in and led the strategic planning including the
formulation of the three-year strategic plan and the approval
of the plans submitted by various departments. In September
2021, the plan was finalized and introduced and announced to
the executives by the Vice Chairman & President of the Group,
who then delegated it to executive Directors and unit leaders for
implementation.

During the Financial Year, the Company continued and
successfully implemented the three-year strategic plan from 2021
to 2023. During the Financial Year, Ms. Chu'’s duties were shared
by the Co-Chairman, Vice Chairman & President of the Group,
the Vice President & Company Secretary and other directors.

RABIAR2020F9 A1 B R HIE2021F £2023FH = F 5%
BEARE MAZLTLRHEERFTETHRRBRIBEED =
FRBERE LB SRS - K2021F98 © 7
BMEYBAARANITES FIEFREELEMAREN
BREM PREXARTEESRENEBEAZERIT -
RAMBERE - AR a #EIIEF H 0 172021F £2023
FH=ZFREERE - RATBEE L THBEHAE
HEEE  BIETRREBY  ARHEFARMEREME
EHREMBIDIE -

Refer to C.2.2 above.

B2 EC22-
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Code Provision

<FRIMR 3

EEERBRE

Alternative actions and steps taken during the
Reporting Period
RAEFBFERRRMNERTHNSR

C.2.6 The chairman should encourage all directors
to make a full and active contribution to the board's
affairs and take the lead to ensure that it acts in the
best interests of the issuer. The chairman should
encourage directors with different views to voice their
concerns, allow sufficient time for discussion of issues
and ensure that board decisions fairly reflect board
consensus.
C26FEREAXBMEEEFENRAEETSER I
NEER BREEFGTETERITARENE -
FREZBBEIRAEANESHREHATETN
EFH - SHKTELEERCHEETR ARBRES
BWAEERAIRBESSMNHE -

C.2.7 The chairman should at least annually hold
meetings with the independent non-executive
directors without the presence of other directors.

C27TEREELEBFEBIYIFATERTET X
REEMBEFTHRENGZ -

C.2.8 The chairman should ensure that appropriate
steps are taken to provide effective communication
with shareholders and that their views are
communicated to the board as a whole.

C.2.8 L@ EREMRRBUE S 4 B AR+ B I A
2 UARBRERERTEZIBEEES -

C.2.9 The chairman should promote a culture of
openness and debate by facilitating the effective
contribution of non-executive directors in particular
and ensuring constructive relations between executive
and non-executive directors.

C29 XFEREQH BEMwmONXL  REES
(FRIREHNTESR) HEFTSIEFLAMER - L #
ROTEFEIERTEST CREFERENBR -

Refer to C.2.2 above.

B2 EC22-

The Vice President & Company Secretary and his team had been
acting as a communication channel between the Chairlady,
the President of the Group and the independent non-executive
directors, including but not limited to the latest development
of the Group’s business, risk management and internal control
system review and corporate governance system updates.
BlERFARNERABKSERIBEREBEHNB LI
WITESEZABBREFBETERAERXREEMERBN -
FERERRANERREERCREREARNENBERASEEIE
B e

There have been no changes to the existing Shareholders’
Communication Policy. The Co-Chairman, Vice Chairman &
President of the Group and the Vice President & Company
Secretary and its team have considered that such Shareholders’
Communication Policy remains effective given that there is no
barrier for the shareholders to communicate their views to the
board as a whole.

RENRRBABRLBETMAE G - EXRREMNBEES
EEEERARAARE AAKEREER  BlEEHRENR
FElmmsw A mEREERRRZR R BABERDAER

Refer to C.2.2 above.

BEENEC22-
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Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of
applying and complying with the CG Code but about promoting
and developing an ethical and healthy corporate culture. The
Directors will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve
the standard operations of the Company on the basis of the
experience and regulatory changes to enhance the confidence of the
Shareholders, and to safeguard Shareholders’ interest for assuring
healthy business developments.

Changes in Information in respect of Directors

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B (1) of the Listing Rules.

Corporate’s Culture and Strategy

The Group is committed to developing a culture that is built on its
vision, spirit, core values and mission which create corporate culture
that builds consensus (5 2 2L i) and inspires progress (& B) & ).
Upholding the corporate vision of “Flavour your life” (3E5 4 & 5| 48
#), the Group's business development has been around its spirit of”
Innovative, pragmatic, loyal and cooperative” (BI¥f * #& « B
1 1) since its inception, in which “client first, value creation and
shared achievements” (EF = £ ~ BEAIE « £=Z H5H) have been
integrated into all business operations from sourcing, production,
transportation, through to the sales and customer services. More
information about the Company’s vision, spirit, core values and
mission are available on the Company website (www.huabao.com.hk).

The Group has a set of prudent and continuous strategic planning
procedures to identify and evaluate potential opportunities and
challenges faced by the Group, and formulate action plans for
the Group to create sustainable long-term value for shareholders.
The Group’s strategy is based on the concentric and diversified
development strategy of flavors and fragrances as the “core”, with
the development concept of “green, healthy and nutrition” (4 €
f# [T - & &), to create a taste-related consumer goods industry
cluster with flavors and fragrances as the “core”, and a delicious life
in the large catering sector’s ecological platform as two wings, with
the long-term development goal of becoming a diversified industrial
holding group of taste-related consumer goods.

During the quarterly, semi-annual and annual business meetings,
each business segment makes partial adjustments to business
objectives and strategic measures based on actual business analysis,
and submits them to the group management for discussion and
approval, and monitors and evaluates the implementation of the
strategic plan in a timely manner.
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THE BOARD

Board Composition

The Company has a well-balanced Board. As of date of this report,
the Board comprises six Executive Directors and three INEDs. The
members of the Board are as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairlady and CEQ)

Mr. LAM Ka Yu (Co-Chairman)

Mr. XIA Liqun (Vice Chairman and President)

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Vice President and Company Secretary)
Ms. LAM Ka Yan

Ms. CHOY Man Har

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN

Mr. HOU Haitao

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material relationship) between any members of the Board, except
for Ms. CHU Lam Yiu being the mother of both Mr. LAM Ka Yu
and Ms. LAM Ka Yan (all are Executive Directors of the Company).
Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 49 to 53 of this
annual report. The present Board has experience, expertise, and
qualifications in aspects of production and operation, management,
accounting and finance and regulatory both in Hong Kong and
China. One out of three INEDs possesses recognised professional
qualification in accounting. The INEDs bring independent judgment,
professional knowledge and experience appropriate for the Board's
deliberations. All Directors have relevant qualifications in relevant
field of expertise and have exhibited personal and professional ethics
and integrity. The diversity of experiences and backgrounds enable
the Board to enhance better corporate governance and performance
standard and to bring in valuable contributions and objective advice
for the development of the Group’s businesses.

During the Financial Year, the Board met the requirements of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent
non-executive directors representing at least one-third of the Board,
with at least one independent non-executive director possessing
appropriate qualification, or accounting or related financial
management expertise (in compliance with Rule 3.10 of the Listing
Rules). During the Financial Year, one of the INEDs, Ms. MA Yunyan
retired by rotation and, being eligible, but did not offer herself for
re-election at the AGM held on 20 May 2022 while Mr. HOU Haitou
was appointed as INED with effect from 20 May 2022.
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The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Board has assessed their independence and concluded
that all the INEDs are considered to be independent pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

Chairlady and Chief Executive Officer

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (“Ms. Chu”) is the Chairlady of the Board
(responsible for the management of Board's operation and
development of the Group’s strategic planning) and Executive
Director of the Company. She took up the position of CEO
(responsible for important management and business decisions
making of the Group) since 9 April 2013. The Board believes
that Ms. Chu, by taking up the roles of the Chairlady and CEO
concurrently, is beneficial to the business development and
management of the Group. Upon the appointment as Co-Chairman
of the Group of Mr. LAM Ka Yu (“Mr. Lam”) on 1 June 2022,
Mr. Lam and Ms. Chu were jointly responsible for the management
of the Board’s operation and development of the Group’s strategic
planning.

Mr. XIA Liqun as Vice Chairman and President, is responsible for
the daily operational management of the Group and reports to
the Chairlady and CEO directly. With the support of Mr. Lam as
Co-Chairman, Mr. XIA Liqun as the Vice Chairman and President,
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok as the Vice President and Company Secretary,
the Chairlady shall ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at board meetings and receive adequate, complete,
reliable and timely information for making decisions.

Roles and Responsibilities of Directors

The primary objective of the Board is to maximize the profitability of
the Company and to safeguard and enhance long-term value of the
Company for the Shareholders. To this end, the Board assumes the
responsibilities for leadership and management of the Company and
oversees the businesses, strategic development direction, financial
performance and corporate governance of the Group. All new board
members have been given information on the general business
background and policy of the Company on joining the Board. All
Directors have been provided with regular trainings by external
experienced lawyers to update and refresh the applicable legal and
other regulatory requirements and enhance the knowledge and skills
required by directors to perform their duties.
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The Board, working side-by-side with the Chairlady and
Co-Chairman, is collectively responsible for formulating and
approving the business strategies of the Company, setting objectives
for management, overseeing its performance and assessing the
effectiveness of management strategies. The Executive Directors
are responsible for the day-to-day management of the Company’s
operations and conduct meetings with senior management of the
Group at which operational issues and financial performance are
evaluated. The Board is also responsible for developing, reviewing
and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual
applicable to employees and Directors and reviewing the Company’s
compliance with the code of conduct and disclosure in the corporate
governance report.

The Bye-laws set out the responsibilities and proceedings of the
Board. Significant operational policies have to be discussed and
approved by the Board. To enable the Directors to meet their
obligations, an appropriate organizational structure is in place with
clearly defined responsibilities and limits of authority. The Company
has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the Directors and
senior management of the Company in respect of legal action that
may be brought against them in the course of execution of their
duties in good faith.

Board Meetings

The Board conducts scheduled board meetings on a quarterly
basis to discuss strategies and business issues, including financial
performance of the Group. Details of attendance of the Directors at
the meetings are set out on pages 80 to 81 of this annual report.

Notices of board meeting are given to each member of the Board
at least 14 days prior to the meeting, whereby the Director can put
forward his/her proposed items into the agenda. The agenda and
the relevant board papers are then circulated to the Directors at least
3 days before a board meeting is convened to enable them to make
informed decisions at the meeting.

Drafts of the board minutes and board committee meeting minutes
are circulated to all Directors and the relevant board committee
members respectively for their review and comments before
finalization. The final version of such minutes will be kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection by the Directors
and committee members. If a Director has an interest in a matter
to be considered at a board meeting, the Board will ensure that
an adequate number of independent directors are involved in the
consideration of the relevant resolutions, and the relevant director(s)
having an interest in the matter will abstain from voting.
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Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers, relevant
materials and have unrestricted access to advice and services of the
Company Secretary/Legal Department and Compliance Department
of the Company with a view to ensuing that board procedures and
all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Directors are able
to seek independent professional advice as and when required at the
Company's expense. INEDs are encouraged to take an active role in
board meetings and serve on the sub-board committees.

During the Financial Year, the Co-Chairman has held a meeting with
the INEDs without the presence of other Directors.

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

Although all the Directors were not appointed for a specific term,
every Director shall, in accordance with bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws,
retire from office by rotation no later than the third annual general
meeting of the Company since their last appointment or re-election
and are eligible for re-election.

Directors’ Interests and Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
regarding dealing in the securities of the Company by the Directors.
Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the Company has
received their written confirmations that they have complied with
the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the
Financial Year. Full details of the Directors’ interests in the Shares are
set out on page 107 of this annual report.

Delegation of Directors

The Board may from time to time delegate all or any of its powers
that it may think fit and proper to a director or member of senior
management of the Company. The Board has formulated specific
rules and policies on such delegation of power to facilitate efficient
operation of the Company and is supported by three committees
which are the Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has maintained the Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee. Each of these committees
has specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with their
authority and duties. The chairman of the committees will report
their findings and make recommendations to the Board after each
meeting.
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Remuneration Committee

On 20 May 2022, Ms. MA Yunyan retired as an independent
non-executive Director and ceased to be a member of the
Remuneration Committee. Mr. HOU Haitao was appointed
as independent non-executive Director and a member of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from 20 May 2022. As of the
date of this report, the Remuneration Committee consists of two
INEDs, namely Mr. LEE Luk Shiu (the chairman of Remuneration
Committee) and Mr. HOU Haitao, and one Executive Director,
Mr. XIA Ligun.

The Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities include making
recommendations for approval by the Board with respect to matters
relating to the remuneration of Executive Directors and senior
management. In discharging its responsibilities, the Remuneration
Committee has performed the following works:

o To review and make recommendations on the Company’s
policies and structure for the remuneration of the Executive
Directors and senior management;

o To evaluate remuneration packages of the Executive Directors
by reference to market conditions, performance of the Group
and the individual and corporate goals and objectives as set by
the Board from time to time, and make recommendations on
the remuneration of the INEDs for the Board's approval; and

o To review and evaluate the Company's share option scheme
and share award scheme (if any).

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee was
published on the Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk and
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

Directors will abstain from voting in determining their own
remuneration packages. During the Financial Year, the Remuneration
Committee met four times to, among other things, review the
emolument packages of the Directors and senior management.
The individual attendance of Remuneration Committee members
at meetings is set out on pages 80 to 81 of this annual report.
Details of the emolument of the Directors are set out in Note 39
to the consolidated financial statements while details of the Share
Option Scheme and Share Award Scheme to the Directors and senior
management are set out on pages 93 to 97 and pages 102 to 104
of this annual report.

Huabao International Holdings Limited & B2t AR A7 2022 Annual Report 3§

EEERBRE

FMEER

2022F5H8208 ' MEFHR L L REB LIk
WTEShFMEZESEKE - EBBLEE
ZEABIUFRNTESRTMNEZESKE -
H2022F5 8208 AW - RAREBH - %
MEBEH -_RBULIERITES  BIFHEK
EE(BFWNZESETR) MESEFLE &
B—BWITESEF B AEMEK -

FNZE e T 2RERRNERATES
EafEBBNFeEERNESSFLER
ER -LREZeRBE - RETHRBE
MEESDETTIIIIE:

s REARAZATEFTASAEEEZ
FIHRR LR ERBLIELHEERER

o Z2EMBKY AKEEEXBRENES
SR 2@ EREXBERBA
AEATESF2HFMES  UHBLIHE
HTEFZHFMEFLEBERABES
TiEm &

o EMRFEARRZERERE KD
R e E (A) »

THEZECeNBESGEE IZERARAH
Shwww.huabao.com.hk 1 & 7 B 32 By 49 b
www.hkexnews.hk

BEEANETIHNSTMEAENERE - R
AUMBRFERN FWNZEaem (EHE)E
MARREEMERAEEENTNEAS B H
MAg® SHFWEZEeZELFERNL
BENAFERFESOESIH - EF 2 H o t1E
HREGEAEMERERM 39 MBRETEI X
DR B F BN AFRFEIIEITE
N E102E104H




Corporate Governance Report

Audit Committee

On 20 May 2022, Ms. MA Yunyan retired as an independent
non-executive Director and ceased to be a member of the Audit
Committee. Mr. HOU Haitao was appointed as independent
non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee with
effect from 20 May 2022. As of the date of this report, the Audit
Committee comprises three INEDs, namely Mr. LEE Luk Shiu (the
chairman of Audit Committee), Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN and Mr. HOU
Haitao.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee include assisting
the Board in maintaining a high standard of corporate governance,
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the Board,
particularly by providing independent review of the effectiveness
of the Company’s financial reporting process and material internal
controls, including financial, operational, compliance and risk
management controls, and to maintain good and independent
communications with the management as well as auditors of the
Company. The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing
the corporate governance duties set out in the terms of reference
under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code as delegated by the
Board including but not limited to developing and reviewing the
Company'’s policies, practices on corporate governance, training
and continuous professional development of the Directors and
senior management, and the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. In discharging its
responsibilities, the Audit Committee has performed the following
work:

o To review the financial budget and planning including
the annual and interim financial statements and results
announcements during the financial year/for the reporting
period;

o To discuss with the external auditors and the management on
possible accounting risks;

. To review the effectiveness of the Group’s financial controls,
corporate governance, internal controls and risk management
systems,

o To review the sufficiency of manpower, resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions;

o To approve the audit fees and terms of engagement of the
external auditors;
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o To review the independence of the external auditors and make
recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of the
external auditors; and

o To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with corporate governance and other legal and
regulatory requirements, and to report to the Board on their
decisions or recommendation.

The terms of reference of Audit Committee was published on the
Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk and on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s external
auditors to discuss accounting issues, and reviews the effectiveness
of risk management and internal control systems. During the
Financial Year, the Audit Committee met two times to, among other
things, review the financial reports for 2021 audited annual results
and 2022 interim results (including the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and the contents disclosed in the Corporate
Governance Report) and the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal controls system. The individual attendance
of Audit Committee members at meetings is set out on pages 80
to 81 of this annual report. Members of the Audit Committee were
satisfied with the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems and the financial reporting disclosures.

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the Group’s
audited annual results for the Financial Year.

Nomination Committee

On 14 February 2022, Ms. Lam Ka Yan and Mr. Jonathan Jun Yan
were appointed as members of the Nomination Committee. On 20
May 2022, Ms. MA Yunyan retired as an independent non-executive
Director and ceased to be a member of the Nomination Committee.
Mr. HOU Haitao was appointed as independent non-executive
Director and a member of the Nomination Committee with effect
from 20 May 2022. As of the date of this report, the Nomination
Committee comprises two Executive Director, Ms. CHU Lam Yiu
(the Chairlady of Nomination Committee), and Ms. Lam Ka Yan and
three INEDs, namely Mr. LEE Luk Shiu, Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN and
Mr. HOU Haitao.
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The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
formulating nomination policy for the Board’s consideration
and implementing the Board’s approved nomination policy,
considering the development targets and strategies of the Company
and the skills mix needed in respect of the Board, and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of directors and
succession planning for directors. In discharging its responsibilities,
the Nomination Committee has performed the following work:

o To review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the board and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

o To identify individuals suitably qualified to become board
members and select or make recommendations to the board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

o To assess the independence of independent non-executive
directors; and;

o To make recommendations to the board on the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee was published
on the Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk and on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

Diversity
Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy in September 2013
(the "Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
on the board by considering a number of factors and measurable
objectives, including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional skills, knowledge, experience
and length of service, in order to maintain an appropriate range and
balance of talents, skills, experience and background of the Board.
Appointments of Board members shall be based on merit, and
candidates will be assessed based on objective criteria. The Company
will also take into account factors based on its own business model
and specific needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee
will monitor the implementation of the Policy, review the Policy from
time to time, and report to the Board on their decisions or propose
recommendations on any amendments for the Board's review and
approval, in order to ensure the effectiveness of the Policy.
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During the Financial Year, the Nomination Committee met twice
for, among other things, reviewing the board structure, the diversity
of Board members and the commitment of Directors and making
recommendations to the Board. The Nomination Committee
considered that the composition of the Board is well balanced
and diversified in terms of gender, age, educational background,
professional skills and experience. It meets the needs of the business
operations and development of the Group. The Board is of the view
that every Director has dedicated sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Company. Each Director had disclosed to the Company
at the time of his/her appointment of the directorships held in other
listed companies or nature of offices held in public organizations and
other significant commitments. The Company has also requested
Directors to provide in a timely manner any change in such
information. The individual attendance of Nomination Committee
members at meetings is set out on pages 80 to 81 of this annual
report.

In considering the Board’s succession, the Nomination Committee
will also consider through different channels, among others,
engaging independent professional search firm(s) to help identify
potential candidates for Directors, as and when appropriate.
Since 2004, there have been at least two female Directors on the
Board (also the target of the Board). The Board will continue to
take opportunities to increase the proportion of female members,
wherever possible. During the Financial Year, one female Directors
retired and two new female Directors joined the Board. As of 31
December 2022, the Board consists of three female Directors and six
male Directors, bringing the female representation to three or about
33 per cent of the Board (31 December 2021: two female Directors
and six male Directors).

Gender Diversity

The Group is committed to achieving gender diversity to eliminate
any form of gender discrimination, including but not limited to
recruitment, remuneration, training and promotion, and keeps
reviewing gender equality within the Group regularly and taking
corrective actions to improve gender balance. As of 31 December
2022, the number of employees of the Group (including senior
management) consisted of 2,492 male or 64.3% and 1,383 female
or 35.7% (31 December 2021: 2,334 male or 65.1% and 1,249
female or 34.9%). The Group strives to achieve gender diversity
in order to enjoy the benefits of accessing a wider talent pool and
boosting creativity and innovation, For details, please refer to the
ESG report for the Financial Year.

Huabao International Holdings Limited & B2t AR A7 2022 Annual Report 3§

EEERBRE

RAFBRFEAN REZEgn (HPa1E)
RTEZTENER KENZTLNEERE
TERENBRLIAAMATE TREEEIR
HEZ - REZECRAEZTSMNERKERE
TEEE TwmEMR Tk #HEES
BERENKER EFHERZ L TEAE
ENEKEERERFR -EETERETSL
EEHCDRARHERLENEEATIZE
%o -BREERESZABHERANHEE
REMETARIZEETBRE KN A REEFA
BEZBAME R HEME RKAE - QAR
EEREEENRAARNREZEER ZEM
B ZRFLEESZELRRESHENLESE
RAFEREIESTH

FEEEETENETAER REZESh
HERNREOLEEEBETRARE —BIEES
BIYAEEMNENYEEENEERREEA -
B2004F 8 RAlEEgLMESHTIIR
TA(BLRESEMNER) EFe—EH@E
RETMEKRENLY  EATRFEEE —H
THEEERIRNMETIMEEENATES
@ A2022%12A31B - EEedhH =Lt
BEEMAEEMEEHENK FRMRRMLEE
TR = AK433% (FR2021F12A318 -
TERLUMEEMALEHESE) -

H R Z ik

AEEZNHERMERNZ T  LUEBREMAF
XNAMEREAR  BRATRNBE - HH -
BHIEREA UEHBRTAEERNH KSR
& WHRIRAEREAKRS MR FE - R
202F12A31MH  AEBE T AH (55
BEAE) DR AE2,492F8 M 564.3%7F11,383
Z 1 535.7% (20214 12A318 12,3348 &
265.1%F11,249% M 5%34.9% ) ° AN & EH 3
NERERNZTL WESEEZNAAE
MEEBENDMBFTNTRER  FHEBLRER
FEESGHRE o




Corporate Governance Report

Board Independence

Independent non-executive Directors enhance the effectiveness and
decision-making of the Board by providing objective judgement, a
constructive and complementary attitude to management and their
independence is assessed upon appointment, annually, and at any
other time where the circumstances warrant reconsideration.

Independence confirmations from INEDs are to be submitted to the
Company in writing annually or upon appointment to the Board.
During the Financial Year, the Nomination Committee has assessed
the annual independence confirmation received from each INED,
having regard to the criteria under Rule 3.13 of the Main Board
Listing Rules.

Each INED is required to inform the Company as soon as practicable
if there is any change in his or her personal particulars that may
affect his or her independence. No such notification was received
during the Financial Year.

Every Nomination Committee member will be abstained from
assessing his/her own independence. The Nomination Committee
affirmed that all INEDs continued to demonstrate strong
independence in judgement and were free from any business or
other relationship which could interfere with their ability to discharge
their duties effectively, and they therefore all remained independent.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an
Independent non-executive Director at the general meeting, the
circular to shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the relevant general meeting will set out the reason
why the Board believes he/she should be elected and the reasons
why it considers him/her to be independent.
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RISK MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL CONTROL AND
CULTURE

The Board has full responsibility for maintaining an integrated and
effective risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, which includes the establishment of a defined management
structure with specified limits of authority. The internal control
system is designed to assist in the achievement of business objectives
of the Group, safeguarding assets against unauthorized use or
disposition, ensuring the proper maintenance of accounting records
for the provision of reliable financial information for internal
use or for publication and ensuring compliance with relevant
legislation and regulation. The internal control system is designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The internal control measures and system
(embedded in the operations of the Company and forms part of the
Group's culture) includes:

o effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

o capability in responding quickly to evolving risks to the business
arising from factors within the Company and to the changes
in business environment; and include procedures for reporting
immediately to appropriate management levels regarding any
significant control weakness that are identified together with
details of corrective action being undertaken;

o reliability of financial reporting; and
o compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The key procedures that the Board established to provide effective
internal controls are as follows:

Organizational Structure and Risk Management

An appropriate organizational structure is in place with defined
operating policies and procedures as well as responsibility and lines
of authority.

The Company has set out Internal Audit Department with scope of
works advised by the Audit Committee.
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The Legal Department and Compliance Department are led
by professional legal staff and professional company secretary
respectively. Together with other business functions (including
Internal Audit Department) of the Group, the Legal Department
and Compliance Department monitor and assess risk regularly,
boost related management standards and evaluate investment
projects. The Company has a long-term engagement with reputable
international law firm as its annual retainer counsel for provision of
legal advice relating to compliance of Listing Rules and regulatory
requirements.

Authority and Control

The Executive Directors and senior management are delegated with
respective levels of authorities to carry out the corporate strategies
and policies and related matters formulated by the Board.

Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting

The Group implements a comprehensive budget management and
the overall financial budget is executed upon approval by the Board.
Relevant procedures have been established to assess, review and
approve major capital and recurring expenditures, and regular review
and make comparison between operating results and the budget.

The Group has established appropriate internal control procedures to
ensure accurate and complete accounting and management records
are kept on a timely basis. Examination and review are carried
out regularly to ensure that the financial statements are properly
prepared in conformity with the generally accepted accounting
principles, the Group’s accounting policies and the applicable laws
and regulations.

Risk Management and Internal Control Review

During the Financial Year, the Internal Audit Department had carried
out an annual review on the internal control system including
financial, operational and compliance control, and risk management
functions. The review adopts a risk-based approach to create and
review the effectiveness of an internal control system and includes
the following works:

() To follow up on individual matters concerning the
improvement of the internal control system in accordance with
the guidance and suggestions of independent directors and
the external auditor of the Company;
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(ii)

(iii)

To carry out a high level review on the internal control system
of new members/businesses of the Group, by integrating
the internal control framework set out by The Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Committee
("COSO"), the China Internal Auditing Standards, the basic
internal control standards and complementary guidelines of
the Group, etc. as basic requirements;

To arrange site visit and perform focused walk through test
on the internal control system of members of the Group on
risk control priority basis pursuant to the risk control principles
mentioned above; and

To design and review the questionnaires on the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems submitted
by the head offices of the Group, subsidiaries, business sectors
of the Company.

The Company has adopted a set of risk management and internal
control policies and procedures to safeguard the Group’s assets, to
ensure proper maintenance of accounting records and reliability of
financial information, and to ensure compliance with relevant laws
and regulations.

The Executive Directors and senior management of the Company
received local, market, and operations-related information regularly
while their understanding of the risk assessment is enhanced
through the regular senior management meetings, at which they
discuss cases of the potential risk management and operation of
individual business segments.

Identification, assessment and management:

The head of each department such as the Investment
Department, Finance Department, Legal Department and
Compliance Department of the Company will inform and
report to the relevant Directors regarding the factors that have
impact on the profit and price based on the nature of business
and their own experience. During the course of execution, the
concerned project teams of the Company will handle relevant
documents and report to the relevant personnel (including the
Directors).

As for the matters as required to be disclosed under the Listing
Rules, the Compliance Department will present the issues to
the Board for review and discussion, and the Legal Department
and Compliance Department will separately inform relevant
members of the project team that dealing in the shares of the
Company is prohibited.
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Review prior to the transactions:

- Generally, the prescribed price sensitive information reporting
forms regarding the daily operation and connected transactions
of the Company will be circulated to relevant departments at
the beginning of every month by the Finance Department, and
the Finance Department will combine and submit the forms to
the Compliance Department for overall review in the middle
of each month, ensuring that there are no material omissions.
The Legal Department will also assist to regularly confirm with
the Compliance Department for any material contracts (if any).

During the Financial Year, Internal Audit Department has presented its
review report and make recommendations to the Audit Committee
and the Audit Committee has discussed with the management
and reported the progress of the work plan and related findings,
particularly those related to new members of the Group to the Board
at board meeting.

Measures to further enhance Internal Control Systems and
Corporate Governance practices

In compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules and for
the purpose of reinforcing the Group's internal control system, the
Company has established a whistleblowing policy and system for
employees to raise concerns, in a confidential manner, with the
Audit Committee about possible irregularities in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters related to the Company. The
Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the relevant policy
and system regularly. In 2021, the Company had established an
anti-fraud leadership team, aimed at strengthening the guidance,
organization and coordination of anti-fraud and whistle-blowing
works to reinforce standard operations and risk management and
issued the “Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Whistleblowing Policy” ([ = 5
BE . BEEREAZRRHIE |) accordingly.

The Directors has further strengthened corporate governance
practices, including execution of the internal reporting policy
throughout the Group in monitoring the operation and business
developments of the Company so as to capture potentially
price-sensitive information on an on-going basis, monitoring the
continuing disclosure obligation. The Board has further strengthened
corporate governance practices by establishing lending policy to
monitor its credit level. In addition, the annual retainer counsel of
the Company has provided the Directors (existing and new board
members) and the relevant senior executives with trainings on Listing
Rules, regulatory requirements and analysis of enforcement cases at
least twice a year.
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During the Financial Year, the Internal Audit Department of the
Company has carried out internal control audits in respect of those
risk areas, such as business operation, financial system, project
investment and management, corporate governance, etc., and also
head offices, business sectors and certain subsidiaries of the Group.
The Internal Audit Department has reported to the Directors in respect
of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
system and significant risks. The Board reviewed and evaluated the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems of the
Company and its subsidiaries by considering reviews performed by
the Audit Committee with the assistance of the management team,
the Internal Audit Department and the external auditors.

As a result of the above measures and upon review, the Board
confirms, and management has also confirmed to the Board, that
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate (including the resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions are
adequate) and have complied with the CG Code provisions on risk
management and internal control throughout the Financial Year and
up to the date of this annual report.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

For the purposes of handling and disseminating inside information in
accordance with the Listing Rules and the SFO, the Company has in
place a policy on handling and dissemination of inside information
(the "Policy”) which sets out the procedures and internal controls
for handling and dissemination of inside information in a timely
manner in such a way so as not to place any person in a privileged
dealing position and to allow time for the market to price the listed
securities of the Company with the latest available information. This
Policy also provides guidelines to staff of the Company to ensure
proper safeguards exist to prevent the Company from breaching
the statutory disclosure requirements. It also includes appropriate
internal control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential
inside information.
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Directors’ Training

All Directors participated in appropriate continuous professional
development and provided the Company with their records
of training they received during the Financial Year. Directors
participated in the training which included reading regulatory
updates, attending seminars or conducting training sessions and
exchanging views.

B3

RAFBREFEERN MEEFHVELEEEL
FEEXRR YO RQARMEAEZEI
ik BER2HEMB  REMERNE
EEM  ARHFEEEN & HAFEHEIIRA -

Attend seminars/conduct training
sessions and exchange views

HESEMNE EEIRR

Executive Directors HITESE

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Note 1) KMRE L L (BatT)
Mr. LAM Ka Yu MEFEE

Mr. XIA Liqun BERNEEE S

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok IR B o A

Ms. LAM Ka Yan METZ T

Ms. CHOY Man Har BBt
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFEITES
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu KL E

Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN Jonathan Jun YAN%: &£
Mr. HOU Haitao EEEEE

Note:

(1) Since late January 2022, Ms. Chu Lam Yiu was placed under residential
surveillance at a designated location (3§87 /EFTEEAR B E) and was
unable to attend seminars or conduct training sessions in person.
However, the Company has provided relevant training documents as a
reference accordingly.

Company Secretary’s Training

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok, the Executive Director, Vice President and
Company Secretary of the Company, is responsible for assisting
the Board for facilitating communications among Directors as well
as ensuring that the Board’s policy and procedures are followed
properly. The Company Secretary also provides professional advice
and services to the Board on corporate governance and other
matters. He is also responsible for organizing general meetings and
facilitating the induction and professional development of Directors.

During the Financial Year, Mr. Poon has taken not less than 15 hours
of continuing professional trainings.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility in Preparing Financial
Reporting

The Board is responsible for the preparation and timely publication
of financial statements. In preparing the financial statements,
relevant statutory requirements have been complied with, applicable
accounting standards in force in Hong Kong have been adopted,
appropriate accounting policies have been applied on a consistent
basis, going concern basis has been adopted and reasonable and
prudent judgments and estimates have been made.

Auditors’ Report and Remuneration

The Company's external auditors are PricewaterhouseCoopers. There
has been no change in the Company’s external auditors for the
preceding three years.

The external auditors have a primary responsibility for auditing and
reporting on the financial statements. The Auditors’ Report to the
Shareholders is set out on pages 117 to 125 of this annual report.

During the Financial Year, the remuneration paid/payable to the
Company’s auditors (including statutory auditors of the subsidiaries)
in relation to audit services and non-audit services provided to the
Group are as follows:

EEERBRE

GEEIE:E
EEmUMBB/ROEE

EFeRERBAUERTIHMBERR - RE
MEHERE BREZRERCRET BB
BITMER S E2RCERA  EENS
BRFEHTARR  HELEZEECER
o ARABEMEZBERNHBMEEDERM -

S GE TR
ADFI B AR SR AES S
B o 385 = 4 PO A B 2 S8 BT 3 48 4T
GEDR

INBZBAMETERE AT BERRZH R
HRE - BRE 2B BEHNANFRE
117&E 1258 o

RAMBEER - BLALR R ZEE (BIEHE
RADEEMZEED) AARAREREHZZEK
FRBRE - O BN B ZERNT

Amount
Nature of Services R E =8
(RMB'000)
(AR®FT)

Audit services ZE R
— for the audit of the Group - S EEET 8,412
— for the statutory and other audits of the subsidiaries - FREVEE REMER 2,006
Non-audit services FEIZ EAR 75 -

Please also refer to Note 27 to consolidated financial statement set
out on pages 236 to 237 of this annual report for details of Auditors’
Remuneration.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shares with voting rights in the Company are ordinary shares. The
number of issued ordinary shares as at 31 December 2022 was
3,229,926,876. Details of share capital of the Company are set out
in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements on page 227 of
this annual report. Shareholders holding issued ordinary shares of
the Company were set out below:

Full details can be

TEERBRE

IR REF

MEREENBROH AERRG ERBKRMD -
R2022F12A318  BEETEBERBRMHEE
53,229,926,8761% ° AN A R ARFIBE A AR
FRENIEHKAMBREMFION-FH
AABEETEBRZBREAT -

Total number Percentage of

found on the following of issued the issued

page of this report Shares held share capital

HHEERER BREE  HEBTRAX

Category/Name LY g AERUTEE CRITROEAE BAL

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Note) KME L (M 32) Page 107  2,293,408,900 71.00%

Public NRAL F1078 936,517,976 29.00%

Total &t 3,229,926,876 100.00%
Note: BiteE

As defined in the Listing Rules, any person (including a holder of depositary
receipts) who is or group of persons (including any holder of depositary
receipts) who are together entitled to exercise or control the exercise of 30%
(or such other amount as may from time to time be specified in the Codes on
Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs as being the level for triggering
a mandatory general offer) or more of the voting power at general meeting
of the Company.

Procedures for shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, shareholders holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require
a special general meeting (“SGM") to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business transaction specified in such requisition.

The requisition shall state clearly the matters required to be
considered and approved at the SGM and must be signed by the
requisitionist(s) (with contact details) and submitted to the Board in
written form to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at least 21 days before the proposed date of the SGM.
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The SGM shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date
of the deposit of the requisition proceed to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists may themselves do so in accordance with the
provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1982 of the laws
of Bermuda (as amended) (the “Companies Act”), but any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from
the said date.

Shareholders’ right to propose resolutions at general
meeting

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, (i) any
number of shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth
(5%) of the total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the
date of the requisition a right to vote at the general meeting to
which the requisition relates; or (ii) not less than 100 shareholders,
may submit to the Company a written request stating the resolution
intended to be moved at AGM or a statement of not more than
1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at a particular general
meeting.

The written request/statement must be signed by all the
requisitionists and may consist of several documents in like form,
each signed by one or more of the requisitionists, and must be
deposited at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong, not less than 6 weeks before the AGM in case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week before
the general meeting in case of any other requisition. Provided that
if an AGM is called for a date 6 weeks or less after the requisition
has been deposited, the requisition though not deposited within the
time required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for
the purposes thereof.

Shareholders’ right to propose a person for election as a
director

Shareholders shall have the right to propose a person for election
as a director at the Company’s general meeting. Please refer to
the detailed procedures for such right on the Company’s website
www.huabao.com.hk.
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Making enquiries by Shareholders

Shareholders shall have the right to examine the relevant information
of the Company according to the Bye-laws. Shareholders should
direct their questions about their shareholdings to the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited.
Shareholders may also direct questions or requests for information
through the Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk or by
contacting the Head of Investor Relations Department of the
Company (email: ir@huabao.com.hk).

ACCESSIBLE AND TRANSPARENT COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the shareholders’ communication policy during the Financial Year.
Since there have been no changes to the existing Shareholders’
Communication Policy and given there is no barrier for the
shareholders to communicate their views to the board as a whole,
the Company considered that such Shareholders’” Communication
Policy remains effective.

In addition to the on-going Investor Relation Department’s efforts
mentioned in the next section, the Board values the importance of
communications with the Shareholders. The Company uses a range
of communications tools, such as AGM, annual report, various
notices, announcements and circulars, to ensure its Shareholders are
kept well informed of key business imperatives of the Company.

The Company has maintained a website www.huabao.com.
hk for corporate communication with its Shareholders and the
general public. All corporate communications required under the
Listing Rules are displayed and can be downloaded (for documents
published in the previous 7 years) from the Company’s website and
there is established procedure to ensure timely update in compliance
with the Listing Rules.

Open Communications

The Group is committed to acting in good faith and in the best
interests of its Shareholders at all times and in all areas of its
operations. The Group actively promotes open communication and
full disclosure of all information needed to protect and maximize
transparency.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Shareholders’ Communication Policy is available for viewing on
the Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk.
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Shareholders’ Meetings held during the Financial Year

The general meeting provides a forum for the Board to communicate
with the Shareholders. To facilitate enforcement of the Shareholders’
rights, significant issues were dealt with under separate resolutions
at the general meeting, including the election and re-election of
individual Director. Details of general meeting(s) held during the

Financial Year are summarized as follows:

EEERBRE

REBHRFERNBITHRRAS
BRAGAEFGHBFIEH —EEAHRE -
RABBRRERRAREG LITEREN E2F
BENRBENAZERNRRASLEE &
HREEREEFENES RABRFEAER
TZBRRREBIEWT :

Meeting Date Venue Resolutions
22 HE it B REBER
AGM 20 May 2022 Boardroom 8, 1. To receive and consider the audited financial
fRERBFERE  2022965H20H Lower Lobby, statements and the reports of the directors
Renaissance Hong Kong, and of the auditors for the year ended 31
Harbour View Hotel, December 2021;
1 Harbour Road, BEHZE2021F12A318 I FEEEXI B
Wanchai, Hong Kong WK EFemERZEERS
B
AT B EE 1R 2. To declare the final dividend for the year ended
BEEEBSRAEEE 31 December 2021;
REGHENRTT TIREZE2021F12A31BIEFEMHRRS
3. Tore-elect and elect Directors and to authorize
the Board to fix their remunerations;
BEREREF UTEBEEEETRSEZ
B :
4. To re-appoint the auditors and to authorize the
Board to fix their remunerations; and
BIEZEM  VTREEZGETAME K
5. To grant general mandates to buy back shares,
to issue shares and to exercise the buy-back
mandate.
BT —MEEARBRG - ZHTRORITE
(o] i X 4 -
SGM 7 December 2022 Suite 3008, 30/F., To approve the proposed amendments to the bye-

EEFRIRE  2022F1287H Central Plaza,

18 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong
A

BB 81858
IR E 1530123008 %
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laws of the Company and the adoption of new bye-
laws.
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MERGERS & ACQUISITIONS I g & Bf

No material mergers and acquisitions of the Group were carried out AR KEE RN » KA REHEITEMEKR
during the Financial Year. WHESHHIER -

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS BFEREXRS

Details of the continuing connected transactions of the Companyare AKNEEF BB ET SHHBEHRNAERS
set out on pages 113 to 115 of this annual report. 1132 115H o

ATTENDANCE RECORD i FE Ao 8%

Details of attendance of the Directors (either in person or through KB EZERAFHREERNE S LEXFEBTE
telephone conferences) at Board meetings, meetings of Board @Z A XA EE=o e BEEX5995
committees and general meetings during the Financial Year are set NIEREAESHEHEXRFBIH WO T -

out below:
Audit  Remuneration  Nomination
Committee Committee Committee Annual Special
Board Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s) General General
Meeting(s)  BHZEE  HMZEE  RHAZEE®  Meeting(s)  Meeting(s)
Ezees EE L g3 HRRBEAE REEAAE
No. of meeting held EE Y 34 2 4 2 1 1
Executive Directors #rEs
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairladly and CFO) AERT(ZEREEHTE) 034 NATEE  NATER 02 o o
Mr. LAM Ka Yu (Co-Chairman) (Note 1) WETREBELE) (W) 1634 NATEER  NATER  NATEE o1 1l
Mr. XIA Liqun (Vice Chairman and President) EfBLE (G1E#44) 34/34 VA TR 44 NARER N 1N
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Vice President and BRELE (FEHELTNE)

Company Secretary) M3 NATER NARER NARER i 1
Ms. LAM Ka Yan (Note 2) WL (Hi#2) 3B NATEER  NATER n /1 /1
Ms. CHOY Man Har (Note 3) EYERT(MH3) 3B NATEE  NATER  NATEE " "n
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu FRkiE 3434 0N 44 bl /1 /1
Ms. MA Yunyan (Note 4) MERTT (M) 1734 0 W 0 " NATER
Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN (Note 5) Jonathan Jun YANZ & (#7325) 3434 0N NANERE 0 N N
Mr. HOU Haitao (Note 6) FEREE M) 2334 0 W NATBE 1l 1l
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Notes:

Mr. Lam had resumed his duties since 21 July 2022.

Appointed as executive director of the Company and as a member of
the Nomination Committee with effect from 14 February 2022.

Appointed as executive director of the Company with effect from 14
February 2022.

Retired as INED and ceased to be a member of each of the Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of
the Company with effect from 20 May 2022.

Appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee with effect
from 14 February 2022.

Appointed as INED and a member of each of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company
with effect from 20 May 2022.

MAJOR CHANGES TO THE BYE-LAWS

During the Financial Year, the Company amended the Bye-laws
by, among others, bringing the existing Bye-laws in line with the

Core

Shareholder Protection Standards set out in Appendix 3 of the

Listing Rules which took effect on 1 January 2022. The amended
and restated Byelaws became effective on 7 December 2022. The
amended and restated Bye-laws is available on the Company’s

webs

ite at www.huabao.com.hk and on the Hong Kong Stock

Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk
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Investor Relations Report

The Company is committed to upholding an open and proactive
investor relations strategy with an aim at optimizing the knowledge
and understanding of the investment community with respect
to the Company’s corporate mission and vision, development
strategies, competitive position in the industry and operating and
financial performance, so as to enable public investors to make
informed decisions on their investments. The Company fulfils
the above-mentioned through a designated Investor Relations
Department.

The Investor Relations Department acts as an intermediary between
the Company and public investors. The Company abides by the basic
and fair disclosure guidelines to ensure that communication with
Shareholders, investors and media is conducted in a fair manner and
that no material non-public information is made available to any
individual on a selective basis.

INVESTOR RELATIONS REVIEW

During the Reporting Period, the Company proactively
communicated with investors by multiple channels to convey its
latest developments, performance, and strategic goals so that
investors could have a better understanding of the Group and sets
solid foundation for the Group’s activities in the capital market in
the future. Investor relations activities conducted by the Group are
as follows,

Details Frequency
Results Conference Call 2

e Annual general meeting

It is important that the Shareholders have access to clear and
meaningful data which enables them to have a constructive
dialogue with the Company. Shareholders can raise any
guestions and comments on the performance or future
business directions of the Company and on any resolutions to
be considered at the AGM. The Company’s vice-chairman and
the Audit Committee’s Chairman were present in person or
through telephone/video conferences and available to answer
questions raised at the AGM.
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Investor Relations Report

Detailed financial statements

The Company attaches great importance to annual reports
and interim reports, put a lot of resources for these two
reports’ preparation, and uses them as one of the major
communication bridges between the Company and investors.

Through this approach, the latest information of the Group
can be transmitted to investors, aiming to convey the Group’s
comprehensive strategy, operating principles, business and
financial performance and future prospects in a detailed and
accurate manner.

E-Communication via Websites of the Company and
Professional Investor Relations Website

The Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk contains
information such as important corporate data, biographical
details of Directors, organizational structure and press releases.

In addition, the Company also has professional investor relations
website (http://huabao2.aconnect.com.hk/sc/home.aspx) to
publish interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars
that enables the Company’s shareholders and members of the
investment community to have timely access to the most updated
information about the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACTS

For inquiries, please contact:

Investor Relations Department
Huabao International Holdings Limited
Suite 3008

30th Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2877 8999
Fax: (852) 2511 8229
E-mail: ir@huabao.com.hk

REEBRBAE
WEEH FHE:
BB

Bt

BB 185

PIRES

3008%
ZFEBERIERBRAF
REEBER

T % (852)2877 8999
{EE :(852)2511 8229
B|E : ir@huabao.com.hk

£
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Information for investors (as at 30 December 2022) BEEHE (R=-E-_=-_F+=-H=1+H)
1. Huabao International Holdings Limited 1. EEHRZERERAQA
Board Lot Size 1,000 shares SFEEBEMEHK 1,000/%
Number of shares issued 3,229,926,876 shares BETRMER 3,229,926,8760%
Market capitalization Approximately TEMU—ZE-= #4785 4130.17
(based on the closing price of HKD13.017 billion +—-—A=+H B
HKD4.03 per share on Wi (B &R
30 December 2022) 4,037t E
Stock code AR 9 R 5%
The Stock Exchange of 00336 EBBME ST 00336
Hong Kong Limited stock code &1 58
Reuters ticker 336.HK BB R A5R 336.HK
Bloomberg ticker 336.HK ZIEA MR 336.HK
2. Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Company Limited (a non-wholly 2 #=EEHERHBER AT (KA FH—MH
owned subsidiary of the company listed on the ChiNext of the RFINBELTGHAIER FTHIEERE
Shenzhen Stock Exchange) FaE)
Board Lot Size 100 shares SFEETBEMEH 100/%
Number of shares issued 615,880,000 shares BEITIRMHEE 615,880,0000%
Market capitalization Approximately mEU-E—— 4 AR #5144.92
(Based on the closing price of RMB14.492 billion +—-—HA=+H B
RMB23.53 per share on WHEBETRARE
30 December 2022) 23.537TEE
Stock code % 9 5%
ChiNext of Shenzhen Stock 300741 EHEAZT SHAIZE 300741
Exchange stock code R A 17 A5
Reuters ticker 300741.5Z BE AR R 300741.SZ
Bloomberg ticker 300741: CH ZEA RO RS 300741: CH
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Financial Calendar BB
Closing date for transfer of shares 10 May 2023 (Wednesday) to  B&p & 1Fi@ P B E —E-=FRA+H
for Annual General Meeting 15 May 2023 (Monday) (BREBFRD) (BEH=)=&
(Both days inclusive) RATHB(EH—)
(BREEEMB)
Annual General Meeting 15 May 2023 (Monday) eSSy N —E-=FRAA+HAH
EH—)
Ex-dividend date 8 June 2023 (Thursday) %A —ZE=FANH
(E2Hm)
Closing date for transfer of shares 12 June 2023 (Monday) to R E EEFE B E —EZ=FXAT=H
for proposed special dividends 13 June 2023 (Tuesday) (rR3EEZH EE—) &
(Both days inclusive) 1R B) NAT=B(EH D)
(BHEEE/RHE)
Date of payment of proposed On or about 26 June 2023 IREEEZEHE —E =%
special dividends for the fiscal (Monday) —E-—F+—H NAZ+~H
year ended 31 December 2022 =+—HIEMFEZ EH—) sz
FrRIRE B 2R
Financial year-end date 31 December BREEEEH +=-A=+—H
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Directors’ Report

The Board is pleased to present its annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 (the “Financial Year").

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company did not
undertake any material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the Financial Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
Group is principally engaged in the R&D, production, distribution and
sales of flavours and fragrances, and food ingredients, tobacco raw
materials, aroma raw materials and condiment products in the PRC.
The activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. Further discussion
and analysis of the operating activities of the Group during the
Financial Year, and an indication of likely future developments
in the Group's business, as required by Schedule 5 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, can be found in the sections headed
“Chairman’s Report” and “Management Discussion and Analysis”
as set out on pages 9 to 10 and pages 11 to 48 of this annual report
respectively. Such discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operations and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties
directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. To the best
of knowledge and belief, the Directors consider that the following
are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group as at the
date of this report.
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Directors’ Report

The risk of downstream industry control and policies on
tobacco industry

Following the promulgation and implementation of the PRC
Advertising Law in 2015, the restrictions on tobacco marketing have
in turn become more rigid, and consequently the room for marketing
the tobacco market becomes narrower. On the other hand, the
tax-induced price hike policy has raised the consumption tax and
wholesale price, and subsequently escalated the consumption
cost of cigarettes, which to a certain extent has suppressed the
demand for cigarette consumption. With the tightening of tobacco
control policies by the international health organizations and local
governments, and the increased awareness of the public on health
and tobacco control, it is possible that the production and sales
volumes of cigarette will further decline in the future, which in turn
will cause the reduction of sales income and operating profit of
the tobacco-related products of the Company. In this regard, the
Company will continue to pay attention to the impacts of industry
and policy changes on the business, and will adjust our business and
development strategies in a timely manner.

The risk of consumer behaviour changes and the impact on
the downstream industries

With the continuous progress of society and the improvement of
people’s living standards, consumers have increased their awareness
of health and environment protection. On the other hand, the
age structure and level of consumers continue to evolve. New
consumption trend as well as consumption concept and consumption
behaviour keep changing. The demand for the Group’s downstream
tobacco, food, daily chemical industry continues to change, thus
affecting the Group’s flavours and fragrances and food ingredients
related products and we may face the risk of market share shrinking.
The Company will continue to focus on and enhance the insight into
consumer behaviour, and further optimize the product structure to
meet the requirements of a new generation of consumers.

Food safety and food policy risk

At present, the PRC implements an authorized management system
for the food industry, and the major laws, regulations and standards
involved are the Food Safety Law of the PRC and the Announcement
on the Licence for Production of Food Additives. At the same time,
international organizations such as the International Standards
Organization (ISO), the Codex Alimentarius Commission (CAC),
and the International Organization of the Flavor Industry (IOFI)
have formulated and promulgated product standards and industry
norms to provide industry management systems and the basis for
formulating the relevant industry standards.
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Directors’ Report

To a certain extent, the new policy will increase the operating
costs of enterprises. Should there be any further changes in the
above policies and standards, it will have a direct impact on the
Company’s future development. The Company will continue to
make corresponding adjustment, investment and improvement in
product structure, production technology and product performance
and other aspects to ensure our products and operation comply
with food safety standards. Although the Company has established
a strict food safety control system, because the Company has many
production and operation links, and involves transportation and
storage links, once the Company and customers are negligent, food
safety problems may occur, which will have an adverse impact on
the Company.

The risk of environmental protection

With the increased awareness on the environmental protection
by the society, the government’s continuous improvement in
environmental protection may lead to more stringent environmental
protection standards and requirements in the future; if the Company
is unable to upgrade the production facilities in time to improve
the handling of wastage so as to comply with the more stringent
environmental standards and the requirements for environmental
protection, it will have an adverse impact on the Company’s
production and operations.

The risk of core technology and formula leakage

The Group, having always highly valued R&D work, owns a
state-certified enterprise technology centre and an overseas R&D
centre. Through long-term development, the Group has developed
numerous core technologies and flavours and fragrances formulas
which have intellectual property rights. The Group faces the risk
of technology leakage since there are difficulties in protecting
most of the Group’s core technologies, especially flavours and
fragrances formulas, by using patents so that the Group had to rely
on its confidentiality mechanisms for protection. The Group has
adopted extremely stringent confidentiality measures to some of the
core technologies and strictly follows those measures. The Group
implements process segregation to important production aspects
which only allows the core formulas of the various flavours and
fragrances products to be known to a few core technicians (who had
been bound by Confidentiality Agreements), thereby minimizing and
controlling the risk of core technology and formula leakage.
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Directors’ Report

Risk of fluctuations in raw material prices

During the Financial Year, due to the imbalance of supply and
demand and imported inflation caused by the epidemic, the prices of
certain raw materials fluctuated violently and increased significantly.
The Company will continue to dynamically track the price trend of
major raw materials, adjust raw material reserves in a timely manner
according to price changes, optimize inventory management, and
flexibly implement the strategy of determining production based on
sales. In order to reduce the impact of the international epidemic on
the cost of imported raw materials, the Company has carried out the
localization of suppliers to reduce the dependence on imported raw
materials. At the same time, the Company continuously improves
the technical level, increases the added value of products, and then
increases the gross profit margin of products, so as to ensure the
profitability of the Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group plays an important role in protecting our environment
and is committed to minimizing our impact on the environment
and natural resources. We educate and train our employees on
environmental issues and proper handling of hazardous substances
and require adherence to corporate guidelines on environmental
protection measures. Our plants have basically installed equipment
and procedures designed to comply with the requirements in
business operation.

In addition, the Group installed video conference and telephone
conference facilities for convening board meetings, committee
meetings and management meetings. It enhances the efficiency of
business travelling and convening meetings for the management so
as to reduce the energy consumption.

The Group promotes awareness towards environmental protection
to the employees. It implements green office practices such as
utilizing emails for internal and external communication, adopting
e-filing in server; minimizes documents printing and copying; and
reduces energy consumption by switching off lightings and electrical
appliances when not in use.

We have completed our Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG") report which contains our ESG information in 2022 and the
requirements under the ESG Reporting Guide of the Listing Rules.
For details, please refer to the ESG report published on the websites
of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and of the
Company (www.huabao.com.hk).
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Directors’ Report

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Directors recognise that employees, customers, suppliers and
business partners are the keys to the sustainable development of the
Group.

Regarding employee salary and incentive system, the Group has
formulated a set of remuneration system referenced to the market to
attract and retain key personnel and talents with appropriate skills,
experience and competence which would complement and meet the
corporate and business objectives of the Group. The Group ensures
all employees are reasonably remunerated and the remuneration
packages of employees are reviewed regularly and necessary
adjustments are made from time to time to the remuneration
packages to align with the market standards. Further details on the
Group's staff are set out in the “Human Resources and Corporate
Culture Construction” section of this report.

The Group adheres to its core value of “client first” for years to
maximize client value, maintains good relationship with its customers
and suppliers, and has ongoing communication with the customers
and suppliers through various channels such as telephone, emails
and physical meetings to obtain their feedback and suggestions.
Besides, the Group has entered into related agreements to promote
probity and environmental protection with respective suppliers and
conducted an evaluation of its suppliers, with a view to maintaining
business relationships with suppliers and customers based on
principle of mutual benefit.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company has complied with the requirements under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended from time to time),
the Listing Rules and the SFO relating to, among other things, the
information disclosure and corporate governance.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group's performance for the Financial Year by
business segment is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Financial Year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 128 of this annual report.
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Directors’ Report

Dividend Policy

The Group is committed to sharing its development and
achievements with Shareholders through proactive, stable and
sustainable dividend policy. The Group would strive to strike a
balance between the short-term dividend returns and long-term
development of the Group prudently. When considering the dividend
policy, the Group will comprehensively observe the macro-economic
operation, the competition pattern of the industry and the Group’s
own development strategy. Under the premise of ensuring that
the Group has sufficient working capital and capital expenditure
to implement the development strategy, the Group will distribute
surplus funds to Shareholders and reward their support for the
Group.

In general, the Company will declare/propose dividends
semi-annually when the Board approves the interim results and the
annual results. If the Company pays dividends, the dividend payout
ratio is expected to remain at 30% or above of the profit attributable
to the equity holders of the Company for the whole year.

Proposed special dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: HK2.0 cents). However, to
reward Shareholders for their support for the Company, the Board
proposes to declare a special dividend of HK5.1 cents per Share
(2021: nil) in cash, amounting to approximately RMB147.1 million in
aggregate (2021: final dividend of approximately RMB52.8 million)
for the Financial Year, which is expected to be paid on or about 26
June 2023 to Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 13 June 2023. The payment of the
special dividend is subject to Shareholders’ approval at the AGM
which is scheduled to be held on 15 May 2023.

CLOSE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR AGM

In order to determine the entitlement of Shareholders to attend and
vote at the AGM which is scheduled to be held on 15 May 2023,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from 10
May 2023 to 15 May 2023, both days inclusive, during which no
transfer of shares will be effected. All properly completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 9 May 2023.
Shareholders whose names are recorded in the register of members
of the Company on 15 May 2023 are entitled to attend and vote at
the 2023 AGM.
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CLOSE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR PAYMENT
OF SPECIAL DIVIDEND

In order to determine Shareholders who qualify for the proposed
special dividend, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from 12 June 2023 to 13 June 2023, both days inclusive,
during which no transfer of shares will be effected. All properly
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on 9 June 2023. Shareholders whose names
are recorded in the register of members of the Company on 13
June 2023 are entitled to receive the special dividend in cash for the
Financial Year.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the Financial Year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on pages 130 to 131 and in Note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB4,408 million (2021: approximately
RMB4,573 million).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
Financial Year amounted to approximately RMB0.84 million (2021:
approximately RMB3.98 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set
out in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on pages 268 to 269.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to a share option scheme (the “2016 Share Option
Scheme”) adopted on 9 August 2016 (“Adoption Date”), the 2016
Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing on the Adoption Date. The following is a
summary of the 2016 Share Option Scheme:

(@) Purpose
The 2016 Share Option Scheme aims at encouraging the
participants to make contributions to and promote benefits of
the Group, developing and maintaining business relationships
with participants for the benefit of the Group.

(b) Participants

The Directors may, in accordance with the provisions of
the 2016 Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules, invite
person(s) who or which is/are eligible to participate as
grantee(s) and receive options under the 2016 Share Option
Scheme, and to take up share options to subscribe for Shares.

(c) Maximum number of shares available for subscription

The total number of share options to be granted under the
2016 Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued
Shares of the Company as at 9 August 2016. Upon approval
by the Shareholders, the Company may renew the Scheme
Mandate Limit, provided that each renewal shall not exceed
10% of the issued Shares as at the date of approval by the
Shareholders, and a circular regarding the proposed renewal
of the Scheme Mandate Limit has been dispatched to the
Shareholders in a manner complying with, and containing
the matters specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules. The aggregate maximum number of
Shares which may be issued upon exercise of share options
granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in issue from time
to time. Accordingly, the total number of shares available for
issue under the 2016 Share Option Scheme shall not exceed
310,665,796 shares, which represents 9.62% of the total
shares in issue as at the date of this annual report.
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(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options under the 2016 Share
Option Scheme) in any 12-month period must not exceed
1% of the issued share capital of the Company. Any excess
over 1% shall be subject to the approval of the Shareholders
at general meeting with such participant and his/her close
associates abstaining from voting and the Company shall issue
a circular pursuant to relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.

Time of acceptance and exercise of a share option

The grantee may accept the offer of the share option within
30 business days from the date of the offer letter issued by
the Company. The grantee shall pay HKD1 as consideration
for accepting the offer of the share option granted. The
grantee may subscribe for Shares during such period as may be
determined by the Board (the said period shall not in whatever
case be later than the last day of the 10-year period after the
day on which the offer relating to the option is duly approved
by the Board in accordance with the 2016 Share Option
Scheme (subject to early termination).

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

Unless the Directors determine otherwise and state in the offer
of the grant of option to the grantee, the 2016 Share Option
Scheme does not provide for any minimum period for which
share options must be held before it can be exercised. The
2016 Share Option Scheme does not set out the vesting period
of options granted or to be granted.

Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price of share option granted pursuant to the
2016 Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board
and shall be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the date of offer, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares.
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(h) Movement in share options under the 2016 Share (h) 2016EE R ESTEIE THHEI S B
Option Scheme
The table below summarises the movement in shares options TREN T BERM016EBRESTEIRR
under the 2016 Share Option Scheme since the adoption Ag4E QHIZEt 2B NERENE I
thereof and up to the date of this report. e
Date of Date of Exercise
grant vesting period
Number (day/ (day/ (day/
of options month/ month/ month/ Exercise Lapse
Grantee and description granted? year) year) year)( price* date
R BB HEH TREE
B E (B/ (B/ (B/
BRRARSH gRO B/ %) B/%®) R/E) THEE* X% A8
*Independent Business Consultant 11,000,000 6/52019  5/11/2019  5/11/2019-  HK$3.708  30/6/2020
B EBEE 30/6/2020 per share
SH
*Being service provider with 5/5/2020- 3.708A T
options granted in any 30/6/2020

12-month period exceeding
0.1% of the relevant class of
shares in issue

*BREM12 B ARRERED
B#TREBENRD0.1%H)

HE R PR R AL E

(i) The number of options granted is 11,000,000 shares options, (i) BEERESZR A11,000,0001 8 %
each share option entitling the Grantee to subscribe for one FE AR AR BRIETREBRERBIRA
ordinary share of HK$0.10 in the share capital of the Company. NEPEAFEFIR0. 108 TR T mIEREH o

(i) The share options granted were exercisable in two tranches (i) FAREEERAER D WILITE (BT
(50% of share options granted in each), with the first tranche F50%M B FHBRE)  E—4aR
exercisable from 5 November 2019 to 30 June 2020 (both days 201911 A5H 20206 A308 (81
inclusive) and the second tranche exercisable from 5 May 2020 HEMK) T £ = #0] 2020F5A
to 30 June 2020 (both days inclusive). 58 Z£2020F6A308 (BRIEEEMK) 17

it o

(i) The above granted options lapsed on 30 June 2020 and no (il FHRERHBRER-_Z-_ZFXA
options were exercised. =+HXM - EEBERERITE -

The above Grantee is not a director, chief executive or A FEBRAVIEARARDNTES Zo5{TH

substantial shareholder of the Company, or an associate of any AEFTERERTMBEZBHE A -

of them.
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Save as disclosed above, no other share options were granted
to the following persons under the 2016 Share Option Scheme
since the adoption thereof and up to the date of this report:

(i)  each of the directors, chief executive or substantial
shareholders of the Company, or their respective
associates;

(i) each participant with options granted in excess of the
1% individual limit;

(i) each related entity participant or service provider with
options granted in any 12-month period exceeding 0.1%
of the relevant class of shares in issue of the Company;

(iv)  the five highest paid individuals during the financial year;
and

(v)  other employee participants, related entity participants
and service providers.

For further details of the above movement, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 6 May 2019.

The life of the 2016 Share Option Scheme and Others

The 2016 Share Option Scheme will remain in force for ten
years starting from 9 August 2016 (can be terminated before
expiration). As at the date of this report, the remaining life of
the 2016 Share Option Scheme is less than 4 years.

At the beginning and at the end of the Reporting Period, and
up to the date of this report, there were no share options
outstanding under the 2016 Share Option Scheme and there
were no share options granted, vested, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed during the Financial Year.

The 2016 Share Option Scheme itself did not specify number of
share options available for grants to the following participants
in any financial year:

(i)  each of the directors, chief executive or substantial
shareholders of the Company, or their respective
associates;

(i) each participant with options to be granted in excess of
the 1% individual limit;
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(iii)  each related entity participant or service provider with
options to be granted in any 12-month period exceeding
0.1% of the relevant class of shares in issue of the
Company;

(iv)  the five highest paid individuals during the financial year;
and

(v)  other employee participants, related entity participants
and service providers.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME - GUANGDONG JIAHAO
SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME (Note: see Note 20(b)
Share-based payment to the consolidated financial
statements)

Pursuant to a written resolution of the directors of Guangdong
Jiahao passed on 15 October 2020, Guangdong Jiahao, an indirect
non-wholly-owned subsidiary as well as a non-principal subsidiary
of the Company, approved, adopted and implemented a share
incentive scheme (the “Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme”)
in which Eligible Participants (as defined below) will be entitled to
participate. The Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme is not
subject to the requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Guangdong
Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme.

Summary of Terms
Purposes

The purposes of the formulation and the implementation of the
Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme is to establish an
effective incentive and discipline mechanism for Guangdong Jiahao,
attract and retain outstanding talents, so as to fully motivate the
management and core team members of Guangdong Jiahao to
effectively align the interests of the Company, Guangdong Jiahao
and its employees, and to create the future of the Company with
concerted effort.
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Types of Awards and Who May Participate

Under the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme, the board of
directors of Guangdong Jiahao (the “Relevant Board"”) (including any
committee or person(s) duly authorized by the Relevant Board) may,
at its discretion, invite directors, senior management, core technical
personnel or other employees of Guangdong Jiahao to participate
in the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme, whereby the
relevant employees will be awarded restricted shares (the “Restricted
Shares”) and will be required to settle the relevant subscription price
(the "Employee Subscription Price”). The Restricted Shares will be
released upon the expiry of the period of restriction on transfer of
such Restricted Shares, such as the relevant sale restriction period/
lock-up period. The relevant employees passed a resolution to
establish certain limited partnership shareholding platforms (the
“Employees Shareholding Platform(s)”) through which they will
participate in the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme by way
of indirect shareholding (the “Award(s)”) in the capacity of limited
partners (the “Eligible Participant(s)” or “Participant(s)”) and will
be required to settle the relevant Employee Subscription Price. The
Group or its controlled affiliates are the general partners of such
partnership(s).

Maximum Number of Shares

According to the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme
approved by the Relevant Board, upon the implementation of
the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme, the number of
underlying shares under the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive
Scheme represented approximately 1.98% of the total equity
interests in Guangdong Jiahao (a limited liability company) and as at
31 December 2022, those equity interests have been vested to the
Employees Shareholding Platforms.

Consideration for Restricted Share Units and Restricted
Share Purchase Price

The Eligible Participants would indirectly hold equity interests in
Guangdong Jiahao through limited partnerships, and the Employees
Shareholding Platforms would purchase the Group’s existing equity
interests in Guangdong Jiahao for cash at the price(s) agreed
between the Company and the Eligible Participant(s). The aggregate
Employee Subscription Price payable by the Eligible Participants
amounted to approximately RMB46.5 million.
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Vesting Schedule

For the purpose of this Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme,
four limited partnerships have been established, namely Yingtan
Xiangshan Corporate Advisory Centre (Limited Partnership) (&8 &
I 2R O(ERAER)), Yingtan Zhonghao Corporate Advisory
Centre (Limited Partnership) (BEf ¥ E AR LNEREE)),
Yingtan Guanghao Corporate Advisory Centre (Limited Partnership)
(BEEEZEZBAPOERER) and Yingtan Huajia Corporate
Advisory Centre (Limited Partnership) (B BFE = >EAXAFT OER
& %)), through which the Participants indirectly hold equity interests
in Guangdong Jiahao and the relevant Awards have vested in the
Employees Shareholding Platforms.

As at 31 December 2022, the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive
Scheme has covered in total 62 (31 December 2021: 80) Participants,
including directors and senior management of Guangdong Jiahao.
The chairman of Guangdong Jiahao, XIA Liqun, who is also a director
of the Company and one of the Participants.

Restrictions on share transfers:

Yingtan Xiangshan 1.

Corporate Advisory
Centre (Limited
Partnership) (f&
BEILP LA
FNERER)),
Yingtan Zhonghao
Corporate Advisory

Centre (Limited 2.

Partnership) (f&
ERRPREH
ROERE ),
Yingtan Guanghao
Corporate Advisory
Centre (Limited
Partnership) (&2 &
SEEFZARNE

RER) 3.

Sale restriction period: 36 months
from the date of Award and the
sale restriction period shall remain
effective regardless of whether
Guangdong Jiahao could be listed (i.e.
initial public offering of shares) or
not;

Lock-up period: Upon the listing of
Guangdong Jiahao, the Participants
are subject to lock-up requirements
as agreed under the relevant share
incentive agreement(s) and the
relevant requirements as stipulated
under the listing rules of domestic
exchange;

During the sale restriction period
or lock-up period, the limited
partners shall not transfer their
respective shares in the assets of the
partnerships, except in the case of
withdrawal;

After the date falling on the fifth
anniversary of the date of Award, the
Participants may transfer all or part
of their respective awarded shares
in the event that Guangdong Jiahao
remains unlisted.
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Yingtan Huajia 1.

Corporate Advisory
Centre (Limited
Partnership) (J& 2%
FEZAP OB
fRE %))

Prior to the listing of Guangdong
Jiahao and within 36 months from
the date of listing of Guangdong
Jiahao, the Participants shall not
transfer all or part of their respective
awarded shares to any third party
(including other Participants on the
Employees Shareholding Platforms)
not recognised by the general partners
of the partnerships without the prior
consent of the general partners of the
partnerships;

. After the date falling on the fifth

anniversary of the date of Award, the
Participants may transfer all or part of
their respective awarded shares in the
event that Guangdong Jiahao remains
unlisted;

Upon the listing of Guangdong Jiahao,
if according to the relevant laws
and regulations, the Participants is
required to comply with the obligations
such as specific lock- up period or
restriction on the percentage of sale
due to the Participants being the senior
management of the company, having
special status or the number of shares
held reaches a certain threshold, and
the Participants shall comply with the
relevant regulations in addition to the
requirements under the agreement.
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Vesting of Awards, Termination and Withdrawal of
Participants

The Awards have been vested in the Employees Shareholding
Platforms and the Participant(s) shall withdraw from the Guangdong
Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme if any of the following occurs: (1)
amendment(s) to the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme,
or amendment(s) to the share incentive agreement(s) for the
compliance with the requirements of the company’s lending
banks, or amendment(s) to the share incentive agreement(s) for
the compliance of the listing rules of the stock exchange or the
requirements of the regulatory authority regarding the listing
of the company, but the Participant(s) declines to execute the
amended share incentive agreement; (2) the company is dissolved
or its business license is revoked or cancelled; (3) the partnership
is dissolved or its business license is revoked or cancelled; (4) the
Participant has reached the retirement age and has completed
the retirement formalities and does not continue to serve after
retirement; (5) the company terminates the labour contract
or employment contract with the Participant due to strategic
adjustment or redundancy; (6) the Participant resigns during the term
of the labour contract, or the company or the Participant refuses to
renew the labour contract upon its expiry; (7) death or incapacity of
the Participant; (8) the Participant is held criminally responsible for
any criminal offence; (9) the Participant commits serious misconduct,
malfeasance, fraud, bribery, bribery solicitation, misappropriation,
embezzlement, divulgence of business, customer and technical
secrets or other violations of laws or disciplines, causing significant
damage to the company; (10) the company determines that the
Participant is directly responsible for the company’s loss or decline in
operating results; (11) the Participant is considered to be detrimental
to the interests of the company when performing his duties; (12) the
Participant causes significant loss to the interests of the company
due to his negligence in performing his duties; (13) the Participant
violates the obligation of confidentiality and divulges the confidential
information of the company (including the intellectual property
rights, technical secrets, customer information, financial information
and other business secrets). For the purpose of this Guangdong Jiahao
Share Incentive Scheme, the aforementioned trade secrets include
the fact presented in this Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme
and the Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme documents and
any of their contents; (14) the Participant, in other capacities or in
any way, is engaged in or for the benefits of others engaged in any
competing business with the company without the prior written
consent of the company; (15) the share of assets in the partnerships
held by the Participant is enforced by law; (16) the Participant is
dismissed by the company for violating the rules and regulations of
the company, or the Participant is removed from the partnership(s).
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Directors’ Report

The transfer price for the Participant’s withdrawal from the
Guangdong Jiahao Share Incentive Scheme will be based on
the reason(s) of his withdrawal. The transfer price in the case
of withdrawal is either the principal amount of the Participant’s
investment or the principal amount of the investment plus interest
calculated at a rate of 5-10% per annum on simple interest basis
(interest is calculated according to the actual number of days).

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted the share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) on 20 May 2022 (the “Adoption Date”) for a term of 10
years from the Adoption Date until 19 May 2032, unless otherwise
terminated. The purposes and objectives of the Share Award Scheme
are to recognise, reward, remunerate, compensate and motivate the
contribution of certain participants and to provide incentives and
help the Group in retaining its existing employees and recruiting
suitable personnel as additional employees to further the operation
and development of the Group, by providing them with a direct
economic interest in attaining the Group’s long-term business
objectives, implementing the Group’s long-term business strategy,
enhancing the Group’s values and promoting the Group’s growth
and development.

The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the administration of
the Board in accordance with the rules related to the Share Award
Scheme, the respective trust deed(s) relevant to the establishment
of the trust(s) to support and facilitate the operation of the Share
Award Scheme, and all applicable laws and regulations.

Participants of the Share Award Scheme cover any employee, officer
or director of any member of the Group or of any affiliate of the
Company, and any person (including advisor, consultant or other
service provider) who provides services to any member of the Group
on a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course
of business which are material to the long term growth of the
Group as determined by the Remuneration Committee and other
person as permitted under the Listing Rules whom the Board in its
sole discretion considers may contribute or have contributed to the
Group.
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Pursuant to the terms of the Share Award Scheme, the Board may,
from time to time, at its sole and absolute discretion designate
an award (“Award” and collectively “Awards”) to be made to a
selected person among the participants (“Selected Person” and
collectively “Selected Persons”). Awards may be satisfied by (i)
existing Shares to be acquired by the trustee(s) engaged by the
Company for the purpose of administrating the Share Award
Scheme (the “Trustee(s)”), from the market, or (ii) new Shares to be
issued and allotted to the Trustee(s) by the Company, in each case
the Shares will be held on trust by the Trustee(s) for the Selected
Persons until the end of each vesting period subject to fulfilment of
the vesting conditions (if any) in accordance with the provisions of
the Share Award Scheme.

Under the terms of the Share Award Scheme, (i) the aggregate
number of the Shares that may be awarded by the Board under
the Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date (or such other limit,
if any, prescribed by the Listing Rules from time to time); and (ii)
unless specifically approved by the independent shareholders, the
aggregate number of new Shares that may be granted as Awards
annually under the Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 3% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the date on which the
Shareholders’ approval of a mandate for issue and allotment of new
Shares under the Share Award Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate”) (or
such other limit, if any, prescribed by the Listing Rules from time to
time) is given.

The maximum number of Shares which may be awarded to a
Selected Person (i.e. maximum entitlement of) in any twelve months
under the Share Award Scheme shall not exceed one percent of the
total number of issued Shares as at the Adoption Date unless the
proposed grant has been specifically approved by the Shareholders
in a general meeting of the Company. The Share Award Scheme
does not specify any minimum vesting period nor the grant price
which is payable by a Selected Person upon acceptance of an Award.
Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, the Board has the authority
to determine, among other things, the vesting schedule, number,
the terms and conditions of the Award Shares and the grant price
(if any) payable by the Selected Person. The grant price in respect of
Awarded Shares under the Share Award Scheme is determined by
the Board in its absolute discretion at the time of the grant. As at 31
December 2022, no Awarded Shares have been granted under the
Share Award Scheme yet.
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As at 31 December 2022, (i) no Trustee has been appointed for
the purpose of the Share Award Scheme, (ii) no Award has been
granted under the Share Award Scheme, and (iii) the Company has
not yet obtained the approval from its shareholders with respect to
the Scheme Mandate for issue and allotment of new Shares under
the Share Award Scheme and hence no Shares are available for issue
under the Share Award Scheme as at the date of this report.

The Share Award Scheme does not involve the grant of options over
any new Shares, and does not constitute a share option scheme
pursuant to the then Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules in effect during
the financial year ended 31 December 2022, but constitutes a share
scheme of the Company under the new Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules which has come in effect on 1 January 2023. In particular,
whilst no Scheme Mandate for allotment of new Shares has been
obtained, the Share Award Scheme is currently a share scheme
that may be funded by existing Shares under the new Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules and shall be subject to the applicable disclosure
requirements thereunder since 1 January 2023.

For more details of the Share Award Scheme, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 21 May 2022.

Separately, the Stock Exchange has published conclusions to its
consultation on Proposed Amendments to Listing Rules relating
to Share Schemes of Listed Issuers on 29 July 2022 and in respect
of which the Stock Exchange will introduce, among others,
amendments to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules which has become
effective on 1 January 2023. As the proposed amendments include
extending Chapter 17 to govern, among others, all share schemes
involving grants of share awards and grants of options to acquire
new shares of issuers, the Company is in the course of assessing
the implications thereof on the implementation, operation and
administration of the Share Award Scheme and will take appropriate
steps to comply with the relevant provisions of the Listing Rules as
may be applicable from time to time.
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DI

RECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Financial Year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms
Mr
Mr
Mr
Ms
Ms

. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairlady and CEQ)

. LAM Ka Yu (Co-Chairman)

. XIA Liqun (Vice Chairman and President)

. POON Chiu Kwok (Vice President and Company Secretary)
. LAM Ka Yan (Note 1)

. CHOY Man Har (Note 2)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr
Ms
Mr
Mr

. LEE Luk Shiu

. MA Yunyan (Note 3)

. Jonathan Jun YAN (Note 4)
. HOU Haitao (Note 5)

Notes:

1.

Appointed as Executive Director and a member of Nomination
Committee with effect from 14 February 2022.

Appointed as Executive Director with effect from 14 February 2022.

Retired as Independent Non-executive Director and a member of
each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company with effect from 20 May
2022.

Appointed as a member of Nomination Committee with effect from 14
February 2022.

Appointed as Independent Non-executive Director and a member of
each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company with effect from 20 May
2022.

In accordance with bye-law 84(1) and (2) of the Bye-laws, Mr. LAM

Ka

Yu, Mr. POON Chiu Kwok and Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN shall retire

from office by rotation at the forthcoming AGM. All of them being
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who proposed for re-election at the

for

thcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company which is

not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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Directors’ Report

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than disclosed in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company, its ultimate holding company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the Financial
Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

None of the Directors and their respective close associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is considered to have an interest in any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out
on pages 49 to 53 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Particulars of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals during the Financial Year are set out in Note 39 and
Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING EZERRKRN - HBERORES 2#EXE
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the 2022128310 EERSZ5THAER
Directors and chief executives in the shares, underlying sharesand ZAAFEKEEEEIE (TEREFELBEK
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within 7] EXVER) Z I& 5 - MK O RESEREES
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register KRR GIRIEE S KBS IEH E352{KH E T
maintained by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or HFEBZ Eid Mgz ERZ L ARE  KEE
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock 1RIBZEFRIIRE MBS NA T LT A

Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows: T2 EREREWT
Long position in ordinary shares of the Company RAFREBEBRTE
Number Percentage
of issued of the issued
Shares held share capital
Name of Director(s) Capacity BEE®IT hE &7
EEMS =80) ik =] RAEAB DL
CHU Lam Yiu Held through controlled corporations % 2,293,408,900 71.00%
SRR bt VNS E Rt
CHQOY Man Har Beneficial owner 3,000 0.00%
BXE EmEEA
Note: 2,293,408,900 ordinary shares of the Company were held by  BffsF : &R 7 22,293,408,9000% ¥ & I Ty 5 Bl &
Mogul Enterprises Limited, Resourceful Link International Limited, Mogul Enterprises Limited, Resourceful
Power Nation International Limited, Jumbo Elite Limited, Raise Sino Link International Limited, Power Nation
Investments Limited and Real Elite Investments Limited, respectively. International Limited, Jumbo Elite Limited,
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is the sole beneficial owner of the aforesaid six Raise Sino Investments Limitedf1Real Elite
companies. Investments Limited# 78  KMBELZ LA Ll

AEARNME-EREAA -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company is [ F XTI EE SN - 20229128318 @ &
not aware of any of the Directors or their respective associates had A F W B AT M ESHFEE B HME
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or A RA AT K E T RMB AT SHAEEEE (F
debentures of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or associated 3% B #& 45 R HEEA) 2 EMIEH - HEKR G

companies as defined in the SFO. iS5 IEA LA ERR LR -
DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR EETERORNESZERN
DEBENTURES

Other than disclosed in Note 20 to the consolidated financial BRGE B EBREN T 20 EEIN - A D
statements, at no time during the Financial Year was the Company &) 5% H (T ] ff & 2 &) 72 7% B B 4F & 4 L {a] i
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable g ®Em BT AL H  MEAQA R ZEE1]
the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the  #UgBE AR B s (] b 3EE 2 &0 sk & &
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other &z

body corporate.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Financial Year and up to the date
of this report.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITIES

Pursuant to the Bye-laws and subject to the relevant provisions
therein, every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/she
may incur in or sustain by the execution of his/her duty as a director
of the Company or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has
arranged appropriate insurance cover for the Directors and senior
management of the Company in respect of legal action against them
in the course of execution of their duties in good faith.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
above and Note 20 to the financial statements, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Company during the Financial
Year.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2022, other than the interests disclosed in the
section headed “Directors’ interests in shares, underlying shares and
debentures”, the Company is not aware of any other person who
held interests or short positions in 5% or more of the issued share
capital of the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OR TRANSACTIONS

USE OF THE PROCEEDS FROM SHARE PLACEMENT

The Group completed the top-up placing and subscription on 13
December 2021 and 20 December 2021, respectively, and the
Company received net proceeds (i.e. after deducting the commission
payable to the placing agents, professional fee and other related
costs and expenses in relation to the top-up placing and subscription)
from the top-up subscription of approximately HK$2.16 billion
and the number of issued shares of the Company was increased
to 3,229,926,876. The net price for each top-up placing share was
HK$17.67. On 31 January 2022, the Company changed the use of
its unutilized use of proceeds of approximately HK$886 million. For
details, please refer to the section headed “Change in Use of the
Unutilised Net Proceeds” on page 110 of this report.
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group utilised approximately 20224128310 ' A EEEF A 4 %8
HK$2,110 million of the proceeds representing approximately 98% #4921 1EE T ' [ &1 & JF 2B £998% ' A {F FH
of the net proceeds, and the unutilised proceeds amounted to Bl & FX 1 45,0008 & 7T - Bl 22022F12 A
approximately HK$50 million. As at 31 December 2022, allof the 31H B ARFEHENEEESHFEHRETE
unutilised proceeds were deposited in licensed banks in Hong Kong. #2717 - BEURAREB L E LTS IE N
Taking into consideration the Group’s operations and the market KREEEF A HAERIEFELEEN2023F
conditions, the Group expects that the unutilised net proceeds will 12 A31H A2 (FATE » SEBHNL T & o
be fully utilised by 31 December 2023, details of which are set out in

the table below.

In HK$million By - B&E &

Asat Change of use As at Expected

31 December  of unutilised Actualuse 31 December timeline

2021 netproceeds  of proceeds 2022 of use
KBRAME

20215 REFE MENE R2022% BaHER

Intended use of proceeds RERET AR 12A318 EUAE ERRZ 12A318 KEX

Repayment of bank loans BERTER 257 358 615 - N/A
("Bank Loans Repayment”) ((BERTER) TER

Acquisition of and/or investment in businessles)  WEE [/ 1k & 5 LA 300 (158) 92 50 Before
which leverage on the competitive advantage ~ FIFAEEHFEEH December 2023
of the Group should suitable opportunities B (nELELE) 202351287
arise (" Acquisition and/or Investments”) ((WBER/FRE])

General working capital requirements and —REFEEHNERR 329 (200) 129 - N/A
expansion of existing businesses REXBER T
("General Working Capital”) ([—Heg4s])

Total it 886 - 836 50
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CHANGE IN USE OF THE UNUTILISED NET PROCEEDS

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 31
January 2022 in relation to change in use of the unutilized net
proceeds of approximately HK$886 million. Having considered,
among others factors, the likelihood of the U.S. Federal Reserve
finishing its bond buying in March 2022 and with the expectation
of three rate hikes in 2022, along with the recent development
of the Group, the Board is considering adopting a more prudent
approach regarding the cash resources management to maintain the
financial stability of the Group by early repayment of part of its bank
borrowings. As such, the Board resolved to reallocate the remaining
unutilised net proceeds from Acquisition and/or Investments and
General Working Capital to Bank Loans Repayment in manner as
set out in the table above. The Board is also of the view that the
reallocation would allow the Group to utilise its financial resources
in a more flexible, beneficial and effective way and to meet its
operational needs and provide more buffer to cope with the
economic uncertainties in the future. For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 31 January 2022.

In HK$ million

EFERE

REAFRZAENE
HIRMAN AT BHA2022F1 A31HN A S -
T NAERANBE86E TN AREAME
RIEFE ZED(EPBIE) B BHE
FESRRAE0NFIATKESES &
H202E B ME = RAREETBEHER
EEeRAEHSEREE A ARNEASE
EWEEE  URFPEERDBITERIALE
AEENYBHBEBE At EFRENUT
KA AN ERGBRARERNKEBR, REE
FREN—REBECETHRABITER
BE-BFeNRE EF-EBEAEE
BEANEEE BMMAERN T NEREH
BER RMEELETE IREEZES
NEHARRNEETHETE - FBBE2HA
~NalBHA2022F1 31BN AE °

By BE BT

Reallocation
Intended use of unutilised Revised use of
of unutilised proceeds for unutilised
Intended use of proceeds proceeds intended use proceeds
AERRMERE
AERARERE STERRER TABRER
RENET AR b ik il AETERR
Bank Loans Repayment BRFITER 257 358 615
Acquisition and/or Investments RER/FHE 300 (158) 142
General Working Capital —REESS 329 (200) 129
Total @zt 886 - 836

Investigation Against Directors

During late January 2022, the Company has been informed by the
Huabao Flavours, that Ms. Chu (defined below) and Mr. Lam (defined
below) were under investigation for suspected disciplinary violations
and were placed under residential surveillance at designated
locations (F§E BFTESAR B 1E). Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (“Ms. Chu”) is the
mother of Mr. LAM Ka Yu and Ms. LAM Ka Yan, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, the Chairlady of the Board, the CEO
and an executive Director of the Company, and Mr. LAM Ka Yu
("Mr. Lam") is the son of Ms. Chu, the brother of Ms. LAM Ka Yan,
an executive Director and Co-Chairman of the Company and a
director of Huabao Flavours.
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On 21 July 2022, the Group was informed by Mr. Lam that he had
been notified by Changsha County Police Bureau (R &A% B)
that they had lifted his residential surveillance and that he was on
bail pending further investigation.

On 26 July 2022, the Group learned from Ms. Chu’s family that
Changsha County Police Bureau (K% /A% ) had lifted Ms. Chu's
residential surveillance and that she was on bail pending further
investigation. Concurrently, the Company had received a Case Filing
Notice from Xinfeng County Supervisory Committee ({5 & 822553 %

= .o

BERMAE) that Xinfeng County Supervisory Committee had
decided to file an investigation against Ms. Chu GEfT M RHAE)
and the Company also had been informed by Ms. Chu's family that
Ms. Chu was placed under residential surveillance at a designated
location (}&F /& FTE4R/E1E) by Anyuan County Police Bureau (% &

FBRRR).

On 20 January 2023, the Group was advised by Ms. Chu’s family
member that Anyuan County Police Bureau (L& A% /®) had
lifted Ms. Chu’s residential surveillance and that she was on bail
pending further investigation. Concurrently, Ms. Chu is placed under
residential surveillance at a designated location (¥85E /& FTES18 /B 1E)
by Chongging Yongchuan District Police Bureau (EE MK JIIE AR
).

For details, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 24
January 2022, 26 January 2022, 27 January 2022, 21 July 2022, 26
July 2022 and 20 January 2023 respectively.

Up to the date of this report, the Company has not been provided
with any details of the nature of the suspected violations of Ms. Chu
and/or Mr. Lam that were being investigated. The production
and business operation of the Group remains normal. Further
announcement(s) will be made to keep the shareholders of the
Company and the public informed of the development in this matter
in due course.

Acquisition of Part of the Equity Interests in Shanghai
Yifang by Huabao Flavours

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 8 March
2022 in relation to acquisition of part of the equity interests in
Shanghai Yifang Rural Technology Holdings Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai
Yifang”) by Huabao Flavours.
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Directors’ Report

On 9 August 2021, Huabao Flavours acquired 40% equity
interests in Shanghai Yifang from independent third parties for
a total consideration of RMB180 million in cash (the “Previous
Transaction”). Shanghai Yifang was established in the PRC on
7 January 1999 and is primarily engaged in the promotion and
consulting services of agricultural technology, cultivation of fruits
and vegetables; research and development of food additives; food
production, etc.

Huabao Flavours on 8 March 2022 further acquired 27% equity
interests in Shanghai Yifang from independent third parties for a
total consideration of RMB121.5 million in cash (the “Acquisition”).
After the completion of the Acquisition, Huabao Flavours’
shareholding in Shanghai Yifang would, in aggregate, reach 67%
and Shanghai Yifang would become a controlling subsidiary of
Huabao Flavours and the accounts of Shanghai Yifang would be
included in the scope of Huabao Flavours’ consolidated statements
and as such Shanghai Yifang would indirectly be included in the
scope of the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The
Acquisition also included a performance undertaking provided by the
vendors in favour of Huabao Flavours, the capital increase and the
put option. Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 8
March 2022 for further details.

As one or more than one of the applicable percentage ratios for
the transaction, when aggregated with the Previous Transaction,
the capital increase and the put option as a whole, is more than
5% and below 25%, the transaction, when aggregated with the
Previous Transaction, the capital increase and the put option as a
whole, constitute a discloseable transaction of the Company, and is
therefore subject to the notification and announcement requirements
but exempt from the shareholders’ approval requirement pursuant
to Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Except for disclosed elsewhere in this report, there were no
significant events after the reporting period.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Financial Year, the percentage of revenue from sales of
goods or rendering services attributable to the Group's five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for approximately 23.5% and
the largest customer Yunnan Tobacco (Group) Company Limited
contributed approximately 6.9% to the revenue from sales of goods
or rendering services of the Group and the percentage of purchases
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 18.8% and the largest supplier
contributed approximately 7.6% to the purchases of the Group.
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Directors’ Report

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, owned
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group’s connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions are primarily classified based on () the connected
transactions with Guangdong Tobacco Company; and (ll) the
continuing connected transactions between the Group and Broad
Far Group.

() Connected Transactions with Guangdong
Tobacco Company
The Company indirectly holds approximately 55.375% equity
interests in Guangdong Jinke, which is regarded as an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Guangdong
Tobacco holds 17.5% equity interest in Guangdong Jinke.
Guangdong Tobacco Company are regarded as connected
persons at the subsidiary level of the Company under the
Listing Rules. Transactions between the Group and Guangdong
Tobacco Company constitute connected transactions of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

The Group did not enter into any framework agreement with
any members of Guangdong Tobacco Company in 2022 and
2021.

References are made to the Company’s announcements dated
24 January 2022, 24 May 2022, 22 July 2022 and 28 October
2022 respectively (the “Announcements”). Since one or more
of the applicable percentage ratios of the transaction amounts
of the transactions contemplated under the Purchase Orders
(collectively, the “Purchase Orders”) between members of
the Group and members of Guangdong Tobacco Company
for sale and purchase of flavours (tobacco flavours), tobacco
raw materials, etc., on an aggregated basis, exceeds 1% but
not more than 5%, such transactions contemplated under the
Purchase Orders are subject to the reporting, annual review,
and announcement requirements, but are exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirements.

For the Financial Year, the actual transaction amount for the
connected transactions between the Group and members
of Guangdong Tobacco Company mentioned above was
approximately RMB167.6 million (2021: approximately
RMB168.2 million) which exceeded 1% but not more than 5%
of the applicable percentage ratios.
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Set out below are the principal terms of the Purchase Orders
placed by Guangdong Tobacco Company with members of the

RAMBRFE  ERFERRFAAEHE
RERR TEEREBHRARK1.676

Group for the Financial Year, with an aggregate consideration
of approximately RMB167.6 million:

BRI RBIEN T RERHIWT

(m

Amount in RMB THEBARK
Transaction  Transaction
Date of No. of Amount Amount
Date of Acceptance of Purchase Purchase (exclusive (inclusive
Purchase Order Order Purchaser Seller Subject Matter Orders of tax) of tax)
548 2548
JERE BRREH HELD:] 182  BHER TEYE (F2H) (8%)
From4 January 2022to  From 6 January 2022to  Guangdong Tobacco  The Group Provision of tobacco raw materials 134 167.6milion  189.4 million
26 December 2022 30 December 2022 Company by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
0051540% 20051566% RRPELT A&E AEERERPELT 134 1676ET  18%ET
20225128268 20025124308 RUEREERH
For all the Purchase Orders, payment of the transaction T EREIIEmMs RELSEEHRE

amounts was settled in arrears by cash transfer. Upon receipt
of the Purchase Orders and in compliance with the internal
control system, the Group would carry out transactions in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Sale
Agreement.

The transactions between Guangdong Tobacco Company and
the Group are subject to aggregation under the Listing Rules.
The Company will continue to monitor the transaction amounts
between the Group and Guangdong Tobacco Company
and re-comply with all applicable reporting, disclosure
and, if applicable and required, independent shareholders’
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Continuing connected transactions with Broad
Far Group

On 12 April 2022, Chemactive entered into a framework
agreement with Broad Far (“Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which Chemactive and its subsidiaries shall
provide tobacco related raw materials and related services to
Broad Far Group for a term of 1 year from 1 January 2022 to
31 December 2022 (both days inclusive). The price shall be
based on implementation of bidding prices (if applicable) or
market prices, i.e. prices and terms payable to Chemactive and
its subsidiaries shall be no less favourable than those terms
offered by independent third party customers for provision of
similar products and services in its ordinary and usual course
of business and other terms that are consistent with industry
practice in general.
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Chemactive is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
Broad Far is ultimately controlled and beneficially owned by
Madam Chu and therefore is an associate of a connected
person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
transactions between the Group and Broad Far Group under
the Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The annual cap (details of which is set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 12 April 2022) under the Framework
Agreement was set at not exceeding RMB19.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

For the Financial Year, the actual transaction amount under the
Framework Agreement was approximately RMB13.9 million
(2021: RMB1.99 million).

Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been reviewed
by the INEDs of the Company. The INEDs confirmed that the
aforesaid continuing connected transactions had been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company has engaged the independent auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers to report on the Group’s abovementioned
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) ‘Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information’ and with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules’ issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. PricewaterhouseCoopers have issued their unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
abovementioned continuing connected transactions for the Financial
Year in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy
of the auditors’ letter has been provided to the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange by the Company.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into
by the Group during the Financial Year are set out in Note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements. None of these related party
transactions constitutes a disclosable connected transaction as
defined under the Listing Rules, except for the transactions described
in this paragraph headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions”, in respect of which the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
have been complied.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Financial Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 54 to 81 of this annual
report.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 December 2022, none of the members of the Group was
involved in any material litigation or arbitration and no material
litigation or claim was pending or threatened or made against any
member of the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available and to the best
belief and knowledge of the Directors, the Company had maintained
the prescribed public float throughout the Financial Year and up to
the date of this report as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year have
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming
AGM of the Company.

By Order of the Board
LAM Ka Yu
Co-Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report

g
pwc

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HUABAO INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion
What we have audited
The consolidated financial statements of Huabao International

Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 126 to 267, comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022;

e the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to Impairment

of goodwill:

Key Audit Matter

Impairment of goodwill

Refer to Note 4 (Critical accounting
estimates and judgements)
and Note 9 (Intangible assets)
to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December
2022, the Group had total cost
of goodwill balance amounting
to RMB5,953,293,000 which
was arisen from acquisitions
in previous years and current
year. As at 31 December 2022,
an accumulated impairment of
RMB2,332,844,000 has been
recognised. Impairment charge
amounting to RMB1,507,710,000
was recognised in current year,
of which RMB293,195,000
was in respect of the CGUs
of Guangdong Golden Leaf
Technology Development
Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries
("Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves”),
RMB1,170,675,000 in respect
of the CGUs of Jiahao Foodstuff
Limited and its subsidiaries (“Jiahao
Foodstuff”), and RMB43,840,000
in respect of the CGUs of
Shanghai Yifang Rural Technology
Holdings Co., Ltd. and its
subsidiaries ("Shanghai Yifang"),
respectively.

How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

Our procedures in relation to
management’s impairment
assessment of goodwill included:

— We understood and tested
management'’s process and
controls in respect of the
impairment of goodwill and
assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by
considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk
factors, such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes and
susceptibility to management
bias or fraud.

— We evaluated the historical
accuracy of the plan and
forecast by, for example,
comparing the forecast used
in the prior year model to the
actual performance of the
business in the current year.

— We assessed whether the
identification of CGUs and
allocation of goodwill for
impairment assessment aligned
with our understanding of the
Group's business activities.

— We obtained valuation reports
issued by independent valuers
engaged by management.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Key Audit Matter

Management tests at least
annually whether goodwill is
subject to any impairment,
in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in
Note 2.8 and Note 2.9. The
recoverable amount of CGUs
has been determined based on
the higher of their fair value
less costs of disposal and their
value in use amounts.

We focus on auditing the
impairment of goodwill
including the related disclosures
because the estimation of
recoverable amount is subject
to high degree of estimation
uncertainty. The inherent risk
in relation to the impairment
of goodwill is considered
significant due to subjectivity
of significant assumptions
used, including budgeted gross
margin, estimated pre-tax
discount rate and forecast and
terminal growth rates, and
significant judgements involved
in selecting data.

How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

—  We assessed the independence,
professional competence and
objectivity of independent
valuers.

- We evaluated the
appropriateness of the
goodwill impairment testing
methodology adopted
by management with the
involvement of our in house
experts.

- We evaluated the
underlying key assumptions
of budgeted gross margin
and forecast and terminal
growth rates used in the
cash flow forecast taking
into account historical
results and market
developments.

- We evaluated the
reasonableness of the
pre-tax discount rate used in
the calculation by evaluating
the cost of capital of the
respective CGUs, referring
to comparable companies
(e.g. capital structure, etc.)
and taking into account the
specific circumstances of
the respective CGUs, and
comparing with the industry
or market data.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

— We evaluated management'’s
sensitivity analysis of the key
assumptions in the goodwill
impairment assessment,
including budgeted gross
margin, estimated pre-tax
discount rate and forecast
and terminal growth rates.

— We also considered whether
the judgements made in
selecting data would give
rise to indicators of possible
management bias.

—  We tested the mathematical
accuracy of the underlying
value in use calculation.

—  We assessed the adequacy
of the disclosures related to
the impairment of goodwill in
the context of the applicable
financial reporting framework.

We considered that management’s
significant judgements and
assumptions applied in the
assessment of impairment of
goodwill were supportable by the
evidence we obtained.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit Committee
for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Lam Sung Wan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position #HR&BBARR R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

As at 31 December

R12A831H8
Note 2022 2021
og=d 20224 20214F
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - 3N ERIE 6 2,042,644 1,642,566
Right-of-use assets RESE 7 385,498 251,963
Investment properties WEMME 8 27,332 -
Intangible assets | E E 9 4,322,720 5,847,307
Investments in associates N RN I 10 691,748 806,407
Investments in jointly controlled entities NEREHETE K& 11 19,802 202,831
Financial assets at fair value through UWAnEEFEREH
other comprehensive income BEEAEMET
Wiz e/ EE 12 16,006 17,870
Financial assets at fair value through UWARBEAEREE
profit or loss AR ERMEE 17 253,058 215,679
Deferred income tax assets EEFTSIREE 13 152,524 167,542
Other non-current assets EMIERBEE 8,634 133
7,919,966 9,152,298
Current assets RBEE
Biological assets EYEE 14 1,470 -
Inventories e 15 1,020,023 897,226
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk E A U FRIR 16 1,242,178 1,081,046
Financial assets at fair value through LWAanEEFERH
other comprehensive income SE}FTAEMEE
Wz emEE 12 49,794 48,785
Financial assets at fair value through AR EEFEAEE
profit or loss STABRCEREE 17 1,637,613 3,292,365
Cash and bank balances BWe MBITER 18 4,747,978 3,553,409
8,699,056 8,872,831
Total assets HEE 16,619,022 18,025,129
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves attributable to EARERIFEA
the Company'’s equity holders BiERAR &FE
Share capital A% X 19 328,619 328,619
Reserves i 21 4,380,460 4,387,519
Retained earnings IREEBR 22 7,941,787 9,168,518
12,650,866 13,884,656
Non-controlling interests FEEFIMERE R 1,906,572 1,834,163
Total equity 48 R 25 14,557,438 15,718,819
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position #HR& B BARR R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

As at 31 December

R12A831H8
Note 2022 2021
og=d 20224 20214F
LIABILITIES 88
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Put option liability RoOLHEEE 23 131,836 -
Lease liabilities HEAE 7 37,290 22,176
Deferred income tax liabilities BRIEMSHEE 13 125,368 149,450
Trade and other payables B 5 MH M EIE 25 12,163 800
306,657 172,426
Current liabilities REBAE
Borrowings B 24 677,700 962,774
Lease liabilities HEaE 7 23,480 18,751
Trade and other payables B 5 & E e~ IR 25 722,135 748,245
Current income tax liabilities EHEHAaE 215,650 237,169
Contract liabilities cRaE 5 115,962 166,945
1,754,927 2,133,884
Total liabilities FER=R 2,061,584 2,306,310
Total equity and liabilities mEEREE 16,619,022 18,025,129

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be | yfi4e & B ik S0 35 fiE B AR e [ 55 — (5838 -
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The financial statements on pages 126 to 267 were approved by the  $126Z 267 B EEHRED 7N 2023FE3 8308 &
Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and were signed on its behalf.  &=pR# g EF -

Mr. XIA Liqun Mr. LAM Ka Yu
EREEE MNEFEE
Director Director
EE EE
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Consolidated Income Statement

mEWRER

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
Note 2022 2021
{5 20224 20214
Revenue - 5 3,828,984 3,882,683
Cost of goods sold 5 & AR 27 (1,951,421) (1,586,021)
Gross profit EA 1,877,563 2,296,662
Other income and other gains — net H AU R H Ath w5 — 5 RE 26 212,812 248,519
Selling and marketing expenses HE RMIGHERERX 27 (344,405) (292,244)
Administrative expenses TEER 27 (825,959) (841,663)
Impairment of goodwill BERE 9 (1,507,710) (293,270)
Net impairment losses on financial assets eREERBERKIFE 3.1(b) (20,276) (3,527)
Operating (loss)/profit EE(BFR) BF (607,975) 1,114,477
Finance income IR N 71,791 101,784
Finance costs Bl & B AR (37,970) (81,468)
Finance income — net B UR A — F 58 29 33,821 20,316
Share of results of associates and JEREE R R N HF
jointly controlled entities BHIERE XA 10, 1 (7,056) 12,584
Provision for impairment relating to the Bt NRIRE 2
investment in an associate BB 10(i) (139,000) -
(Loss)/profit before income tax BFiA (BE) BF (720,210) 1,147,377
Income tax expense FTiS 30 (180,840) (251,593)
(Loss)/profit for the year TEE (BE)BA (901,050) 895,784
Attributable to: AL -
Equity holders of the Company RABIERFEAEA (1,054,547) 675,131
Non-controlling interests JEESIME = 153,497 220,653
(901,050) 895,784
(Loss)/earnings per share for (loss)/ AEERQTEREETA
profit attributable to the Company’s BiENER (BE) &R RMB cents RMB cents
equity holders for the year AR®SD AR S
Basic and diluted AR E#E 31 (32.65) 21.70

The above consolidated income statement should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of mETHEWERE
Comprehensive Income

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

Year ended 31 December

BEZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021
20225 20214F
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(HR) &R (901,050) 895,784
Other comprehensive income: H2mElE :
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss ] &3 H I E 187 5B 5
Fair value changes of equity investments AR EBESEAEZSHAA
at fair value through other comprehensive Hith2E W o =R E 2
income, net of tax RN R0 (1,583) (53,428)
Currency translation differences of the RRRREIFBINER 2
Company and its non-foreign operations EinE =5 107,178 8,039
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss AEF P EE R AIEA
Currency translation differences of foreign BINETE 2 EEMEZR
operations (2,762) 7,320
Other comprehensive income/(loss) TEERBIEEM
for the year, net of tax 2HEWE(EE) 102,833 (38,069)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income TEERBEZE2E
for the year, net of tax (F518) B (798,217) 857,715
Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to: FE{5 2 (Ei8) WHE A5 :
Equity holders of the Company RAFIERIFTEA (958,614) 638,306
Non-controlling interests JEPE I M R S 160,397 219,409
(798,217) 857,715

o

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should 4z & 2Nz R EEMEN T — =&
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity #rE =B EX

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
KRAREAEARE

Non-
Share Retained controlling Total
Note capital Reserves earnings Total interests equity
iz fhus e REEN i FmsltER R
Balance at 1 January 2021 R2021%51A18 318636 2633732 8918688 | 1187105 1823193 13,694,249
Fair value changes on financial assets WAREEBEREZEHA
at fair value through other comprehensive EzRkaerEEy
income, net of tax BRENLAERD 2 - (34 - (53,428) - (53428)
Currency translation differences FEREER - 16,603 - 16,603 (1,244) 15,359
Profit for the year TEERT - - 675,131 675,131 200,653 895,784
Total comprehensive income for BEANENANALEEN
the year ended 31 December 2021 2ENEEE - (36825 675131 638,306 219,409 857,715
Transactions with owners in their capacity ~ EARAEEANRS :
as owners:
Appropriations from net profit BEREA 2,2 - 30,59 (30,596) - - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests IR S T AR S - - - - (206075 (206,079)
Share-based payment Rt BERSZH
- Value of employee services -EEREER 20,21 - 5,747 - 5,747 - 5,747
Changes in ownership interests in subsiciaries HENELE FEERRM
without change of control B 21 - 364 - 364 (2,304) (2,000
Final dividends for the year ended ARERAEE0205128318
31 December 2020 paid to shareholders LERZERRE - - (220479 (229479 - (9419
Interi dividends for the six months ended mREZ A EZ2021567308
30 June 2021 paid to shareholders ERERZRERE £ - - (165226) | (165226) - (165,226)
Issuance of new shares Sk 21 9983 1,753,905 - | 1763888 - 1763888
Total transactions with owners HERARSAE 9983 1790612 (425301) | 1375294 (208439) 1,166,855
Balance at 31 December 2021 R2021E128318 328619 4387519 9168518 | 13,884,656 1834163 15,718,819
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

REEREER

(Br=BEAEIN -

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

A B AARETTIIR)

KAREREA AR
Non-
Share Retained controlling Total
Note capital Reserves earnings Total interests equity
b k& i REEA i FEHMER s
Balance at 1 January 2022 R202251A18 328619 4387519 9168518 | 13,884,656 19834163 15718819
Fair value changes on financial assets at fairvalue AL EEEAEE AL
through other comprehensive income, netof tax 2 EMEZ 2REE 2B EH
NhfER 21 - (1,583) - (1,583) - (1,583)
Currengy translation differences BEHERE - 97,516 - 97,516 6,900 104,416
Loss for the year TEEEE = - (1,054,547) | (1,054,547) 153,497 (901,050)
Total comprehensive Loss for the BE0nE12831AL
year ended 31 December 2022 EENEAFRAR - 95933 (1,054547) |  (958,614) 160,397 (798,217)
Transactions with owners in their HALNTREANRS
capacity as owners:
Appropriations from net profit BRI 21,0 - 21,523 (21,523) - - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests IR ERT MRS - - - - (208646) (208,646
Share-based payment B BERSTH
- Value of employee services -EERKEE 20,21 - 3713 - 3113 - 3713
Acquisitions of additional equity interests in MEEHEERNEELENE
non wholly-owned subsidiaries from RAIZ BN
non-controlling interests 21 - (27,566) - (27,566) (66,962) (94,528)
Acquisition of equity interest in Shanghai Yifang 108 HEZ R EER RN
Rural Technology Holdings Co., Ltd. and its ERATRENBAF
subsidiaries (" Shanghai Yifang") ([ E8ZR ) 2 RiE 3 - - - - 165777 165,777
Additional investment in a non-wholly-owned BINFERLEEZHZ
subsidiary of Shanghai Yifang F2ENELA 21 - (6,530) - (6,530) 20,722 14,192
Disposal of Xinjiang Huabao Natural Biological REFBESAREMHNERNE
Technology Co, Ltd. ("Xinjiang Huabao”) RAR(HFEEE)) - - - - 112 112
Put option liability arising from business combination £%AMEL 2 ZEHESRE 3 - (119,887) - (119,887) - (119,887)
Final dividends for the year ended ARERAEZ0215128318
31 December 2021 paid to shareholders HEEZERRE 32 - - (54,821) (54,821) - (54,821)
Special dividends for the six months ended Wk R S 822022567308
30 June 2022 paid to shareholders A EAZERIRE )] - - (95:840) | (95,840) - (95,840)
Dilution of investment in an associate RBENE  RENRERE 10 - 25,755 - 25,755 - 25,755
Total transactions with owners REEAREE - (10299)  (172184) | (275176)  (87.988)  (363,164)
Balance at 31 December 2022 R2022%12831H 328619 4380460 7,941,787 | 12,650,866 1,906,572 14,557,438
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be — Fii4R & HEZS S EhR FELLAFMEM T — HF I8 o

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows HRERESRER

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

Year ended 31 December

BZEZ12A31HLEE
Note 2022 2021
liks3 2022%F 20214

Cash flows from operating activities EETHZ2RERE
Cash generated from operations LEBEHS RS 34(a) 1,029,918 1,664,774
Income tax paid =ENREIECE (231,172) (251,528)
Net cash generated from operating EETBHELECRSFE

activities 798,746 1,413,246
Cash flows from investing activities REFZBNHRERE
Acquisition of a subsidiary U B B B8 2 F) 33 (79,233) -
Acquisitions of equity interest in associates & A B4 A7) 7 B R 10 (9,200) (445,696)
Proceeds from disposal of an associate I E R & R RS - 12,640
Acquisitions of equity interest in jointly BALEIEHIETEE 2

controlled entities = (200,500)
Proceeds from disposal of a jointly HEXREHEEMEK

controlled entity - 8,480
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HEU A4 BESEFEE

fair value through other comprehensive Pt AEMEARE S

income B & EFTB IR - 114,793
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BARAREBEESAEEAER

through profit or loss Bt AERZREE (15,011,795) (8,578,731)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HENAREEGFZAHE

at fair value through profit or loss Bt ABR e RMEER

TR 16,747,528 5,860,227

Purchases of right-of-use assets BALTHEERERERE R

for land use rights EE (55,803) (27,155)
Purchases of property, plant and BAWE  HWERBERE

equipment and intangible assets FEE (434,993) (412,572)
Purchases of investment properties BARE T (27,734) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWME -  BBELXRENE

plant and equipment FQEl 34(b) 18,001 20,246
Short-term time deposits released REUE BIE BATF K - 1,413,840
Dividends received 2R E 8,553 8,254
Interest received 2HAE 88,715 130,939
Net cash generated from/(used in) RETHELE (FTA)ZH

investing activities & FE 1,244,039 (2,095,235)
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REREREBR

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

Year ended 31 December

BZEZ12A31HLEE
Note 2022 2021
B E 2022%F 20214

Cash flows from financing activities RMETBNRESRE
Proceeds from issuance of new shares BITHRFTIS K - 1,763,888
Final dividends for the year ended 31 M IR B S 8 22020512 A

December 2020 paid to shareholders 31EIEFE ZHBREKE - (229,479)
Interim dividends for the six months ended AR X (&, £20214E6 A

30 June 2021 paid to shareholders 308 L/ E Az # B R 2 - (165,226)
Final dividends for the year ended 31 MR 822021612 8

December 2021 paid to shareholders 31TELEFEZHBRERE (54,821) -
Special dividends for the six months ended A% 5 X 7 & 2202246 A

30 June 2022 paid to shareholders 30R LEANEA ZFRIR B (95,840) -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests A 3E 22 41 M #E 25 =2 1< & 8 (194,454) (206,075)
Acquisitions of additional equity interests MIEESIE R W IEIEEE

in non wholly-owned subsidiaries from M8 A~ 5] 2 BB SN A

non-controlling interests (94,528) (2,000)
Deposit for note receivables discounted LRI VBN

between the subsidiaries IREE® (75,800) -
New bank borrowings raised FIBIRITER 34(0) 750,590 1,557,156
Repayment of bank borrowings EEIRITER 34(c) (1,179,178) (3,284,355)
Principal elements of lease payments SRHEENR AT 34(c) (26,987) (22,578)
Interest elements of lease payments SNAENRZAEHS 34(c) (1,735) (2,151)
Interest paid related to bank borrowings BIRITE R R E M ERE 2

and others BT (24,882) (81,904)
Net cash used in financing activities RMETETAZRETHE (997,635) (672,724)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BHERBESZEY

cash equivalents ®#/m, CR) B8 1,045,150 (1,354,713)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FY2BHe kRS EEY

beginning of the year 3,541,425 4,921,756
Effects of exchange rate change on EREFHHRE K

cash and cash equivalents ReFEMHNTE 81,900 (25,618)
Cash and cash equivalents at FRZESRRSEEY

the end of the year 4,668,475 3,541,425

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

AR S REREEAEME GBI -
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Huabao International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability. The address of its registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company has its primary listing on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are
mainly engaged in the research and development, production,
distribution and sale of flavours and fragrances, and food
ingredients, tobacco raw materials, aroma raw materials and
condiment products in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"). Ms. Chu Lam Yiu (“Ms. Chu”), who is the Chairlady
of the Board of Directors, holds approximately 71% beneficial
equity interest in the Company as at 31 December 2022.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of RMB (“RMB’000"”) unless otherwise
stated. These consolidated financial statements have been
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March
2023.

On 9 August 2021, Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co., Ltd.
("Huabao Flavours”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Group, acquired 40% equity interests in Shanghai Yifang
for a total consideration of RMB180,000,000 in cash. On
8 March 2022, Huabao Flavours further acquired 27%
equity interests in Shanghai Yifang for a total consideration
of RMB121,500,000 in cash. After the completion of the
acquisition, Huabao Flavours’ shareholding in Shanghai Yifang
in aggregate reaches 67% and Shanghai Yifang becomes a
subsidiary of Huabao Flavours.

Shanghai Yifang is primarily engaged in the promotion and
consulting services of agricultural technology, cultivation of
fruits and vegetables, research and development of food
additives and food production, etc.

Further details are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEEHBERE
POLICIES
This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies BRAKGAEMBHREAMEANTES:
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial HEHFN T -BREHEEN S
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to HEEEHMNAEEFENERER -
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial KNGS MEmERBERRSE -

statements are for the Group.

2.1 Basis of preparation 21 REEE
(i) Compliance with HKFRS and HKCO () BFEEBHEHREEIRE
B L AR bl
The consolidated financial statements of the REEBMNGEATBRERTIE
Group have been prepared in accordance with BEAAEERNE BV KRS
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting ER([HFEETBEREER])
Standards (“HKFRS”) and the disclosure EEBRNAGEHEE22E W
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies WREATHS ([E58Q0F
Ordinance Cap.622 (“HKCO"). 1) o
(i) Historical cost convention (ii) L%
The consolidated financial statements of the KRNBGEEIEHRE DILRE
Company have been prepared on a historical SRRAERS - B E A
cost basis, except for financial assets at fair value EZUAnBEFEAHRS
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI"), B AEMETEKEN SR
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BEE UWAanBEFEREH
("FVPL") and certain biological assets, which are BETAEENEREENR
carried at fair value. WARBEFENEDHESR

EmELER -
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iii) Initial application of HKAS 41 “Agriculture”

In March 2022, Shanghai Yifang became a
subsidiary of Huabao Flavours.

o Property, plant and equipment

Shanghai Yifang holds lemon trees,
grapefruit trees, mulberry trees, orange trees
and blueberry trees (collectively the “fruit
trees”) with aggregate carrying amounts of
approximately RMB128,179,000 as at 31
December 2022. Shanghai Yifang's fruit trees
qualify as bearer plants under the definition
in HKAS 41 “Agriculture” and are therefore
accounted for under the rules for plant
and equipment. Fruit trees are classified as
immature until the fruits can be commercially
harvested. At that point they are reclassified
as mature and depreciation commences.
Immature fruit trees are measured at
accumulated cost less impairment.

All property, plant and equipment, including
fruit trees is recognised at historical cost less
depreciation. Depreciation of the fruit trees
is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost or revalued amounts,
with no residual values, over the shorter of
their estimated useful lives or lease term as
follows:

Bearer plants 21.5-25 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period. An asset’s
carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iii) Initial application of HKAS 41 “Agriculture”
(Continued)

Biological assets

Biological assets consist of the growing
produce before harvest on fruit trees.
Harvested fruits are transferred to inventory
raw materials when harvested. Fruit trees
are bearer plants and are accounted for as
property, plant and equipment.

Biological assets are measured at fair value
less cost to sell on initial recognition and at
the end of each reporting period, except
where fair value cannot be measured reliably
due to unavailability of quoted market prices
and no reliable alternative estimates exist to
determine fair value, in which case the assets
are carried at cost less impairment loss. Once
the fair value becomes reliably measurable,
the biological assets are measured at fair
value less costs to sell and changes in fair
value are recognised in profit or loss.

The agricultural produce harvested from
fruit trees is measured at fair value less
costs to sell at the time of harvest, which is
determined based on market prices of similar
agricultural produce prevailing in the market
as at or close to the harvest dates in the
local market. The fair value less costs to sell
at the time of harvest is deemed as the cost
of the inventories for sales. Costs to sell are
the incremental costs directly attributable
to sell the assets but excludes finance costs
and income taxes. Biological assets that are
expected to be realised in the next harvest
within the next twelve months are classified
under current assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated #r
Financial Statements

B BEHRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEBTTHERE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 wEEZE(F)
(iv) New and amended standards adopted by (iv) FEEFE R FERR 2
the Group BEERIEET

REEFR2022F1A1BED
FEREHRN BXNERM
T AR oy B IR B AE B A8

The Group has applied the following amendments
or annual improvements for the first time for their
annual reporting period commencing 1 January

2022: EE
e Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds o WE - MBELRE:E
before Intended Use — Amendments to HKAS TRz ZWRE —HF
16 BEIrEASE 16 NS
H)
e Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a o ERBEMHAR - B1rTAR
Contract — Amendments to HKAS 37 ZHA-HEFBEIE

Q375 9 ERT

e Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards o EBHEUBHREERFE
2018-2020 i 2018-20204F 38 HA
D Reference to the Conceptual Framework — o HRAIFE ZZ2E-HE

Amendments to HKFRS 3 B RE ERE

CHl

35RHY

o Amendments to Accounting Guideline 5 —

Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combinations

Narrow scope amendments (amendments)
— Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKAS 16 and
HKAS 37

The Group did not change its accounting policies
or make retrospective adjustments as a result of
adopting the abovementioned amended standards
or annual improvements.
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FTESHBRBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 wEEE(EF)
(v) New standards and interpretations not yet (v) [ERERAZFETELI K2 FE
adopted
The following new and amended standards and AEEBTEREEMUATE
interpretations have been issued but are not yet NCGRIERINE a2y §= o i R=l DY
effective and have not been early adopted by the HIMBERERT LBRE
Group:

Effective for the
financial year

beginning
on or after
INEETINSR=
ZIEFIRENFE
HARE B A K
HKFRS 17 Insurance contract 1 January 2023
ERMBREERE 175 Rz &R 2023F1A1H
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
ER G EANEIREITREE SABROKE 2023F1H1H
B 7 5 B B TS B R 3B 255%
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
BB G ERE8RIEFT BEHAFTESR 2023F1H1H
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities 1 January 2023
arising from a Single Transaction
BRI ERE125REET HE-QRGMEENEER 20231 H1H
BERBELEMSH
Hong Kong Presentation of Financial Statements - classification 1 January 2024
Interpretation 5 (2020) by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause
B R BES (20209F) MBHER 2 —ERAHBER 202451 A1H
ERGERZBHPERZHHE
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of liabilities as current or 1 January 2024
non-current
BRI ERE1RIERT RBEBIIERBAEBZIRA 202451 A1H
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with covenants 1 January 2024
BB G ERIE1RIEET BREIGRZIERBAR 20241 R18
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024
ERMBWMEERFI65EF] BROABZEEAR 202451 R18
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or contribution of assets between an To be determined
and HKAS 28 investor and its associate or joint venture
BB MG WEERFE 105 & REERHBENRHALERE fFE
BB BT ERIZE285REET ZHENEERERTE
The management is in the process of making an EEEEEMNE EFET
assessment of the impact of the above new and s 2 EB B 5] R IR
revised standards, amendments and interpretations HEANZREBHAERES
to existing standards on the Group's consolidated BIfS R A = & o

financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FTESHBRBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Consolidation 2.2 #EKRAE
(a) Subsidiaries (a) KH1EBLRE
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured MEBAREASEHE BT
entity) over which the Group has control. The HIEMPTEEE (BIEAEN
Group controls an entity when the Group is BE) BEARERIITHRARHE
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from 5% E RS T A ¥R A] & A TR A9 &
its involvement with the entity and has the ability sk = 8 7] & o] 3 &9 #E %
to affect those returns through its power to direct WHERNEBEIEEZTE
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully SEBNARYRE N R 2t S5 o) TR
consolidated from the date on which control is AEFNTEHZEE - [{E
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated NEESEFEER T RKE
from the date that control ceases. ZBEHAR -HBARRE
EHIERIE 2 BRREIES G
N
Inter-group transactions, balances and unrealised EEARARFIZHENR G &
gains on transactions between group companies RS REIRFE T
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also i REIRBLINTFUY
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence MBI FIRETEREE
of an impairment of the transferred asset. When ERNRBEZEE - TRARME
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries NEBEEREBEFELAE
have been adjusted to conform with the Group's NEREAEBFKANBE
accounting policies. HFE—® -
) Business combinations (i) ZEFEw
The Group applies the acquisition method U B8 % T AR 1 7N 5 [ Uk
to account for business combinations. The BB ATINARGE -
consideration transferred for the acquisition W B AT R EER
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets BAAEBMEBEEE
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the FMEABEBERETH
former owners of the acquired business and SRR RANREBE- FTE
the equity interests issued by the Group. The ZEREBHEIABEREBLR
consideration transferred includes the fair REANERNEESK
value of any asset or liability resulting from a BENAREBEREM
contingent consideration arrangement and LRIFERKE QAR
fair value of any pre-existing equity interest ERAREBE REK
in the subsidiary. Identifiable assets acquired A GERF BT Ui B AT sk Y
and liabilities and contingent liabilities BEINEREAENEE
assumed in a business combination are LR Ba’E 9kl
measured initially at their fair values at the BAWARBEE -

acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(7

Business combinations (Continuea)

The Group recognises any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are measured
at either fair value or the present ownership
interests’ proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value,
unless another measurement basis is required by
HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved
in stages, carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition
date. Any gains or losses arising from such
re-measurement are recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be
transferred by the Group is recognised at fair
value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset
or liability is recognised in accordance with
HKFRS 9 either in profit or loss or as a change
to other comprehensive income. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(7

()

Business combinations (Continuea)

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date
fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the
net identifiable assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the
net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the
case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in the income statement.

Changes in ownership interests

When the Group ceases to consolidate or
equity account for an investment because of
a loss of control, joint control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is
re-measured to its fair value with the change
in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value becomes the initial carrying
amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an
associate, joint venture or financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of
that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. This may mean the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRS.
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M

Financial Statements
(BB EEAEIN FTESHEEIUARETTIIR)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESTBERHBE(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Consolidation (Continued) 2.2 #EKRA (&)
(b) Associates (b) BELF

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control, generally accompanying a shareholding
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method of accounting, the investments are initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit or loss of the investee after
the date of acquisition. The Group's investment
in associates includes goodwill identified on
acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership
interest in an associate, any difference between the
cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets
and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M

Financial Statements
MREIRPEIN  FTESBHUAREFLIIR)

TESHEEBE (F)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued) 2.2 #EKRE (#|)

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in the consolidated income

(b) Associates (Continued) (b) BZELa (&)

REEREIGWBREE QA
MANXEERN RS RER

statement, and its share of post-acquisition NIER MENHSKEZHNE
movements in other comprehensive income is fh a2 mi SR EE PN E M
recognised in consolidated other comprehensive FTHEHKERAER  WEE

income with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or
exceeds its interests in the associate, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that the
investment in the associate is impaired. If this
is the case, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its
carrying value and recognises the amount in
provision for impairment relating to the investment
in an associate in the income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group
and its associates are recognised in the Group's
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investor’s interests in the associates. Unrealised
losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in
associates are recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBERBE (A
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Consolidation (Continued) 2.2 HREKRE (#)
(c) Jointly controlled entity (c) REAZHER
Investments in joint arrangements are classified BETHNRENEDSE
either as joint operations or joint ventures, ABHERARKLEHAELEDE B
depending on the contractual rights and obligations FTHEAKEENE R #E=R AN
each investor has, rather than the legal structure of EXEME TERAELHRN
the joint arrangement. The Group has assessed the EREEB o ANA A EE
nature of its joint arrangements and determined EELTHNMEYEERSE
them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures are EhE - AEDLERERZE
accounted for using the equity method. ABR ©
Under the equity method of accounting, interests BERZZE GELEER
in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost IR AR ANHER - BB &R
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's BUABRAEEEMLKEER
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and MANNBEEREEMEE
movements in other comprehensive income. When WHEH ERAERZHE
the Group'’s share of losses in a joint venture equals — AP ENEEBBSHE
or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures (which EREZEELENER (B
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, BFENEE LBKAEERTE
form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint ZEBFRENREER)
ventures), the Group does not recognise further BREBTSE—FSHERES
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made B BRIFAEEECELEER
payments on behalf of the joint ventures. FEREERENK-
Unrealised gains on transactions between the AREBEESLEPEZAMN
Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the BHERXHGBNDEREE
extent of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures. TZEEELENERT N
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the Hig - AEHEBEODTUY
transaction provides evidence of an impairment HoRIERGIREBERFR
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of FEZENEELRAE -&
the joint ventures have been changed to ensure ErEMNETHRREERTE
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. EH S LR ERNE

PRV R AT & — 2

Huabao International Holdings Limited & B2t AR A7 2022 Annual Report 3§




Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

24

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors
that make strategic decisions.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 12k ABR 2 7] 2022 Annual Report 45

e BRRME

(B RERBPEN  BELEHUAREFTIIR)
2. TESHHRERE(H)
23 BIUMBHE

2.4

B B~ B R & $2 BCAS 0 BRORUE 5
BR-ATERRENEZRBNX
KoMBRAAMEERARFZS
Y R BB AR o

A BB E KR HIAK B QA
BARE WS AR RNEBY VK
BROBREGEmMEBRBREAVHR
RPPRENBFEE (BRERE)
RBREE - RILBLUHERRKRE
TEREDRIE o

2 EBER &

RED A RA T B REREER
HORNBREEB —BNT AR
HoITBKERREWRBERIEL
REMERENHTEZTAEORE
RAMFH AR E D BRI -



Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FTESHBRBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.5 Foreign currency translation 25 HERE
(a) Functional and presentation currency (a) ZWEEFI AR E #
Items included in the financial statements of each N E B EEEMErBHR R
of the Group’s entities are measured using the T B HIAZ &L T
currency of the primary economic environment EHNTFTERLEIRERNEE
in which the entity operates (the “functional S ([ThEeEH]) o AN A H
currency”). The Company’s functional currency is e g BEE . KEFEMN
Hong Kong dollars (“HKD") and majority of the KEB M B A F R A B E
subsidiaries of the Group operate in the PRC and FENgGEEEAEARE -m
their functional currency are RMB. The consolidated REAWERREAER
financial statements are presented in RMB, which is YIRS A BT o

the Group's presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances (b)) XZRAZE

Foreign currency transactions are translated into HINERZ 5 R E B EER
the functional currency using the exchange rates SHHBEEEHGTERKRMEE
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or BHEABNEEE - BRTHES
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign MEERFREHHERD
exchange gains and losses resulting from the EHAE SEHERSHE
settlement of such transactions and from the HEHE S B E RIS 5
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary BERNEBEEMBBENFR
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign EEMEELANIELABSE
currencies are recognised in the consolidated HZAEWRFERANIER -

income statement, except when deferred in equity
as qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net
investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented EHAEBESEAKRZRANH
in the consolidated income statement within other [ E fib U A K2 B fih U 5 — % 58 |
income and other gains — net. IR o
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair BRARBEGTE N AIET
value in a foreign currency are translated using the BEZEEEEBEERAEST
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was ANRBEEBZEXRBEE-
determined. Translation differences on assets and AL BEYWEZEEHESA
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of BE2HEE=BIEEALEBE
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation BEN—LH2H® - Hlan - 3F
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities EMMHEEENBBNE AR
such as equities held at fair value through profit or EBE=E=EHEEEHTABR
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the JREZHREEEAEBREP
fair value gain or loss and translation differences on BREAABEAREN I
non-monetary assets such as equities classified as Do MEEEEEENSE
fair value through other comprehensive income are BIRALEBE=EAEESH
recognised in other comprehensive income. FFAHMEERE 2 REZ
BREEZECHEMZEKRF
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Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M

Financial Statements

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(9]

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i)  assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the reporting date;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

(i) all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate. Currency translation
differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated #r
Financial Statements

B BEHRME

BmBEALN  EZEIUNARETTIIR)

TESHEEBE (F)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

2.5 SR E (&)
(d) EENEHGEEGISFE

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial

disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is,
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control
over a jointly controlled entity that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
significant influence over an associate that includes
a foreign operation), all of the currency translation
differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the
company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group’s losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated currency translation
differences are reattributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.
For all other partial disposals (that is, reductions
in the Group’s ownership interest in associates or
jointly controlled entities that do not result in the
Group’s losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange difference is reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEBTTHERE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment 2.6 M HERFRE

Construction in progress and immature bearer plants
represent the direct costs of construction of property,
plant and equipment incurred plus interest capitalised
less any impairment losses. No provision for depreciation
is made on construction in progress until such time the
relevant assets are completed and available for their
intended use.

All other property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
costs to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives as follows:

Buildings 20-35 years
Plant and machinery 3-20 years
Mature bearer plants 21.5-25 years
Motor vehicles 3-10 years
Furniture, fittings and equipment 3-10 years
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Furniture, fittings and equipment and other leasehold
improvements are depreciated over the shorter of their
useful life or the lease term, unless the entity expects to
use the assets beyond the lease term.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within other income and other gains —
net, in the consolidated income statement.

Investment properties

Investment properties are held for long-term rental yields
or for capital appreciation or both and are not occupied
by the Group. Commercial properties held under leases
held for rental yields and are not occupied by the Group
are recognised as investment properties.

The Group measured its investment properties at cost,
including related transaction costs and where applicable
borrowing costs. Depreciation is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost over their
useful life at about 15 years.

If an item of owner-occupied property becomes an
investment property because its use has changed, the
carrying amount of the item at the date of transfer is
equal to the carrying amount of the investment property
measured by the cost model.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8

Intangible assets

(a)

(b)

Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries represents
the excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair
value of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated to
each of the cash-generating units ("CGUs"), or
groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at
the CGU or group of CGUs level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of the CGU or the group of CGUs to
which goodwill has been allocated is compared to
the recoverable amount of the unit, which is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs
to sell. Any impairment is recognised immediately
as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Customer relationships and non-competition
agreement

Customer relationships and non-competition
agreement acquired as part of a business
combination are capitalised separately from
goodwill and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of the intangible assets
over their estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8

29

Intangible assets (Continued)
(c) Trademarks and licenses

Separately acquired trademarks and licenses are
shown at historical cost. Trademarks and licenses
acquired in a business combination are recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. They have a
finite useful life and are subsequently carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of
trademarks and licenses over their estimated useful
lives of 10 to 20 years.

(d) Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. These costs are
amortised over their estimated useful lives of 3to 5
years.

(e) Patents

Patents include purchased technology and skills
acquired from third parties. They have a finite
useful life and carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of the technology and
skills over their estimated useful life of 3 to 10
years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example
goodwill or intangible assets not ready to use, are
not subject to amortisation and are tested at least
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Assets that are subject to amortisation are
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHHBERBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.10 Investments and financial assets 210 ERMEE
(a) Classification (a) 7%

The Group classifies its financial assets in the AEEBESREED BN

following measurement categories: TErE%5 -

. those to be measured subsequently at fair o BEEEIR AR BEEZ
value (either through other comprehensive (Hegst AHE 2|k
income or through profit or loss), and mEET AR NERE

E &
e those to be measured at amortised cost. e BIREBEKAFENS
BEE o

The classification depends on the entity’s business ZOEBRRRAAEEERE S

model for managing the financial assets and the MEENEBEANEBE SR

contractual terms of the cash flows. ENE DGR -

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses MIEARBEF=EZEEM

will either be recorded in profit or loss or other S WREEKEBE®T ABR

comprehensive income. For investments in equity s Hah 2mU s o ghIEdE 1

instruments that are not held for trading, this XEHWESTAEEmMS -

will depend on whether the Group has made an WHEREBHAREBAR
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition NREBRZLEE RV B ERE

to account for the equity investment at FVOCI. TETR]BiE 2 B

iR EAEBAR A EE
SHEAXEDHARERE

Was o
The Group reclassifies debt investments when and AEEEEEEXRSEEY
only when its business model for managing those E¥BREANEEEEFTHEE
assets changes. HILE
(b) Recognition and derecognition (b) HEFRRAIEE

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets BHBEALMNHEZSREE
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which EXSBTFTUER R5H
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. EAREBRFAREHB AKX EX
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights BEZH ZWHRE/EE
to receive cash flows from the financial assets FEREnE2ENE &I
have expired or have been transferred and the HgegEE MAEED
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and BHEEEZ@RKIBHER K
rewards of ownership. Bl ER  IRIEBRS
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FTESHBRBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.10 Investments and financial assets (Continued) 210 EE (8)
(c) Measurement (c) irE

At initial recognition, the Group measures a VEHERE  AEEIKER

financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of AEEN (B IEARRE

a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that Bt 2 BEEFHAAEBREN

are directly attributable to the acquisition of the CREE)EEREREBES

financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets MEENRXRSKAGT LR

carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss. BE-UNAnEBEFEAH
PR AERNEIREED
RGEAEERZP AR -

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are HEEARATEIENS

considered in their entirety when determining BMEENIRERERANEA

whether their cash flows are solely payment of SRS MF B EEE

principal and interest. EREREE -

Debt instruments EE LA

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments BB ITENEEFERF R

depends on the Group’s business model EEEEZEEZEBRER

for managing the asset and the cash flow LZEEZRERERFAM

characteristics of the asset. There are three T AEBEBEBEEIASD

measurement categories into which the Group BAE=EtE4E5 :

classifies its debt instruments:

. Amortised cost: Assets that are held for ° B A - mAaKED S
collection of contractual cash flows where NN e REMEBEAEZE
those cash flows represent solely payments ENREREEAYN
of principal and interest are measured at KeEkHE BIZEE
amortised cost. Interest income from these ELEBHEK ARG E - %
financial assets is included in finance income E4REEMNF B A
using the effective interest rate method. BEBF B AT AR
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition WA - RITERELER
is recognised directly in profit or loss and ERkERBEEEER
presented in other income and other gains - BamER R HEAMmK
net together with foreign exchange gains and ANHM R —F5E P
losses. Impairment losses are presented as B PE 5 s M e — 6t
separate line item in the consolidated income JIReeFEEBRENGS
statement. WaXxPIEREBIEER

HI7R o
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10 Investments and financial assets (Continued)

(c) Measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at FVOCI: Assets that are
held for collection of contractual cash flows
and for selling the financial assets, where the
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses which
are recognised in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in
other income and other gains - net. Interest
income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in other income and
other gains - net and impairment expenses
are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated income statement.

Financial assets at FVPL: Assets that do
not meet the criteria for amortised cost or
FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss
on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or
loss and presented net within other income
and other gains - net in the period in which it
arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M

Financial Statements
(BB EEAEIN FTESHEEIUARETTIIR)

TESHEEBE (F)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10 Investments and financial assets (Continued)

210 EREE (&)

(c) Measurement (Continued) (c) rE(#E)
Fquity instruments T A
The Group subsequently measures all equity AEBRBRERAALEBEE
investments at fair value. Where the Group's FrEERE WAKEETE
management has elected to present fair value BEEERNHME2E KR F
gains and losses on equity investments in other 2HNREZKENAALBEIK
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent m R EE BRI ERIE
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to B Ao BENRELE
profit or loss following the derecognition of the BREYESEHDEDIEZ o
investment. Dividends from such investments BN B 7 AR SRR R
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other M ZSKRENKRE#EHE
income and other gains - net when the Group’s REZBERAEEMKARE
right to receive payments is established. f U 25 — 8 o
Changes in the fair value of financial assets at ARrREBEEFEBEAEZEHF
FVPL are recognised in other income and other )\TE TN EMEEZAAE
gains - net in the consolidated income statement BEE2HRGAEREREMD 145(
as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of ANEMPW S — FREER -
impairment losses) on equity investments measured NABEFEBEHEEFE )\
at FVOCI are not reported separately from other EmermEkm 2 REXRED
changes in fair value. BEEE (LREEBERD)
TEBEEM AR EEEH S
FEW -
(d) Impairment (d) &

The Group assesses the expected credit losses
on a forward-looking basis associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk. For trade receivables, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses
to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further details.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1

2.12

2.13

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts, and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable
in the normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the
counterparty.

Inventories

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value("NRV"). Cost comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and
fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated
on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are
assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of
weighted average costs. Costs of purchased inventory
are determined after deducting rebates and discounts.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
inventories sold in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or longer if in the normal operating
cycle of the business), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.14

2.15

2.16

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months
or less that are readily convertible to known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company'’s
equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs
(net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable
to owners of the Company until the shares are cancelled
or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly
attributable incremental transaction costs and the related
income tax effects is included in equity attributable to
owners of the Company.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in the consolidated income
statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e BRRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

TESHEEBE (F)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.17 Borrowing costs

2.17 EFE A

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are charged to the consolidated
income statement in the period in which they are
incurred.

Borrowing costs include interest expense and exchange
differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to
the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to
interest costs. The exchange gains and losses that are
an adjustment to interest costs include the interest rate
differential between borrowing costs that would be
incurred if the entity had borrowed funds in its functional
currency, and the borrowing costs actually incurred
on foreign currency borrowings. Such amounts are
estimated based on interest rates on similar borrowings
in the entity’s functional currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18

2.19

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for
goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade and other
payables are classified as current liabilities if payment
is due within 12 months after the reporting period (or
longer if in the normal operating cycle of the business). If
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Put option liability

Put option is the financial instrument granted by the
Group that the counterparty may have the right to
request the Group to purchase the equity instrument
that held by the counterparty for cash or other financial
assets when certain conditions are met. If the Group
does not have the unconditional right to avoid delivering
cash or another financial assets under the put option,
it is reclassified from equity and has to recognise a
financial liability with a reduction of parent equity at
the present value of the estimated future cash outflows
under the put option. Subsequently, if the Group
revises its estimates of payments, the Group will adjust
the carrying amount of the financial liability to reflect
actual and revised estimated cash outflows. The Group
will recalculate the carrying amount by computing the
present value of revised estimated future cash outflows
at the financial instrument’s original effective interest
rate and the adjustments will be recognised as changes
in financial cost in the consolidated income statement.
If the put option expires without delivery, the carrying
amount of the liability is reclassified to equity. The put
option liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless
the put option can only be exercised 12 months after the
end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEBTTHERE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax 220 EHIRIEEFFBH

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
income statement, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company and its subsidiaries,
associates and jointly controlled entities operate
and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation and considers
whether it is probable that a taxation authority
will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group
measures its tax balances either based on the most
likely amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax
nside basis difference

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e BRRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

TESHEEBE (F)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

2.20 EMRIERE PR &8 ()
(b) EZFFZH (&)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if
it is probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements, except for deferred income tax
liability where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally
the Group is unable to control the reversal of the
temporary difference for associates. Only when
there is an agreement in place that gives the Group
the ability to control the reversal of the temporary
difference in the foreseeable future, deferred tax
liability in relation to taxable temporary differences
arising from the associate’s undistributed profits is
not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements only to the extent that it is probable
the temporary difference will reverse in the future
and there is sufficient taxable profit available
against which the temporary difference can be
utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FTESHBRBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued) 220 EHIRIELEFAEH ()
(c) Offsetting (c) #H#
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset EAEATAHITERNG S
where there is a legally enforceable right to offset MEBEEHEE HHRIEE &K
current tax assets and liabilities and where the H BEEMGHEEMSE
deferred income taxes assets and liabilities balances B kAR — TR E
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation EREEN TREHREREZRB
authority on either the same taxable entity or EEMNFEEELEMEG
different taxable entities where there is an intention AR B I IE RS
to settle the balances on a net basis. HMEERBBEIMEHE-
(d) Deferred taxes recognised arising on a lease (d) HEELHEZH

Assets acquired under lease contracts give rise to BEHEARESHEES
temporary differences between the carrying amount EYREEENTEZHED
and tax base. Short-term leases and leases of low THHEER - BN EBE
value assets are recognised as a straight-line basis MEEMRE  ABEARIHN
as expense in profit or loss. The amount that is MESHESEEWHR KPR
charged to rentals by the lessee in its consolidated EERIEAREBERANE - A
income statement is likely to be the same as the EEriEe BEEBEELBEE
amount charged in arriving at the taxable profit. An HEEEENEREEER
exception to this is where accrued rentals, deferred ehifh- REBBEEERE
rentals or lease incentives give rise to temporary RIEHHERE—BBEE
differences. The Group considers the lease which MBEETHRENE RS
is on balance sheet as a single transaction in which R e e e = L=
the asset and liability are integrally linked, so BEREE oMk ARNABEE
there is no net temporary difference at inception. MHEEEBHEHELA=ZE
Subsequently, as differences arise on settlement BleEAETREFHEITER
of the liability and the amortisation of the leased FRIRFETIE o

asset, there will be a net temporary difference on
which deferred tax is recognised.

2.21 Employee benefits 221 EEREF
(a) Short-term obligations (a) EHEF

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including TREREHEERSEHER
non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave EREETRNI2ERAANES
that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 BEEFHAaE  BEIEE
months after the end of the period in which the MENEESEEE®- R’
employees render the related service are recognised ERHEARBUABEBR SR
in respect of employees’ services up to the end BEEBENSRE=TER
of the reporting period and are measured at the EHEH ZEBEBERGEAH
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities BRRETRNERIAEESNE
are settled. The liabilities are presented as trade fth JE < FXIE o

and other payables in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e BRRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEBTTHERE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.21 Employee benefits (Continued) 221 EETF (&)
(b) Pension obligations (b) BIKZTEMF

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme ("MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong which is
generally funded through payments to insurance
companies under defined contribution plan. It pays
contributions to administered pension insurance
plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis. Moreover, all the employees of the Group’s
entities incorporated in Mainland China of the PRC
(the "Mainland China") participate in employee
social security plans, including pension, medical,
housing and other welfare benefits, organised and
administered by the local governments. The Group
also makes defined contribution to retirement
schemes managed by the insurance company in
accordance with German regulation and rules
for the employees of the subsidiary located in
Germany. In the United States of America (“USA"),
the Group makes defined contributions at certain
percentage of monthly salary to retirement
and medical schemes managed by the federal
government of USA in accordance with US rules
and regulations. It is the federal government’s
responsibility to pay the retirement benefits to
those staff who retire. The Group has no further
payment obligations once these contributions have
been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expense when they are due and
are reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting
fully in the contributions. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available. No pension obligation is required under
the Botswana laws and regulation.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Share-based payment

(a)

Employee share scheme

As disclosed in Note 20(a), Guangdong Jiahao
Foodstuff Co., Ltd (“Guangdong Jiahao"), a
subsidiary of the Group operates equity-settled
shared-based compensation plan, under which
Guangdong Jiahao granted its equity instruments
to its employees and employees of its subsidiary in
exchange for their service.

The fair value of the employee service received in
exchange for the grant of equity instruments is
recognised as an expense. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair
value of the equity instruments granted:

o Including any market performance conditions
(e.g., the entity’s share price);

° Excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions
(e.g., profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

° Including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (e.g., the requirement for
employees to save or holdings shares for a
specific period of time).

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number of
equity instruments that are expected to vest. The
total expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M

Financial Statements
(BB EEAEIN FTESHEEIUARETTIIR)

TESHEEBE (F)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Share-based payment (Continued) 22 B Gz € (&)
(a) Employee share scheme (Continued) (a) ESBEREZ (E)

In addition, in some circumstances employees may
provide services in advance of the grant date and
therefore the grant date fair value is estimated for
the purposes of recognising the expense during the
period between service commencement period and
grant date.

At the end of each period, the entity revises
its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to vest based on the non-market vesting
and service conditions. It recognises the impact of
the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sales
of goods and services in the ordinary course of
the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown, net of
discounts and after eliminating sales with the
Group companies. The Group recognises revenue
when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific
criteria have been met for each of the Group’s
activities, as described below.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e BRRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

TESHEEBE (F)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Revenue recognition (Continued)

2.23 W AR (&)
(a) HEFZEHERELK

(a) Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of
the asset is transferred to the customer. Depending
on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the asset may
transfer over time or at a point in time. Control
of the asset is transferred over time if the Group's
performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer; or

. creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has
an enforce able right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation is measured based on
the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of
the performance obligation, by reference to the
contract costs incurred up to the end of reporting
period as a percentage of total estimated costs for
each contract.

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration
for the effect of a financing component if it is
significant.
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Notes to the Consolidated A ERERMEE

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBERE(H)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.24 Interest income

2.24 F B WA

2.25

2.26

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method. When a receivable
is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to
its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash
flows discounted at original effective interest rate of the
instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as
interest income. Interest income on impaired receivables
is recognised using the original effective interest rate.

Dividend income

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

Research and development costs

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as
incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (relating
to the design and testing of new or improved products)
are recognised as intangible assets when the following
criteria are fulfilled:

(@) it is technically feasible to complete the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

(b) the management intends to complete the
intangible asset and use or sell it;

(c) thereis an ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

(d) it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset
will generate probable future economic benefits;

(e) adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell the

intangible asset are available; and

(f)  the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset
during its development can be reliably measured.
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Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBERBE (A

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.26 Research and development costs (Continued) 2.26 T EE AR AN (48)
Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible BRI RBRA ABIZEET
assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is EEEZENERAREEERER
ready for use on a straight-line basis over its useful life, AEFERS ARG FRF
not exceeding five years. PR HBIR5F o
Other development expenditures that do not meet HWMIBERREELAROIFTS
these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. MR eEREER - B
Development costs previously recognised as an expense RIEBRA 2 FHBK AT BRI
are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. TERBEE
Development assets are tested for impairment annually. MREESFETHRBEIS -

2.27 Leases 227HE
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a EEEAHEEEHRER 2B
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased HEMRAEREEEMNMBEMNE
asset is available for use by the Group. g o
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and HEKRRUABILIWE  BE5E
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. TRMIGERAMES - B 7 EHE AR
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants EHMHEEREPHEREZRI A
other than the security interests in the leased assets that EARTEsHMAR HEEE
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as TEREEENERR -

security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially HEEEAMEENABIRTEEREE
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include TR E - HEBEBRETY
the net present value of the following lease payments: HERRENFEE:

e  fixed payments (including in-substance fixed BEMRB(BEESEEN

payments), less any lease incentives receivable FREE) o HRT (A E UL &
)

e variable lease payments that are based on an index o HRNEESLEMAEREE
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate B (L EFEREE
as at the commencement date B EIR) 8 Eek b E

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group . FEBEERETINTHAER
under residual value guarantees 8 B & 1~ IE

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group . BEEZERMNITHEE  Arie
is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and EAEEHEAEETEH/ITE

LR N

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the e RIFHENIIHEHE AL
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option SHEKIRMAERE T
EZR I THE R EE
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e BRRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

TESHEEBE (F)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.27 Leases (Continued) 227 E (8)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held
by the Group, which does not have recent third
party financing, and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to
the individual lessee (through recent financing or market
data) which has a similar payment profile to the lease,
then the group entities use that rate as a starting point
to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in
variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which
are not included in the lease liability until they take
effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an
index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed
and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Huabao International Holdings Limited & B2t AR A7 2022 Annual Report 3§

ERIEAEMTEHEER TN
MEENSFEEZBERERENTE -

MEMRBERBEEARNSH XY
BoMREZEEZMNE (KEH
MEEBEE T BT HERNE A
) AERAAEANESEX
M- AAEARERULHERE
TESEERIOINEREZEE X
BOUER - REMIBERTEAER
AR -

RIETREEFFE - AKH -

o ETERHBRT  UER
EN S SR Y
KRB - 3 317 38 B DA R B
A UE %= 5 BE DR EE
BB

s RHEERAROMNE=Z7TR
BT RARMTE  TE
2 B A 2 B 46 N S [ AT A
HENGEARBRETHE
B

s HYHEETHE HIWK
RoBR EBMLTEN

2 1 B AT A BB LU 1 1 3K
773, B B B A o 5 B )
T 28 T R e 9 L B -
o 90 8 A 32 56 HE B AR T
f B o

AEEERAEEE L R SERD
RERAEHEEROEERN B
EXRERTEEIEHERAGBA -
ENEHILENHENRAE
EE - BEHERBETERNN
& UREBEEREEEETHE -




Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e BRRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBERE(H)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.27 Leases (Continued) 227 E (8)

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received

. any initial direct costs, and
. restoration costs

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of properties
and motor vehicles are recognised on a straight-line basis
as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less without a
purchase option. The Group does not have any leases of
low-value assets.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the underlying asset and recognised as expense over
the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The
respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet
based on their nature. The Group did not need to make
any adjustments to the accounting for assets held as
lessor as a result of adopting the new leasing standard.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.28

2.29

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grants will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated income statement over
the period necessary to match them with the costs that
they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred government grants and are credited to the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the expected lives of the related assets.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the final
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders
and interim dividends are approved by the Company’s
Board of Directors.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash
flow and fair value interest rate risk and price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group'’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out under the policies
approved by the Board of Directors. The Group identifies
and evaluates financial risks in close co-operations with
its operating units. The Board provides principles for
overall risk management, as well as policies covering
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate
risk, credit risk and investing of excess liquidity.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk

7

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong
and Mainland China and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk primarily through
financial instruments that are denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency
in which they are measured. The functional
currency of the PRC subsidiaries is RMB, and
the functional currency of the HK subsidiaries
is HKD. The majority of the subsidiaries of the
Group operate in the PRC and most of their
transactions are denominated in RMB. The
Group did not have other significant exposure
to foreign exchange risk.

If HKD, United States dollars (“USD") and
Indonesia Rupiah (“IDR"), being the main
foreign currencies in which the Group's
financial assets and liabilities denominated,
had strengthened/weakened by 5% against
RMB during the year ended 31 December
2022, with all other factors remaining
unchanged, the profit after income tax for
the year would have been affected as follows:

e BRRME

(Br=BEAEIN -

3. BERAKRER (&)
3.1 MBEAKREE (&)
(a) THEERE
(i) SMEE S
REBFEREB LT
B A - £ 2INE
R k& TR 8 5 = Bk I s
BB —BEBY
TRIT A -RPEIENR
ZHBARMINEEE
BARE mMRBEEH
NI vE: A =g
BAEBK  AEEZEE
B AR TR E A& &
MEXE DR ZAA
REt+E MAEEL
B K HMNE R o

A B AARETTIIR)

B E20229F12A318 1t

FEARA REBE X
TREERERAEH

CREENBENTE
FEBINERE  REL
EEEARKTE
F2{E5% @ MATE EAME
EHERFAE A ARF
RER B 1% 8 A R F R
BmmFEWT

Change of profit after
income tax increase/(decrease)
TERBERFN
germ i)

for the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALFE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Group AEE
- Strengthened by 5% —F{E5% 45,721 8,400
- Weakened by 5% —B7{B5% (45,721) (8,400)
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

()

(1)

Cash fow and 1air value interest rate risk

Other than deposits held in banks, the Group
does not have significant interest-bearing
assets. Fluctuation of market rates does not
have a significant impact to the Group’s
performance.

The Group’s exposure to changes in interest
rates is mainly attributable to its borrowings
which are at floating rates, and expose the
Group to cash flow interest-rate risk.

As at 31 December 2022, if interest rates
on borrowings at floating rates had been 50
basis points higher or lower with all other
variables held constant, interest charges
for the year ended 31 December 2022
would increase/decrease by approximately
RMB546,000 (2021: RMB3,605,000).

Frice risk

The Group is exposed to price risk because of
certain biological assets (Note 14) and listed
equity investments held by the Group, which
are classified as financial assets at FVPL (Note
17).

Management considers the price risk
exposure for certain biological assets is
insignificant to the Group. The sensitivity
analysis is determined based on the exposure
to price risk of the listed equity investments
classified as financial assets at FVPL at the
end of each reporting period. If the fair values
of the listed equity investments classified as
financial assets at FVPL held by the Group
had been 5% higher/lower, profit after
income tax for the year would have been
approximately RMB2,083,000 higher/lower
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB1,821,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents,
contractual cash flows of debt instruments carried
at amortised cost, at FVPL and deposits with banks,
as well as credit exposures to customers, including
outstanding receivables.

1) Risk management and Security

For cash and cash equivalents, the Group
manages the credit risk by placing all the
bank deposits in state-owned financial
institutions or reputable banks which are all
high-credit-quality financial institutions.

The Group does not require collateral from
the debtors on the outstanding balances. To
manage the credit risk in respect of trade
and other receivables, the Group performs
ongoing credit evaluations of its debtors’
financial condition. The Group has monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover debts. The Group reviews
regularly the recoverable amount of each
individual receivable to ensure that the
adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. Based on the historical
credit losses experienced and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors, the
Group maintains an allowance for doubtful
accounts and actual losses incurred have
been within management’s expectations.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

()

Imparrment of financial assets

The Group formulates the credit losses
of cash and bank balances and trade and
other receivables using expected credit
losses (“ECL") models according to HKFRS 9
requirements.

Cash and bank balances

While cash and bank balances are also
subject to the impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was
immaterial as management considers that
the counter-parties are reputable banks and
financial institutions with high credit ratings.
There is no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses prescribed
by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables.

Huabao International Holdings Limited & B2t AR A7 2022 Annual Report 3§

e BRRME

(Br=BEAEIN -

3.

A B AARETTIIR)

MEEREE (R
3.1 M¥ERER(E)
(b) EEmE (&)
(i) =@ EEZHE
AEBREE S Y B ®R
& % B o5 BV AR E (£
BEHEEEE (BHE
EERDETRE MR
TERANRE S REM
EMRAMEEREIE -

B RRTHFR
EERE RBITHFRI
BETEBYBREE
AFISRERERE - M
ERMNBREBELTE
R TTHREEER A
RHUFREERIEW
RITABEEFANE
BMEE-EERREM
45 T B8 DA 2R E 4R R 3 IR
e

B 5 AR
AEBERERLYER
& X B F o5 0 AR E B A
Bem R HBHRE
EEER ZER AR
EEHRKRHERAE
(ERENSEEEE YRRk
o




Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

()

Impairment of financial assets (Continuea)

Trade receivables (Continued)

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics and
invoice dates. The historical loss rates for
each aging bucket are derived base on
the probability of a receivable progressing
through successive stages of delinquency
to write-off. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to expected loss rates to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability
of the counterparty to settle the receivables.
The Group has identified the China consumer
price index (CPI) growth and the broad
measure of money supply (M2) growth etc.
in which it sells its goods to be the most
relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts
the historical loss rates based on expected
changes in these factors.
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. UBERERE(E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BiEKREZE(E)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEREE (&)
(7)) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) LHEEZHIE(EZ)

Trade receivables (Continued) B EM(E)
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 UL EM - R20224F
December 2022 and 2021 is determined as %2021%F12H318 ' &
follows. ERFESFEONU TR -
As at 31 December 2022 72022%612H831H

0-90 91days- 181days- Over 360

Trade receivables days 180days 360 days days Total
ESERR 0-90 H 91-180H 181-360H i@iB360H A%
Effective expected loss rate  FE 58 B HE =R 0%  0.005% 6.08%  23.76%

Gross carrying amount BREEE 764,775 112,752 59,268 101,394 1,038,189
Loss allowance WERESE - 6 3,604 24,094 27,704
As at 31 December 2021 H2021F12H31H

91 days- 181days—  Over 360

Trade receivables 0-90days  180days 360 days days Total
EHRYR 0-90 A 91-180H 181-360R ##iA360H At
Effective expected loss rate T &H8 B HE =X 0%  0.005%  13.64%  68.77%

Gross carrying amount REEE 756,502 75,511 15,097 16,247 863,357
Loss allowance BEEESE - 4 2,059 11,174 13,237
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Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3.

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
() Impairment of financial assets (Continuea)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The loss allowance for trade receivables as at
31 December 2022 and 2021 reconciles to
the opening loss allowance as follows:

MHEEERE (&)
3.1 M¥ERER(E)
(b) EEmEE (&)
(i) Z/EEZ B E(E)
B 5 IR ()
B 5 R N2022F &

202112 A31H & /&
7 {55 B BR 47 O (B B R A

AEIRTS
Year ended 31 December
BZEZ12A31HLEE
2022 2021
2022F 20214F
Opening loss allowance at the FYREREE
beginning of the year 13,237 11,167
Provision for impairment loss =Y AE SRR
on trade receivables 17,888 2,136
Increase arising from acquisition Wb 828 Ty 2 1
of Shanghai Yifang 3,526 -
Decrease arising from disposal HENMBER 2R
of Xinjiang Huabao (2,589) -
Written off as uncollectible 37 QeI Dk (4,358) (66)
Closing loss allowance at FRBEEE
the end of the year 27,704 13,237

As at 31 December 2022, the gross
carrying amount of trade receivables was
RMB1,038,189,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB863,357,000), and thus the maximum
exposure to loss of trade receivables was
RMB1,010,485,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB850,120,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

()

Impairment of financial assets (Continuea)

Other receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 three-stage
approach to measuring ECL of other
receivables. The Group makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement
records and past experience. Other
receivables mainly include notes receivable,
deposits, deductible input tax of Value-Added
Tax, advances to staff, retention money and
others.

The Group considers the probability of
default upon initial recognition of asset and
whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period. Impairment on
other receivables is measured as 12-month
expected credit losses when there has been
no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. If a significant increase
in credit risk has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime expected credit loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e BRRME

(B =B EAEI

MHEEERE (&)
3.1 MBERREE (&)
(b) EEmEE (&)

AR EEAARETTIIR)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3.

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) LHEEZHIE(EZ)
Other receivables (Continued) Hiuh ez (8)

EFEEERRESR
ERMNE - AEEE R
TEHRHMEEZELER
B R] BE 1 B2 1) 45 FE 52 A
HBELEZEROA B
THE - BRtEEAQ
FMEAREMATEEM -
ATNERTEEMEE

To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the asset
as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition. It
considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially
the following indicators are incorporated:

changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected

e internal credit rating o  AHEHATR
external credit rating o HMNER{Z AR
actual or expected significant adverse o ERZENNETE

Bl e X - B
5 AR 0 A0 AR 7 IR 3R

to cause a significant change to the FEERTHE (L
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations TEEHBERERARL
HERIBEBLD
BENEAEKREL
actual or expected significant changes e BRANKLEESRE
in the operating results of the borrower ERE L ETEH
BAEEANEE
significant increases in credit risk on e ERAMEMEEH

other financial instruments of the same
borrower

&R EREE
120

significant changes in the expected o (BERATEHIRIE
performance and behaviour of the ETREEERE
borrower, including changes in the it BEEBRRKNE
payment status of borrowers in the NS =0k

Group and changes in the operating
results of the borrower.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

()

Impairment of financial assets (Continuea)

Other receivables (Continued)

The loss allowance for other receivables at
31 December reconciles to the opening loss
allowance as follows:

e BRRME

(Br=BEAEIN -

A B AARETTIIR)

3. MBEREREGE

3.1

BEEREER (&)

(b) EEmEE (&)

(11)

THREEZHE(E)

H b WK ()

H bl s m12A318
B R 1B 7 8 B YR B
BEHASOT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLEE
2022 2021
20225 20214F
Opening loss allowance at the FHRRE R
beginning of the year 29,565 34,854
Provision for impairment loss on A i WOORL (B 1
other receivables 2,388 1,391
Decrease arising from disposal HENBEE 2R
of Xinjiang Huabao (6) -
Written off as uncollectible BRI o 8 (3,982) (6,680)
Closing loss allowance at FRREREE
the end of the year 27,965 29,565

As at 31 December 2022, the gross
carrying amount of other receivables was
RMB197,231,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB209,011,000), and thus the maximum
exposure to loss of other receivables was
RMB169,266,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB179,446,000).

Financial assets at FVPL

The Group is also exposed to credit risk
in relation to debt instruments that are
measured at FVPL (Note 17). The wealth
management products are considered to be
low credit risk, where they have a low risk of
default and banks has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term. As at 31 December 2022, the
Group has assessed that the expected credit
losses for the wealth management product
was immaterial.
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Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. UBERERE(E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MEREREZ (&)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b)) EEEE (&)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) LHEEZHIE(EZ)
Financial assets at FVPL (Continued) UWAREEFTEAES
FFABRNEREE (&)
The maximum credit risk exposure RBER IELTHE
of unlisted equity investments and mRERSIBEER/E
contingent consideration at the end of the MExsfEEREAE
reporting period are the carrying amount SR AEKHEEARE
RMB189,568,000 (31 December 2021: 189,568,0007T (2021
RMB215,679,000) and RMB63,490,000 (31 F12A318 : AR
December 2021: nil) respectively. 215,679,0007T) & AR
#63,490,0007T (20214
12A318 : &)
(c) Liquidity risk (c) mEMEE
Cash flow forecast is performed in the operating BeneBilerEesEEL&
entities of the Group. The Directors monitors rolling ErRENIT o ESTENE
forecasts of the Group's liquidity requirements to HWREE S HZRESTEA -
ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational HRECHESENKEEE
needs and that the Group does not breach ZCEHRAKEREERETER
borrowing covenants on its borrowing facilities. HEFEBEZ HHEHBEBAEZE
Such forecasting takes into consideration the TEHESRESTS  1EX
Group's debt financing plans, covenant compliance, B C-FTAERNBEIBAK R K
compliance with internal statement of financial LR BIZE - RANERHY ESE Bk
position ratio targets and if applicable, external SEBIRTE — Bl o0 EEEBR & (40
regulatory or legal requirements — for example, WA) -

currency restrictions.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial TREREAEBRNSTMAR
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based HRBEBENDEAR  BiE
on the remaining period at the reporting date HEEBGBEXRBESRI
to the contractual maturity date. The amounts AR E s EARET D -
disclosed in the table are based on the contractual EXRANBENSTE A RER
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 BHeERReRE - 2BE
months equal their carrying balances, as the impact +_EARNBBAIESERHE
of discounting is not significant. FHESAERBERNEEDN
BKX-
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. UBERERE(E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MEKREZ (&)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) “EMEE (&)

lessthan1 Between1 Between2 Between3 Betweend Over5

year and2years and3years andd4years and5 years years Total
-2 WEE - mER
-E4T k3 EE:3 I BE EENE @it
At 31 December 2022 R2022512431R
Borrowings (including interest) &5 (2R HS) 684,651 - - - - - 684,651
Trade and other payables BARAMEMNTE
excluding non-financia (TeEiEER
liabilties RER) 527,407 - - - - - 5407
Put option liability DEBEEE - - 85,387 99,856 - - 185743
Lease liablities HERE 368 19259 15862 2,602 1,240 - 62,687
1,235,742 19,259 101,749 102,498 1,240 - 1,460,488
At 31 December 2021 R2021512A31R
Borrowings (including interest) S5t (R EEHF &) 972,067 - - - - - 972,067
Trade and other payables BARAMEMNIE
excluding non-financia (TafEEERER
liahilities SRS 501,819 - - - - 800 502,619
Lease liabilities HERE 20,215 9,940 5,446 4144 2,442 691 42,8718
1,494,101 9,940 5,446 4144 2442 1491 1,517,564
As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s net current AR2022%128318 - X&EB 75
assets is RMB6,944,129,000 (31 December 2021: HEEFEAANREE,944,129,000
RMB6,738,947,000). 7T (20215 12H318 : AR¥

6,738,947,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.2

3.3

Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The operating cash inflows of the Group are sufficient
for investing activities including acquisition of new
businesses.

The Group monitors its capital risk based on the
debt-to-equity ratio. This ratio is calculated by dividing
the net debt by the total owners’ equity. The Group's
net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including
current and non-current borrowings) less cash and cash
equivalents. No debt-to-equity ratio is presented as the
Group had net cash surplus as at 31 December 2022 and
2021.

Fair value estimation

The following categorises financial instruments carried
at fair value based on the level of inputs to valuation
techniques within a fair value hierarchy. The different
levels have been defined as follows:

- Quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices) (level 2);

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. UBERERE(E)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 2AEEME (&)
The following tables present the Group’s financial assets TRV KA EBR2022%20214F
measured and recognised at fair value at 31 December NAIBEALEBESAENLER
2022 and 2021: ML RVEE -
Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Mgk Z-F - fd E=F it
At 31 December 2022 2022512318
Financial assets at FVPL UAAERETEEREE
FABGZEREE
~ Listed equity investments - FTEHRE 17 43,298 - - 43,298
~ Wealth management products -YEERER 17 = - 1,594,315 1,594,315
- Unlisted equity investments -k EMESRE 17 - - 189,568 189,568
- Contingent consideration -SBRERE 17 - - 63,490 63,490
Financial assets at FVOC| URAAEEGTEEREE
FARMRERE 2
cREE
- Unlisted equity investments in the PRC ~ —FAAE #Y3E |
ERRe 12 - - 16,006 16,006
- Debt securities —-fERERE 12 - - 49,794 49,794
43,298 - 1,913,173 1,956,471
Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Wizt FE FE E-E it
At 31 December 2021 ®2021%12H31R
Financial assets at FVPL NAAEEFEREE B
ANBHZEREE
~ Listed equity investments - ERRES 17 35,866 - - 35,866
- Wealth management products -HEEEEM 17 - - 3,256,499 3,256,499
- Unlisted equity investments —FLTEREE 17 - - 215,679 215,679
Financial assets at FVOC NAAEEFTEEREE
FARMZEREZ
SHEE
- Unlisted equity investments in the PRC ~IRARERE LT
EaRE 12 - - 17,870 17,870
- Debt securities -ERRE 12 - - 48,785 48,785
35,366 - 3538833 3,574,699
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

There were no transfers of financial assets between level
1, level 2 and level 3 fair value hierarchy classifications
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

There are no other financial instruments that were
measured at fair value as at 31 December 2022 and
2021.

The financial assets of level 1 within the fair value
hierarchy as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were the
listed equity investments included in financial assets at
FVPL. The fair value of these financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market prices at
the reporting date. A market is regarded as active if
guoted prices are readily and regularly available from an
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service,
or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s
length basis. The quoted market price used for financial
assets of level 1 held by the Group is the current bid
price.
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Notes to the Consolidated e KM
Financial Statements
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. B¥ERERE(E)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREMEMLE (E)

The financial assets of level 3 within the fair value
hierarchy as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were
financial assets at FVOCI and financial assets at FVPL.
The following table presents the changes of the Group’s
financial assets of level 3 within the fair value hierarchy
for the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021:

H E2022F M2021F12 8318 » &
ﬁ{%ﬁ BHANE-EBEcHEES

NAABEFELESSH:T AHEM
THEHRENEREEMUAAAEE
TEAESHT AL HBERNSR
BE - TRAINE T AEEE=2022

FER2021F12A31B IEFEN DAL

BEEATE=-EcrmEENEL:
Unlisted Wealth
equity  management Debt
investments products securities Total
FLTRERE HEERER BERE #5t
At 1 January 2021 R2021%181A 167,686 540,492 708,178
Additions NE 85,600 8,510,999 163,194 8,759,793
Disposals HE (2,421) (5,852,944) (114,409) (5,969,774)
Fair value change recognised in other REBZANGETERN
comprehensive income DEER (53,428) - - (53,428)
Fair value change recognised in other REMBTARE 45—~
income and other gains - net FRTRAL AL EES 38,866 57,952 - 96,818
Currency translation differences EhEEm (2,754) - - (2,754)
At 31 December 2021 R2021%12531A 233,549 3,256,499 48,785 3,538,833
Unlisted Wealth
equity  management Debt Contingent
investments products securities  consideration Total
FLTRERE HEEEER BERE DREERE #5t
At 1 January 2022 R202251818 233,549 3,256,499 48,785 - 3,538,833
Additions RE 7,795 15,004,000 342,081 - 15,353,876
Disposals & - (16,747,528) (341,072) - (17,088,600)
Fair value change recognised in REMZENRE WEM
other comprehensive income MAREES (1,862) - - - (1,862)
Fair value change recognised in E@EIW&U\%DEWJ &
other income and other gains —ERRERLOA
- net BE2% (42,739) 81,344 - 63,490 102,095
Currency translation differences EEREER 8,831 - - - 8,831
At 31 December 2022 #2022%12A31A 205,574 1,594,315 49,794 63,490 1,913,173

Asset-based approach, market approach and income
approach are adopted in the valuation of financial assets

of level 3.
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Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. UBERERE(E)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AAREEME (&)
The following table summarises the quantitative TRINEEARAABEEBRE=
information about the significant unobservable inputs EBo & ER T B ABE o

used in level 3 fair value measurements.

Description Fair value Unobservable inputs Range of inputs Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value
i MEE TUREEAEE HEHE FUEEEAHBEDAEENDE
At 31 December
RM2A31R
2022 2021 2022 2021
pliry:3 WNE ANE 015
Unlisted equity investment 205,574 233549 Discount for lack of marketability 9%-19% 10%-20%  The higher the Discount for lack of marketability,
FLmERRE Bz ARSI the lower the fair value
RETARILAIES  RAEEHE
Enterprise Value/Sales multiple of 1.60-3.65 nfa  The higher the Enterprise Value/Sales multiple, the
peers ISR higher the fair value
TS REEVISales MERAVSdesiin A EEES
Price/Sales multiple of peers 4.43-6.80 nfa  The higher the Price/Sales multiples, the higher the
MAREPS T8 farvale

MEREPSHE  DAEES

Price/Earnings multiple of peers 20.00 nfa  The higher the Price/Earnings multiples, the higher
AREPE TER  the fairvalue
TEREPEER - AnfEES

Wealth management products 1,594,315 3,256,499 Expected rate of retum 1.00%-471%  1.00%-5.85%  The higher the Expected rate of return, the higher
BEERER AHmHEE the fair value
EHnHEEE ArEEMS

Debt securities 49,794 48785 Risk-adjusted discount rate 2.55% 250%  The higher the Risk-adjusted discount rate, the
%A BRAEERE lower the fair value

ERPEERZAS RABEAE

Contingent consideration 63,490 na  Risk-adjusted discount rates 12.86%-14.95% nfa  The higher the Risk-adjusted discount rates, the
AERERE TER  BRABERE AR lowerthe fair value
ERREMAZES DABENE
Revenue growth rates 5%-65% nfa  The higher the Revenue growth rate, the higher the
WAERE TER  fairvalue
BAEREER ArEBEAS
Gross margin 20.24%-28.08% nfa The higher the Gross margin, the higher the fair
EHE FER value

ENRER DABEES
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.4 Group's valuation processes

3.5

The Group's finance department includes a team that
performs the valuations of financial assets required for
financial reporting purposes with the assistance of an
independent valuer when necessary, including level 3 fair
values. This team reports directly to the chief financial
officer ("CFQ"). Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the CFO and the valuation
team at least once for every six months, in line with the
Group's reporting dates.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
measured at amortised cost

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities measured
at amortised cost approximate their carrying amounts.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact
on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

4.1

Critical accounting estimates

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(a) Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill
has suffered any impairment in accordance with
the accounting policy stated in Note 2.8 and Note
2.9. The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been
determined based on the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs to sell. These calculations
require the use of estimates (Note 9). Details of
impairment charge, key assumptions and impact of
possible changes in key assumptions are disclosed
in Note 9.
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4., ARSI EFTRHE (&)

JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates (Continued)

(b) Estimation of the fair values of financial

(9]

assets and financial liabilities

The fair values of financial instruments that are
not traded in active markets are determined
using valuation techniques. The Group uses its
judgements to select a variety of methods and
make assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of each
reporting period. Changes in these assumptions
and estimates could materially affect the respective
fair values of these financial assets and financial
liabilities (Note 3.3).

PRC enterprise income tax and deferred
taxation

The Group’s subsidiaries that operate in the PRC
is subject to enterprise income tax in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income tax. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such difference will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provision in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers it’s probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4., ARSI EFTRHE (&)

JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates (Continued)

4.1 BEAREEHLE (&)

(c) PRC enterprise income tax and deferred (c) FPELEFEHRELIE
taxation (Continued) (#4)
Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Laws of the BEZ2EARREZTXRER
PRC approved by the National People’s Congress 20073168 BB H E
on 16 March 2007, a 10% withholding tax is levied XS HE - B2008F 1A 1
on dividends remitted from the PRC entities to B PpECERIINERE
overseas investors with effect from 1 January 2008. EHSIRKE  FTEI0%Z
A lower withholding tax rate of 5% is applied MEHBUWHAER ER
to Hong Kong investors as there is a tax treaty NEBEBEENBRBEHTE W
between the PRC and Hong Kong. However, the REACERBFBELRELED
5% treaty rate is not automatically granted. The EIRE A ZARKEENK
taxpayer needs to apply to the relevant tax bureau K5% UL o 1B5%5% 15 & T &
for an approval for the treaty rate. The Directors WIEBHES N AZM
estimated that a portion of profits generated by EBBTERBEEEEEZTE
the PRC subsidiaries would be distributed to their MBEWE - ANQAAFEFHE
Hong Kong immediate parent companies and @G Lt A B K FE T B AN A
the approval for the treaty rate will be obtained. ZBARERBETFTERE S
Therefore, deferred income tax liabilities had MBEER AT ESHTER
been provided based on 5% or 10% of the R At IRTEFFERA
estimated profits to be remitted to Hong Kong. The BENIRTERELEE A ZEA
Directors of the Company will review the funding A5% 3 10% /) i K& & o
requirements of the Group and revise the dividend NAEEBITEHRTAE
distribution policy of its subsidiaries as appropriate. ZESERTEEFHENS

NAEIZIRBBUR o
(d) Estimation of put option liability (d) ZZRHIEEEZ GG

The Group granted put option to the
non-controlling interest owners that they have the
right to request the Group to further acquire the
equity interests in a non-wholly owned subsidiary
that held by the non-controlling interest owners
when certain conditions are met. The Group initially
recognise a financial liability with a reduction of
parent equity at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows under the put option
arrangement, and at the end of each subsequent
period, the Group will review their estimations.
If the Group revises its estimates of payments,
the Group will adjust the carrying amount of
the financial liability to reflect actual and revised
estimated cash outflows and the adjustments will
be recognized in finance cost in the consolidated
income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (REEEBEIN IESBEHAUARETTIIR)
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. BARGEHHE R E (&)
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)
4.2 Critical accounting judgements 4.2 BABEEEHE
(a) Impairment of financial assets (a) =HEZERE
The loss allowances for financial assets are based TREEMNEXNEESEHE
on assumptions about risk of default and expected RNEEARE MBI B KX
loss rates. The Group uses judgment in making HEBEH AEEBREBERBERN
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the B  WAENTWBRR AR
impairment calculation, based on the Group's B E RS H 45 R A A iE
past history, existing market conditions as well MiEst EEHBE L BEHZM
as forward looking estimates at the end of each EEHESTENG ARG H
reporting period. Details of the key assumptions HE o AR EEREZM
and inputs used are disclosed in the tables in Note AREBEH N E3. 1)
3.1(b). e
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Financial Statements

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

The Group has organised its operations into four main
operating segments:

(1) Flavours and fragrances, and food ingredients (“F&F and
food ingredients”);

(2) Tobacco raw materials;
(3) Aroma raw materials; and
(4) Condiment.

The chief operating decision-makers have been identified as the
executive directors (the “Executive Directors”). The Executive
Directors review the Group’s internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segments based on these reports.

The Executive Directors consider the business from the
operation’s perspective and assess the performance of F&F and
food ingredients, tobacco raw materials, aroma raw materials
and condiment segments.

(1) F&F and food ingredients segment includes research
and development, production and sale of flavours and
fragrances products, and food ingredients.

(2) Tobacco raw materials segment includes research and
development, production and sale of paper-making
reconstituted tobacco leaves and new materials products
that are innovative, functional and applicable to tobacco
industry.

(3) Aroma raw materials segment includes research and
development, manufacture and sale of aroma raw
materials products that are extracted from natural
materials or generated from chemical process.

(4) Condiment segment includes production, sales,
marketing and distribution of condiments.
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Notes to the Consolidated e IR MR
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. EXHRoWMBER(E)
(CONTINUED)
The segment information for the year ended 31 December HZE2022F12831HIEFE 2 HEE R
2022 is presented below: 23mT

Year ended 31 December 2022

HZANFNAMALEE
F&F and Tobacco Aroma
food raw raw
Ingredients materials materials  Condiment Others Total
ERR
BREH EREH ERA A ity @t
Total revenue BEEE 1,893,883 475,082 929,619 573,069 - 3,871,653
Inter-segment revenue PEREIEE (16,547) (20,825) (5.297) - - (42,669)
Segment revenue - net PHERE-FH 1,877,336 454,257 924322 573,069 - 33828984
Segment result PEEE 824,095 (237,514) 79526  (1,116941)  (157,141)  (607,975)
Finance income FBRA 71,791
Finance costs BEKK (37,970)
Finance income - net HEBA-F 33,821
Share of results of associates and FEEBENTR
jointly controlled entities HF \EEZ%%E (7.056)
Provision for impairment relating Wﬁ? ERAREL
to the investment in an associate HERE (139,000)
Loss before income tax BHAER (720,210)
Income tax expense FEH (180,840)
Loss for the year TEEFE (901,050)
Depreciation e 67,075 83,945 58,713 10,595 5,010 225,338
Amortisation g 9,548 8,645 11,200 74,546 964 104,903
As at 31 December 2022
2022512318
F&F and Tobacco Aroma
food raw raw
Ingredients materials materials  Condiment Others Total
ERR
BREH EREH ERH Ak m it )
Segment assets PHEE 8,982,722 2,017,984 1,446,564 3,305,516 866,236 16,619,022

Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 12k ABR 2 7] 2022 Annual Report 45




Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BEERHSBER (E)
(CONTINUED)
The segment information for year ended 31 December 2021 is HZE2021F12B318BIEFEE 29D ZER
presented below: 25|

Year ended 31 December 2021

HE2NENANBLEE

Flavours Tobacco Aroma

and raw raw
fragrances materials materials  Condiment Others Total
EE] BEREM EER ARm it @it
Total revenue BEEE 1,941,375 586,072 720,649 676,481 2 3924599
Inter-segment revenue NEBEEE (14,626) (20,667) (6,623) - - (41,916)
Segment revenue - net NG EE R 1,926,749 565,405 714,026 676,481 22 3,882,683
Segment result DHEE 1,104,081 (80,091) 59,096 136,864 (105473) 1,114,477
Finance income BHSURA 101,784
Finance costs BA R A (81,468)
Finance income - net BBBA-FE 20,316

Share of results of associates and ~ FE{EE A AF R
jointly controlled entities LRZHER 5 12,584
Profit before income tax BEAIEF 1,147,377
Income tax expense iRy (251,593)
Profit for the year KEERF 895,784
Depreciation e 40,583 84,652 33,401 11,836 6,357 176,829
Amortisation 3 1,828 8,994 15,444 73,919 139 100,324
As at 31 December 2021
20219124318

Flavours Tobacco Aroma

and raw raw
fragrances materials materials  Condiment Others Total
By ERRH ERB Ak At st
Segment assets NHEE 8,389,135 2,314,894 1,344,664 4,586,505 1,389,931 18,025,129
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5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Segment result represents the profit before income tax earned
by each segment without inclusion of unallocated corporate
expenses, finance costs, finance income, share of results of
associates and jointly controlled entities and provision for
impairment relating to the investment in an associate. This is
the measure reported to chief operating decision makers for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets, investments
in associates, investments in jointly controlled entities, financial
assets at FVPL and financial assets at FVOCI that are managed
by the Finance Department, deferred income tax assets, other
non-current assets, inventories, trade and other receivables,
time deposits and cash and cash equivalents. They exclude
financial assets at FVOCI and financial assets at FVPL that are
managed by the Investment Department and intersegment
eliminations.

Non-current assets other than financial instruments and
deferred tax assets of the Group as at 31 December 2022 and
2021 are mainly located in the PRC.

The Group's revenue is generated from contracts with
customers and recognized at a point in time. Revenues from
external customers are derived from the sales to customers
mainly of whom located in the PRC.

Revenue derived from sales made to the single largest external
customer for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to
7% (2021: 6%) of the Group's total revenue. These revenues
are attributable to F&F and food ingredients segment.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BEHERSBER (E)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Liabilities related to contracts with customers (a) BEFzERHEHENAR
The Group has recognised the liabilities related to REFBDHREZRANEEH G
contracts with customers: &EA:

As at 31 December

M12A31R
2022 2021
20225 20214
Prepayment from customers EPBEMNER 76,724 101,795
Unrealized sales incentives AERAHEEHE 39,238 65,150
Total contract liabilities marRaE 115,962 166,945
(i)  Significant changes in contract liabilities () BEAEEZEXEE
The Group receives payments from customers NEBIZRBRAEHLTE E{j PN
based on billing schedule as established in ZHBEREPERE WS ZHIE - &
contracts. Payments are usually received in HEBEEBERAENELNE fﬁlnﬁjz
advance under the contracts which are mainly BTURE B AEHTERE
from sales of condiments. The decrease in contract HEAKRm -AEBERD
liabilities were mainly attributable to a decrease in MIEREAEHAKANER
condiments business. S o
(i) Revenue recognised in relation to contract (ii) EAE[FAEEEREEEZWA
liabilities
Year ended 31 December
BE12A31MBLFE
2022 2021
2022 20214F
Revenue recognised that was included BB EEEVARE R
in the contract liabilities balance at BREE A B HER BV ULA
the beginning of the year 127,854 158,818
All contracts are for periods of one year or less. FMEARMEEASE —FaE
As permitted under HKFRS 15 “Revenue from D o IR E B RS 4R
Contracts with Customers”, the transaction price FISHIEPAEHWAI B
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not F o ABBERBHEARBHK
disclosed. 5B -
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Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. EXEBEROHER (F)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Liabilities related to contracts with customers (a) BEEFzAREHEBENERS (&)
(Continued)
(iii) Contract liabilities related to unrealized (i) B [EE BB AEEHE
sales incentives are analysed as follows: BRI

As at 31 December

M12A8318
2022 2021
2022F 20214
Unrealized sales incentives expected TEEIR —F AR
to be redeemed within one year REAIE G 4B 19,387 28,069
Unrealized sales incentives expected TR —FE LR
to be redeemed over one year REIRGHE BB 19,851 37,081
39,238 65,150
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6. Y- MBERXE
Mature Immature Furniture,
Plant and bearer bearer Motor  fixtures and Leasehold  Construction
Note Buildings machinery plants plants vehicles equipment  improvements in progress Others Total
A REANH i RE
i3 BF  BBREE  LEMEN  LERER g RRfE HEEE ERIR it Eh
At 1 January 2021 R021F1A18
Cost BA 887,708 1,109,593 - - 57,825 242,539 71,910 296,850 2962 2,675,387
Accumulated depreciation 23147 (377,487) (678,093) - - (44,150) (169,063) (16,810) - (1,527) (1,287,130)
Net book amount REFE 510,221 431,500 - - 13,675 13476 61,100 296,850 1,435 1,388,257
Year ended HE201E

31 December 2021 12831ALEE
Net book amount at MAIBREFE

1 January 510,221 431,500 - - 13,675 13476 61,100 296,850 1435 1,388,257
Additions RE 40,993 8,677 - - 2,576 16,230 2,672 351,250 - 422,398
Transfers =174 129,462 252,265 - - 2,835 14,400 (398,962) - -
Disposals tE 34(b) (191) (1,093) - - (328) (3,844) (9,064) - - (14,520)
Depreciaton ¥ (37823 (96,436) - . 3,107 (13745) (1,120 - (29%) (152,527)
Currency translation ERREEE

diferences (280) (666) - - (19) (59) (22 - - (1,042)

Net book amount at #M2A318
31 December BEFE 642,382 594,247 - - 12,801 74,893 67,966 249,138 1,139 1,642,566

At31December 2021 R2021£12831R

Cost A 1,056,678 1,350,802 - - 58,963 239874 90,072 249,138 2962 3,048,489
Accumulated depreciation  £:FH7E (414,29) (756,555) - - (46,162) (164,981) (22,106) - (1,823) (1,405,923)
Net book amount BEFE 642,382 594,247 - - 12,801 74,893 67,966 249,138 1,139 1,642,566
Year ended H02E12831A

31 December 2022 LEE
Net book amount at MAIBEAFE

1 January 642,382 594,247 - - 12,801 74,893 67,966 249,138 1,139 1,642,566
Acquisition of equity Wi L% R

interest in Shangha bt

Yifang 33 21,149 49,135 38,130 84,944 1,59 1,541 20,740 802 - 218,643
Additions RE 2,819 26,098 m 1321 4283 28334 3,825 357,751 - 430,808
Transfers E 54,367 120,825 - - - 2,142 23,403 (200,737) - -
Disposals e (3,293) (8,434) - - (1,390) (1,105) (560) - (883) (15,625)
Depreciation ik (45,263) (100,668) (1,791) - (3,408) (30,410) (19.831) - (296) (201,667)
Provision for impairment AR & (i) - - - - - - - (31,774) - (31,774)
Curreny translation FRREER

differences (16) (758) - - (6) 320 - 153 - (307)

Net book amount at #M2A318
31 December EAFE 672,745 680,445 36,750 221 13,836 75721 95,543 375,333 - 2,042,644

At31December 202  W2022%12A318

Cost A 11314 1,534,324 38,541 9221 54,930 256,791 159,963 407,107 2,962 3,670,031
Accumulated depreciation  £347E

and impairment AERE (450,397) (853,879) (1,791) = (41,094) (181,070) (64,420) (31,774) (2,962) (1,627,387)
Net book amount EHFE 672,745 680,445 36,750 2.1 13,836 75121 95,543 375,333 - 2,042,644
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Depreciation was recorded in the following categories:

e BRRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

Y5 - ek (E)

6.

FERAT AN

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31MBLEE

2022 2021

20224 20214F

Manufacturing overheads Eb-4=! 156,631 75,080
Administrative expenses 1TIEE A 44,258 76,709
Selling and marketing expenses HEMKERS 718 738
Other non-current assets HEiIERBEE 60 -
Total depreciation e 201,667 152,527

(i)  As at 31 December 2022, buildings with net book value
of RMB5,996,000 were pledged as collateral for the
Group's borrowings (31 December 2021: the Group's
secured bank borrowings were fully repaid, no property,
plant and equipment were pledged as collateral for the
Group’s borrowings).

(i)~ The amount represented impairment loss provided for
the construction cost of certain specialised machineries
in the tobacco raw materials segment due to the
termination of related projects.
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
7. LEASE 7. HE
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a) REEHMBNRRRBERNESEHE
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of financial position shows AR REBRIATEHBESR
the following amounts relating to lease: M & RE

As at 31 December

M12A31R
Note 2022 2021
B E 20225 20214
Right-of-use assets: ERAEEE:
Land use rights T AR (i) 327,497 215,147
Properties LIS 58,001 36,816
385,498 251,963
Lease liabilities: HESE:
Current mE 23,480 18,751
Non-current IERE 37,290 22,176
60,770 40,927
Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended HE2022F12R318IEE - F8
31 December 2022 were RMB89,962,000, excluding the BEEERINZ A AR HR9,962,000
increase of RMB85,394,000 due to the acquisition of T BRI IERKE e
equity interest in Shanghai Yifang. =M ey A KR #85,394,0007T ©
() The Group's interests in right-of-use assets for (Y ZANEBEALTMFRAERNEZS
land use rights represent prepaid operating lease ABRNHKEHEREBENLHE
payments and their net book amounts. BEEEE o
At 31 December 2022, land use rights with net R2022F 128310 @ BEm@ %
book value of RMB11,666,000 were pledged as BEAARE®11,666,0007T 8
collateral for the Group's borrowings (31 December THERAEERERARE
2021: the Group's secured bank borrowings were EEZHEES - (2021412
fully repaid, no right-of-use assets were pledged as A31H : A"EENHIEFR
collateral for the Group’s borrowings). TEFCD2EES B4R

AEEEREAFIERAALHE
B IR aR) o
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Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
7. LEASE (CONTINUED) 7. HE (&)
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income (b) RizE W7 BRY L5
statement
The consolidated income statement shows the following SEWBREBETRATHEHEEABRN
amounts relating to lease: k=

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLEE
Note 2022 2021
B &E 2022%F 20214F
Depreciation and amortisation fFRAEEENITEN
charge of right-of-use assets: BHEER
Land use rights + b (E AR 11,162 6,495
Properties LY/ 23,318 24,302
34,480 30,797
Interest expense F B H 29 1,735 2,151
Expense relating to short-term RHHEEEA
leases 27 29,669 19,691
The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended HE2022F12831BIFEEMNHEE
31 December 2022 was RMB58,394,000 (2021: 184 7 48 5 A A R K658 394,000
RMB44,420,000). TL(20214: AR %44,420,0007T) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

8. Investment properties

e BRRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

8. REMYWRE

Land and Construction
buildings in progress Total
T RETF EEIR et
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022%512A31H
IEFE
Net book amount at 1 January R1ATBEEREFE - - =
Additions INE 6,732 21,002 27,734
Depreciation e (413) - (413)
Currency translation differences BEEBEERE 11 - 11
Net book amount at R12A31HEREZEE
31 December 6,330 21,002 27,332
At 31 December 2022 720228128318
Cost IB#N 6,743 21,002 27,745
Accumulated depreciation 2T E (413) - (413)
Net book amount BREFE 6,330 21,002 27,332

Depreciation is included in cost of goods sold in the
consolidated income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 9. EBEEE
Trademarks Non-
and Customer  competition Computer
Note Goodwill licenses  relationships  agreement software Patents Total
g B8 BERNUR EFBR  FRTHE G E7l @it
@ (o)
At 1 January 2021 R0211%E1518
Cost [ 5,903,875 544,817 787,443 3,085 10,738 60,180 7310,138
Accumulated amortisation and impairment - 23 JH B (531,864) (126,140) (367,893) (3,013) (7.768) (47,098  (1,083,776)
Net book amount FETE 5,372,011 418,677 419,550 72 2970 13,082 6,226,362
Year ended 31 December 2021 BEANENANALEE
Net book amount at 1 January MAIBEESE 5,372,011 418,677 419,550 7 2970 13,082 6,226,362
Additions NE - 21 - - 4,030 3,993 8,044
Amortisation g 21 - (23,197) (62,939) - (1,035) (6,658) (93,829)
Impairment HE (@ (293,270) - - - - - (293,270)
Net book amount at 31 December RM2ANBEEFE 5,078,741 395,501 35,611 7 5,965 10417 5,847,307
At 31 December 2021 R2021E128318
Cost AR 5,903,875 544,838 787,443 3,085 14,768 64,173 7,318,182
Accumulated amortisation and impairment 23t # k& (825,134) (149,337) (430,832) (3,013) (8,803) (53,756)  (1470875)
Net book amount FEFE 5,078,741 395,501 356,611 7 5,965 10417 5,847,307
Year ended 31 December 2022 BENRENANALEE
Net book amount at 1 January MAIREEFE 5,078,741 395,501 356,611 n 5,965 10,417 5,847,307
Acquisition of equity interest in WEs L8 R
Shanghai Yifang 33 49,418 75 15,869 - - 6,900 72,262
Additions AE - 9 - - 5315 - 5324
Amortisation i 21 - (23,169) (61,441) - (2,355) (7,498) (94,463)
Impairment HE (@ (1,507,710) - - - - - (1,507,710
Net book amount at 31 December R2A3ERAFE 3,620,449 372,416 311,039 n 8,925 9819 4322720
At 31 December 2022 R2022%128318
Cost KA 5,953,293 544,922 803,312 3,085 20,083 1,013 7,395,768
Accumulated amortisation and impairment - 251 88 R il & (2,332,844) (172,506) (492,213) (3.013) (11,158) (61,250)  (3,073,048)
Net book amount FEFE 3,620,449 312,416 311,039 n 8,925 9819 4322720
Amortisation is included in cost of goods sold, administrative BEETEHERAN  THRERA L
expenses and other non-current assets. HiIERHEENRN o
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

9.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a)

Goodwill is mainly attributable to the anticipated
profitability of operations, the anticipated future
operating synergies and enlarged market share. Goodwill
arising from prior year is allocated to the Group’s CGUs
identified within the operating segment. The goodwill is
allocated in CGUs as follows:

As at 31 December 2022

e BRRME

(Br=BEAEIN -

A B AARETTIIR)

9. EFEE (H)

(a)

FETERLEFHNTEHATR
L~ TEHA B SR 2R A8 & 15 B A FE AN 4R
AETIH M RERT o AEBER AR
FEEEZEHEFERBEEXELS
HMAOMEZECGUs s BEH IR
CGUsEHIT :

As at 31 December 2021

R02ENAMAE 10215124318
Others
Reconstituted (Including Reconstituted
Flavours Tobacco Jiahao  Shanghai Flavours Tobacco Jiahao

Subgroup leaves  Foodstuff Yifang) Total Subgroup Leaves Foodstuff Others Total
Bt

%  BEEE  ZR8R (BELEZR) Eh B BEERE  ERRm Eft &3t

Goodwill ik 1,186,344 356,168 1,969,377 108,560 3,620,449 1,186,344 649,363 3,140,052 102,982 5,078,741

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based
on the higher of value in use (“VIU") and the fair value
less costs to sell. An impairment of RMB293,270,000
was recognised for the CGU of Reconstituted Tobacco
Leaves(”"RTL") for the year ended 31 December
2021, resulted in a reduce in the carrying amount
of the goodwill of RTL from RMB942,633,000 to
RMB649,363,000 as at 31 December 2021. Based on the
results of the Group’s discussion with customers at the
end of 2022, the management of the Group re-evaluated
the supply and demand situation of the traditional
RTL industry and considered that the oversupply in
the traditional RTL would remain for a longer period
of time, while based on the principle of prudence and
conservatism, a conservative forecast on the future sales
of the traditional RTL was made. As at 31 December
2022, management engaged an independent valuer to
conduct an impairment test on goodwill of CGU of RTL.
According to the test results, an impairment of goodwill
of approximately RMB293,195,000 was recognised for
the CGU of RTL, resulted in a reduce in the carrying
amount of the goodwill of RTL from RMB649,363,000 to
RMB356,168,000 as at 31 December 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

9.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(Continued)

Following the decrease in revenue and operating profit
of the CGU of Jiahao Foodstuff due to the impact of the
resurgence of Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia Pandemic
("Pandemic”) in the PRC in 2022, which hindered
the logistics and supply chains of raw materials, while
various daily consumption activities including those
of retail and catering sectors were adversely affected,
thereby resulting in decrease in demand and increase
in the operating costs. Given that the revenue and
the operating profit of Jiahao Foodstuff had dropped
significantly in 2022, and there is great uncertainty in
the future of the Chinese condiment market due to the
Pandemic, an impairment loss on goodwill of Jiahao
Foodstuff's CGU is expected. As at 31 December 2022,
management engaged an independent valuer to conduct
an impairment test on goodwill of CGU of Jiahao
Foodstuff. In the goodwill impairment test carried out
by the valuer, fair value less costs to sell and VIU of the
CGU of Jiahao Foodstuff was assessed by using market
approach and income approach respectively. According
to the result of the test, VIU was higher than fair value
less costs to sell and therefore VIU was adopted to be
the recoverable amount of the CGU of Jiahao Foodstuff.
According to the test results, an impairment of goodwill
of approximately RMB1,170,675,000 were recognised for
the CGU of Jiahao Foodstuff, resulted in a reduction in
the carrying amount of the goodwill of Jiahao Foodstuff
from RMB3,140,052,000 to RMB1,969,377,000 as at 31
December 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

9.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(Continued)

Following the decrease in revenue and operating profit
of the CGU of Shanghai Yifang after the acquisition date
due to the impact of multiple factors such as slowing
economic growth, Pandemic in the PRC, complex and
changeable external environment, and weakened market
demand in 2022. Based on prudent and conservative
principles, the Group has lowered its earnings forecast
for Shanghai Yifang in the future, and an impairment
loss on goodwill of Shanghai Yifang's CGU is expected.
As at 31 December 2022, management engaged an
independent valuer to conduct an impairment test on
goodwill of CGU of Shanghai Yifang. In the goodwill
impairment test carried out by the valuer, fair value less
costs to sell and VIU of the CGU of Shanghai Yifang
was assessed by using income approach. According
to the test results, VIU was higher than fair value less
costs to sell and therefore VIU was adopted to be the
recoverable amount of the CGU of Shanghai Yifang.
According to the test results, an impairment of goodwill
of approximately RMB43,840,000 was recognised for the
CGU of Shanghai Yifang, resulted in a reduction in the
carrying amount of the goodwill of Shanghai Yifang from
RMB49,418,000 to RMB5,578,000 as at 31 December
2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

9.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(Continued)

Other than the CGU of Jiahao Foodstuff, RTL and
Shanghai Yifang, as at 31 December 2022, management
reassessed the key assumptions for impairment testing
of goodwill of all CGUs. Based on the assessment,
the Group considered that there was no additional
impairment.

The VIU calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections
based on financial budgets prepared by management
covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated
terminal growth rates below. The terminal growth rate
does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for
the businesses in which the CGU operates. The discount
rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to
the relevant segments or entities as below. Management
determined budgeted gross margin based on past
performance and their expectations for the market
development.
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 9. BEEE (&)
(a) (Continued) (@) (%)
The key assumptions used for VIU calculations are as HEVIURBERERY T -
follows:
As at 31 December 2022 As at 31 December 2021
R02E12831R M021E12831R
Others
(Including
Flavours Jiahao Shanghai Flavours Jiahao
Subgroup RTL Foodstuff Yifang) Subgroup RTL Foodstuff Others
2
3 BEREE ESRR (BFELEZR) Ef BiEEE EZRR it
Forecast growth rate BifERE 10.0%-0.0% -6.0%~20.1%  7.8%-22.7% -2.0%-82.4%  -30%-00%  39%-206%  67%-~264% -55%-1378%
Terminal growth rate KEFERE 0.0% 3.0% 30%  0.0%-30% 0.0% 30% 30%  0.0%-3.0%
Budgeted gross margin EREb 82.6% 519%-549%  53.7%-55.6%  13.4%-~44.9% 830% 49.1%~543%  585%-594%  22.0%~450%
Pre-tax discount rate HASR % 14.6% 19.0% 15.9%  15.0%-19.8% 14.3% 16.5% 135%  14.9%-19.8%
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Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 9. BILEE (&)
(a) (Continued) (@) (%)
The recoverable amounts and the headrooms available EREBNCGU  BEBEMNCGU
(the excess of the recoverable amounts over the carrying MEZREmCGU 2 Al E £ 58
amounts) of the CGU of Flavours Subgroup, CGU of RTL TREZME (ATEcEBBER
and CGU of Jiahao Foodstuff are as follows: EEMH)ZROT
As at 31 December 2022 As at 31 December 2021
R2022%128318 R021%5128318
Flavours Jiahao Flavours Jiahao
Subgroup RTL Foodstuff Subgroup RTL Foodstuff
BB BEEE EERR B BEEE L
Recoverable amount BL{EER: 8,643,717 910,991 3,065,913 9,438,095 1,187,631 4414130
Headroom NREZR 3,564,620 - - 4,087,668 - 101,116
The recoverable amount of the CGU of Flavours FHARBEERENT  FHER
Subgroup, CGU of RTL and CGU of Jiahao Foodstuff MCGURMI AT B £ %  BEEER
would equal its carrying amount if the key assumptions CGUM AT B 2 EME R R m i
were to change as follows: CGUM AT IRE 2B HERMNERE
& :
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
H20025128318 H01E128318
Flavours Subgroup RTL Jiahao Foodstuff Flavours Subgroup RIL Jiahao Foodstuff
R BEEE ERRR &R BEEE RS
From To From To From To from To From To from To
f 2 B E H E 4 S i S i -
Forecast gouth e EifRe 5t A070%-1218% NA NA WA A -30%-00% -189%-223% A NA 67%-264%  59%-256%
Terminal growth rate* XEFERE NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 30% 27%
Budgeted gross profitmargh  EEFERE 826% 385% NA NA NA NA 83.0% 463% NA NA 585%-594%  57.7%-~586%
Pre-ax discount rate RAKAE 14.6% 656% NA NA NA NA 143% 544% NA NA 135% 137%
* The management have considered and assessed * BHEELEERTHKEFERDN
reasonably possible changes for terminal growth rate and BIRAIREE ) WEBBHAMIBR
have not identified any other instances that could cause AR BB E B HCCGUMERE |
the carrying amount of the CGU of Flavours Subgroup to BmE AU B S EE o

exceed its recoverable amount.

(b) Trademarks mainly represent Peacock, Xinghu, by EEEXEEAE -EHN MEWL
Samshiang, Chunzhu, Jinba, Jiahao, Zhanwang, Jinchan, 5 - FEN HF - EL &
and Sanfan trademarks. B ZHBEEE-
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

10.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 10.

The Group has interests in ten (31 December 2021: nine)
individually immaterial associates as at 31 December 2022.
The following table analyses, the movements of the carrying
amount of the Group’s investments in these associates, and its
share of results of these associates.

An analysis of the movements of equity investments in
associates is as follows:

e BRRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

REBEE QT 2BE

20229 12A318 » KEE R + &
(2021412 A318 : 1LE) S IEEBIE KX
MEENREERER  TROMAEE
RZEHERNRKREZRABEESHRE
FEIRZ EHE N RIMELE -

REBERRNEZREZESHONAOT :

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2022 2021
2022F 20214F
At the beginning of the year F1) 806,407 374,761
Acquisition of equity interest in BAEREBEB)BRATRE
Broad Far (Hong Kong) Limited and ~ B AE ([1ErEE ) 2 Ik
its subsidiaries (“Broad Far Group”) - 17,836
Acquisition of equity interest in BANEERMERBEEES
Hunan Jiapinjiawei Technology EARAR([HEzmEKR])
Development Group Co., Ltd. 2 P rE
("Hunan Jiapinjiawei”) = 54,800
Acquisition of equity interest in BARINMIHER AR AR
Shenzhen Ruili Technology Co., Ltd.  (RIIEHEE ) 2 i
(“Shenzhen Ruili”) 4,000 -
Increase investment in HE A 5= m ek
Hunan Jiapinjiawei 5,200 -
Acquisition of equity interest in BABRRHAERERERAR
Junjieshang Network Technology ([BaAR® ) 2 Bt
Co., Ltd. ("Junjieshang”) - 350,000
Acquisition of equity interest in BABEERGREBERETAA
Yingtan Dongwu Technology ([EBBRFE]) 2%
Co., Ltd.("Yingtan Dongwu") - 3,500
Acquisition of equity interest in BAEFBEMEBRAA
Xiamen Fengtao Ceramics Co., Ltd. ([EFEE]) 2 R
(“Xiamen Fengtao”) - 19,560
Provision for impairment relating KEBERN® O RERE
to the investment in Junjieshang (a) (139,000) -
Share of results of associates Al AN E (7,156) 6,685
Dividends received 2 BB (5,110) (4,031)
Adjustment for transactions AEREEEBRENRI IS
between the Group and associates - (2,916)
Disposal of equity interest in Beijing ~ H &t RE&HEEERF
Kingdee Yunji Technology Co., Ltd.  BR A & 7 ki - (13,788)
Dilution of investment in an associate 1% & Bt & N\ &) 7 [ 12 25,755 -
Exchange difference EHZEZR 1,652 -
At the end of the year FR 691,748 806,407
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

10. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(a)

Both external and internal sources of information of
associates are considered in assessing whether there
is any indication that the investment may be impaired,
including but not limited to financial position, business
performance and market capitalization. The Group carries
out impairment assessment on those investments with
impairment indications, and the respective recoverable
amounts of investments are determined with reference
to the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and VIU.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, an aggregate
impairment provision of approximately RMB139,000,000
has been recognised for the investment in Junjieshang.
The recoverable amounts were determined using VIU,
which is higher than fair value less costs of disposal.
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e BRRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

10. RBERRAZRE (&)

RFFBHERESETEERER
FTENSMAIEEREHEE
hERZBEBNRREE QAN
BN ¥BRBENTE - A&
EHERETFROEEETRERT
- mARENEESBINEAAR
BEREHEKAIVIUFHRS
FHWER -

H E2022F12A31BItFE - 4
BAMMNEEC AR RERE
#3 A R #139,000,0007T ° i A 4
Bl e RBIZVIUVER  BEZzeEaR
AREBEREEENAZ S -



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

10. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had interests in the

e BRRME

(Br=BEAEIN -

10. REEE QT2 RE (18)
R2022F 128318 REBRMU T

A B AARETTIIR)

following associates: NEEAER
% of
Place of ownership
Name incorporation Interests  Principal activities
a8 AMRIBE FREEZEIL TEXR
Guizhou Huangguoshu Golden Leaf Technology PRC 40.00%  Produce and sell RTL
Co., Ltd. ("Huangguoshu Golden Leaf") s EENEEREEE
EMERBEEMBRARAR ([EREEE])
Yunnnan Hongta Blue Eagle Paper Co., Ltd PRC 25.10%  Manufacture and sales of cigarette paper and
("Hongta Blue Eagle”) H auxiliary products
ERALERAEERAR ([AEEE]) EENHERERAREBM
Yunnan Ruisheng Tobacco Technology Group PRC 6.72%  Research, develop, produce and sell flavours and
Co., Ltd. ("Yunnan Ruisheng"”) (i) H additives
R EERMN (RE)BRAR ([ZEHA))) - EEMHETBEHRAMNA
Yunnan Nongken Gaoyuan Food Co., Ltd. PRC 30.00%  Purchase and sale of agricultural products, coffee
EHRZRRRMBRAA HE and tea raw materials
RERHEREER MURFRY
Junjieshangii) PRC 10.00%  Technology development and promotion in the
SRR (i) s field of internet technology, advertisement design
and production
ERBRRBENNRMEE  RiTEE  BS
BEEIESE
Xiamen Fengtao (i) PRC 13.04%  Manufacture special ceramic products, special
EFIEE () H machinery for water resources and special
equipment for environmental protection
AERERERR KEREREWEERER
By
Broad Far Group Hong Kong 21.06%  Research and development, production and sales
BREF & of heat-not-burn tobacco products
e FENEENRMMEEEER
Yingtan Dongwu PRC 35.00%  Produce and sell electronic atomized cigarette
EER% H products
EERHEETRIEER
Hunan Jiapinjiawei PRC 40.57%  Research, develop, produce and sell health food
HEERE® 4| and biological products
HE EERHERERERRENES
Shenzhen Ruili PRC 34.00%  Research, develop, produce and sell atomizer
wYISHE HE products

(i) The Group has significant influence over these companies (i)
by representations on its board of directors.
(i) The Group has significant influence over Junjieshang by (i)

the appointment of its executive director.

The associates are private entities and no quoted price is

available.

HEBERB/LAER

E tEREERLEER

AEBBBEARNESEPERME
S5 HUFRRAEARES -

AEEBBERNHZIRTES
BEMERRBERFEN -

5RIE -

Huabao International Holdings Limited & B2t AR A7 2022 Annual Report 3§




Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
11. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED 1. RERZHERZRE
ENTITIES
The Group has interests in two (31 December 2021: three) R2022%F12A318 » REBERRE (2021
immaterial joint ventures as at 31 December 2022. The F12A318 : = @) WIEERIEXRHHEE
following table analyses the movement of the carrying amount THIZREEERR  NROTAEFER
of the Group’s investments in these jointly controlled entities, ZEHRITHEENKEE ZEERES )
and its share of results of these jointly controlled entities. NEELZSEHLEITHEL 2 %24 o
An analysis of the movements of equity investments in jointly RERE4H EENEREEZH DT
controlled entities is as follows: N
Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31BLEFE
2022 2021
20225 20214F
At the beginning of the year F1) 202,831 7,410
Acquisition of equity interest in Shanghai Yifang B A /82875 2 i & - 180,000
Transfer to investments in subsidiaries upon BSY E8ZE T i fliE%R
gaining control over Shanghai Yifang BAHMBARZKRE (183,129) -
Acquisition of equity interest in Wuxi Jintou ARG SIRERMEESE
Huikai Emerging Industry Venture Capital BIERERESAKDE
Fund Partnership (Limited Partnership) (BREIK) Z i
(“Wuxi Jintou”) (IEHekl) - 12,000
Acquisition of equity interest in Shanghai Miou  BEA S KERBEIRAER
Food Technology Co., Ltd(”Shanghai Miou”) ~E ([ EERB) Z i = 8,500
Disposal of equity interest in Dianhua Benxiang & EZEARERI L BR A A
Technology Co., LTD(“Dianhua Benxiang”) (FEERE]) 7 I HE = (6,603)
Share of results of jointly controlled entities R HFIERIE RS A 100 5,899
Dividends received [ - (2,669)
Adjustment for transactions between the Group 78 %& & [B 82 X [F) 4% %I &5 5%
and a jointly controlled entity 2R - (1,706)
At the end of the year FX 19,802 202,831
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11. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED 11.

ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

e BRRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

RARZEHER ZKRE (&)

(@) As at 31 December 2022, the Group had interests in the (@) M20229F12AH31H » "EEFE R LA
following jointly controlled entities: THEEH EEE AR
% of
Place of ownership
Name incorporation Interests  Principal activities
£ AMEEE  EEZEIL ETEXK
Wuxi Jintou PRC 40%  Equity investment, investment management,
mifeiR s asset management and other activities
RiERE REEEREEBRESEEY
Shanghai Miou PRC 20%  Purchase and sale of agricultural products.
FERE H RELIHEREM

The above entities are accounted for as jointly controlled
entities of the Group, whereby the Group and the
counterparty have joint control and rights to the net
assets of the arrangement, pursuant to Article of

Association.

The jointly controlled entities are private entities and no

quoted price is available.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (B

12. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(a) Classification of financial assets at FVOCI

ZHBEEREIN

12. LAREBEFEEHEHFTAR
k2 ERE2EMEE
(a) AAABEFEBEEESHFTAH

e BRRME

A B AARETTIIR)

thE2EBENEREENIE

Financial assets at FVOCI comprise:

NAnBEFEAHEZEHTARLM

EEWENEREERR

o Equity investments which are not held for trading, °
and which the Group has irrevocably elected at
initial recognition to recognise in this category.

o Debt investments where the contractual cash flows .
are solely principal and interest and the objective
of the group’s business model is achieved both
by collecting contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets.

Equity investments at FVOCI comprise the following
investments:

TR HMEFENBRERE -
7 & B £ 1) 48 iR 2 A
] 98 1 B 1 S HL R R R X
B8Rl -

ERBEREER/RRE A
BEBRBAURARKEERE
MEETREEREREH
EBEXEENERRE -

UNARBEFEAEHZEH T AEM
PHENE  ERREBEATIRE

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
2022F 20214F
Non-current assets: FRBEE :
Unlisted equity investments in the PRC MBI IE FTERIRE 16,006 17,870
Debt investments at FVOCI comprise the following UAREBEATEEESH T AEM

investments: FPEHRENEREETHNERRE
BIENATRE
As at 31 December
MA128318
2022 2021
202245 20214

Current assets: REBEE
Debt Securities (i) BERRE) 49,794 48,785
()  Debt securities are notes receivable which held iy EBEREEEE—RBUKERAER

within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling financial assets.
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
12. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 12. ULAREBEFEBEHESHTAH
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME tEEREzEMEE (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Amounts recognised in other comprehensive (b) Hitt2HWKBHPERANEEE
income
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
Note 2022 2021
5 20224 20214
Losses recognised in other RE A2 E U
comprehensive income: R EE
— Related to equity investments — BRI E R 21 (1,862) (53,428)
(c) Fair value, impairment and risk exposure (c) AAEE REREMAIE
Information about the methods and assumptions used in Mizr 33 I TEEEETAAEBE
determining fair value is provided in note 3.3. FI{ER M EMBRAEE -
The fair value measurements of financial assets at FVOCI UAREBEATEEEESHTAEM
are categorised within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy 2HKBZEHEEN AL BEST
and are denominated in RMB. EERAABERBFMNE 34 - IF

AANREETE -
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Financial Statements
(S EFEREEN

13. BEFEHAE BHE
EEHEHEHNT :

A B AARETTIIR)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

13. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

The movements in the deferred income tax are as follows:

Deferred income tax assets Deferred income tax liabilities

EEfEREE EEHERER
Withholding
income tax
on dividends
Unrealised Valuation  expected to
profits surplusof  be remitted
arising assetsand  from group
from recognition entities
inter-group  Recoverable of intangible  incorporated
Note sales tax loss Others Total assets  inthe PRC Total
L3 E@RL
AEHE bty
FELH EEIM LARBEM
L1 ERREY HRSFEL
Wi RRREF  URHER it B  EENER REAEH it
At 1 January 2021 RE1A18 89,99 3213 35242 160447 139513 31,03 170536
Recognised in the income statement ~ RNEZERER 30 (6,508) 15,047 (1,444) 7,095 (2,955) (18,131) (21,086)
At 31 December 2021 R01E128318 83484 50,260 33798 167,542 136,558 12892 149450
At 1 January 2022 202251518 83,484 50,260 33,798 167,542 136,558 12,892 149,450
Acquisiton of equity interest in W& LBZ 2R
Shanghai Yifang 3 - 2803 645 3,448 13,054 - 13,054
Disposal of Xinjiang Huabao RENEZEE - - (509) (509) = = =
Recognised n the income statement  RUERER 30 774 (2.874) (1822) (3922) (9.930) (12,89) (22822)
Recognised in other RERZENRTED
comprehensive income - - 79 9 - - -
Total st 84,58 50,189 32,391 166,838 139,682 - 139,682
Set-off of deferred income B BRAEH
tax assets/liabilities BE/8k (14,314) (14,314)
At 31 December 2022 RN0E1NA31R 152,524 125,368

As at 31 December 2022, deferred income tax liabilities of
RMB226,563,000 (31 December 2021: RMB194,886,000)
have not been recognised for the withholding tax that would
otherwise be payable on the undistributed profits amounting
to approximately RMB4,525,522,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB3,888,819,000) retained by certain PRC subsidiaries.

MR2022F 128318 REB I R &
FRBARENBARZADRAFNOA
R #4,525,522,0007C (2021412 A31
B : AK#3,888,819,0007T) B X 1~ &9
ERFSHERELEFMSHABEARYE
226,563,0007T (2021412 A31H - AR
#194,886,0007T) °
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Financial Statements
(BB EEAEIN FTESHEEIUARETTIIR)

14. £YPEE

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

14. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2022 2021
20225 20214F
At 1 January M1ATHE - -
Acquisition of equity interest in Shanghai Yifang Y88 F)8Z5 75 7 f#E 4,104 -
Increase due to plantation FIgREE AR 2,425 -
Transfer to inventories ERERE (7,153) -

Changes in fair value due to biological EYELEER

transformation NRBEE 2,094 -
At 31 December M12H31H 1,470 -

As at 31 December 2022, the growing fruits including lemon, HR2022F 128310 ' 1EiE - &#54& - %
grape, mulberry, orange and blueberry were in premature BB EELSEEEEERHERE
stage, future economic benefit and expected harvest quantity HE A AL BESES N TEER
could not be reliably estimated for fair value measurement as 4 5% 1] 58 i 51 ok 2IC 4% 25 A0 FE 2 Uk
this would involve adoption of subjective assumptions, such £ AR - BARKEZEDEALE R
as weather conditions, natural disaster and effectiveness of BB AERE -Hir TEERAEH
fertilizers and pesticides. As such, management considered ERKENRFEIRARZ AL BEE LR 5
that the fair value of these fruit at the end of the reporting HE M EASEERGTEFELAR
period could not be measured reliably and no reliable B A ZEEMEEN2022F128
alternative estimates existed to determine their fair value. 3NEIRKASE  ¢EADTEANERE
Therefore, these biological assets were stated at cost as at 31 A - FEBE(AIE - 2% - A TA
December 2022, representing cultivation cost incurred, mainly K& - R20229F12H318 -
comprising fertilisers, pesticides, labour costs and leasehold NEBXAEEREWE ETIRBEE

land amortisation. The group recognised no provision for o
impairment in respect of the biological assets as at 31
December 2022.
15. INVENTORIES 15. #&
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2022 2021
20225 20214F
Raw materials - at cost R R — R AR 419,976 334,932
Raw materials - at NRV JRA R — 1R ] B3R E 206,848 177,201
Work in progress - at cost R — AR 88,851 111,763
Finished goods - at cost BUAK R — A A 162,854 96,129
Finished goods - at NRV BIRK o — R A # IR FE 141,494 177,201
1,020,023 897,226
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15.

16.

INVENTORIES (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the cost of inventories
recognised as expense and included in cost of goods sold
and administrative expenses amounted to approximately
RMB1,451,284,000 (2021: RMB1,258,664,000).

The Group recognised provision for impairment of
approximately RMB4,312,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB2,869,000) in respect of the losses on obsolete inventories
as at 31 December 2022.

e BRRME

(B =B EAEI

15

AR EEAARETTIIR)

FE (&)
HE2022F12A31B L FE 27 &K
BRABERYABEEXRARITHER
ME 54 A ARE1,451,284,0007T (2021
F: ARM1,258,664,0007T) ©

M2022F12A31H  REB MR E
GEREMBEIRERBHBHNAARE
4,312,0007C (20216128318 : AR
2,869,0007T) °

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16. EZ R HMEWRIE
As at 31 December
M®12A318
Note 2022 2021
B 5E 20224 20214
Trade receivables B 5 EW IR (a) 1,038,189 863,357
Less: provision for impairment W B 5 EUGRIE
of trade receivables VERIERE L] 3.1(b) (27,704) (13,237)
Trade receivables - net B S REWGRIE— 55 1,010,485 850,120
Notes receivable UL E 4% 27,574 27,493
Prepayments and other receivables a5 FRIA Ko HoAth & WK IR 228,234 204,893
Advances to staff BTEX 2,532 9,865
Others Hib 1,318 18,240
Less: provision for impairment R EL At FE UK IR
of other receivables VERIERELE] 3.1(b) (27,965) (29,565)
1,242,178 1,081,046

Except for prepayment of RMB62,427,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB51,480,000), trade and other receivables are financial
assets categorised as those to be measured at amortised cost.
All trade and other receivables are either recoverable within
one year or on demand.
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e BRRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 16. EF K Hfh fE U K18 (&)

(@)  The credit period generally granted to customers ranges @ BYFEFPHEEHEH—HKA0E180
from 0 to 180 days. At 31 December 2022 and 2021, H o 720229 &20219F12 A31
the ageing analysis of the trade receivables (including B -B5RWHE (BEEE TN
amounts due from related parties which are trade in BEEIWHIB)IBERZHHMNEE
nature) based on invoice date were as follows: BT

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
0 - 90 days 0&90H 764,775 756,502
91 - 180 days 91%&180H 112,752 75,511
181 - 360 days 181&360H 59,268 15,097
Over 360 days 3608 Ak 101,394 16,247
1,038,189 863,357

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9. As at 31
December 2022, a provision of RMB27,704,000 (as at 31
December 2021: RMB13,237,000) were made against
the gross amounts of trade receivables (Note 3.1(b)).

The creation and release of provision for impaired
receivables have been included in “net impairment
losses on financial assets” in the consolidated income
statement. Amounts charged to the allowance account
are generally written off when there is no expectation of
recovering additional cash.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables
(including amounts due from related parties which are trade
in nature) are denominated in the following currencies:

AEBRBET AL BRIEEBTER
SAERIESFE TR T AT IRTEHIEE RIS -
20229124310 Y E 5 EW A
4858 e B A R #27,704,0007T (20214
128318 : AR #13,237,0007T) 2 #
% (Bt 5E3.1(b))

HEREREBEENRIMEDD R
REGARERTIEREERERRK
FEIN - FABRBRPHOEE R
G IR MR U R SNR & R IEE o

AEBNEFREFNEEE (BHERH
BOMESRYKE) ATNEERE

fir -

As at 31 December

M12831H
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB AR 971,811 798,313
usD ETT 61,112 64,728
IDR ENEE 3,130 -
HKD B 344 316
others Hi 1,792 -
1,038,189 863,357
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 17. U A REBEEBEESET AR

PROFIT OR LOSS mZEeMEE
(a) Classification of financial assets at FVPL (a) BARBETEREHEEHTARE
EHNEMEESE
The Group classifies the following financial assets at AEEBUATEMEESBEAUR
FVPL: AREEFEEEEHTABENS
BEE
e debt instruments that do not qualify for o NEHEAUABEA AR R
measurement at either amortised cost or FVOCI, BEsT=EEHEEEHTAHM
and FEWEMEBR TR UK
e equity instruments that are held for trading o AXFmMIEBEAMEZIA
Financial assets at FVPL include: UAnBETEEESHE AEZR
LEREEBRE
As at 31 December
M®12A318
Note 2022 2021
B 5E 20224 20214
Non-current assets: ERBEE :
Unlisted equity investments RIELETRESEE 189,568 215,679
Contingent consideration B EEME 33 63,490 -
253,058 215,679
Current assets: RBEE
Listed equity investments LIHEREE 43,298 35,866
Wealth management products VEEEEMR 1,594,315 3,256,499
1,637,613 3,292,365
Total st 1,890,671 3,508,044
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 17. U A REBEEBEESET AR
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED) mZEtWMEE (&)

(b) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

(b) REEEBIAZEHE
RER > RBRERZWSW T

During the year, the following gains were recognised in
profit or loss:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
Note 2022 2021
ik 2022F 20214
Fair value gains on equity RE AU A I H AUk 25-
instruments recognised in other FREER ERTIA
income and other gains - net HA R EE K E 3,957 7,750
Fair value gains on debt R E A UL A B H A Uk 25~
instruments recognised in other FREERZEFLIA
income and other gains - net AR BEKZE 38,605 96,818
Fair value gains on contingent A E A U A B LA R A -
consideration recognised in other  JE2BWER Y ok A X4
income and other gains - net B 63,490 -
26 106,052 104,568

(c)

Risk exposure

Information about the Group's exposure to price risk and
credit risk is disclosed in Note 3.1.
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Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
18. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 18. BRITREFERE
As at 31 December
R12A31H
Note 2022 2021
ks 20224 20214F
Restricted bank balances ZREIRITF R (a) 79,503 11,984
Cash and cash equivalents BeMBEEEY 4,668,475 3,541,425
4,747,978 3,553,409
(a) As at 31 December 2022, restricted bank balances (@) M20229F12AH31H » R HIRTT
represented security deposits and frozen bank balances. FREREE MR 2 RITHER °
(b) Cash and bank balances are denominated in the (b) MRMITREFRESUA T EEL LT
following currencies: e
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB AR 3,963,834 2,404,137
ushD ETT 273,165 238,343
HKD B 496,464 891,184
Others HAitb 14,515 19,745
4,747,978 3,553,409
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group’s and the R2022F K2021F 12318 » AEFE K&
Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk of cash and bank AAFTHEEXEAETREGESN &S
balances is their carrying amounts. =ERkE TEERGSE -
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e BRRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

19. SHARE CAPITAL 19. &
Share capital
Number of ;&N
shares RMB’000
& E AR¥T T

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: LiEix - 2ERITRBE
At 31 December 2021, M20219F12A8318 -
1 January 2022 and 20221 A1 R

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H 3,229,926,876 328,619

20. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

(a)

(b)

Employee share scheme

On 1 December 2020, shares of Guangdong Jiahao,
a subsidiary of the Group, were granted to 80 eligible
employees (the “Grantees”) of Guangdong Jiahao and
its subsidiary (the “Employee Share Plan”). Four limited
partnerships controlled by the Group were incorporated
in the PRC under the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Partnerships as a vehicle to hold the ordinary
shares for the Grantees under the Employee Share Plan.
Under this plan, approximately 1.98% equity interest in
Guangdong Jiahao was granted to the Grantees through
their interests in the four limited partnerships with
consideration of approximately RMB46,496,000 and will
be vested if certain services conditions are met.

The amounts of share-based compensation recognised as
expenses with a corresponding credit to reserves of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2022 was
RMB3,713,000 (2021: RMB5,747,000).

Expenses arising from share-based payment
transactions

(a)

20. ROBEBRBOZA

EEBERESTE
MR2020F12A1H " EREZ= ' A&
EEZHEBRAR  BTFS0ORER
EXRENBATNEAERESR
(EERTADEREZSZHRS ([E
BRERTE]) - BIE(E B R#E
) - IR A ARNEE TS AW ARE
(FEARENBEABLCELE
FREAMKINEREREE €
EREE T ARE LT ARNFR YT
B BEZTE  HEERTABBE
FOREREBEENERERT
H198%EREZMRE  RELD
A AN R #46,496,0007T ¢ 1M A% #E 15
CEBUORMERLERBIGEME -

HE2022F12A31BLFE - &K
EEBARD BEBHS ER A
St WHREAREBEZ2BEAA
R #3,713,0007C (202145 : AR
5,747,0007T) °

(b) UROBERNINELEZER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE
Note 2022 2021
B EE 2022F 20214F
Employee share scheme B BB REETE 21 3,713 5,747
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Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
21. RESERVES 21. f&iE
Capital ~ Share-based Currency
Contributed Merger Share Capital  redemption compensation translation Statutory Other
Note surplus reserve premium reserve reserve reserve reserve Reserve reserves Total
HRH
RERH

if:3 EMBE  RKEE  RMEE  EARR AFEOBE 0 MERE KREERE  iREE HBREE &3t

At 1 January 2021 R2011E1818 296,853 (628,438) 429,861 2411 4760 536 76,035 790912 1,660,802 2633732
Fair value changes on financial W24 BEFEEEEE:A
assets at FVOC, net of tax EtAENG 2REREL

RiGkNALEED ) - - - - - - - - (53,428) (53,428)

Appropriations from net profit & & R|& n - - - - - - - 30,59 - 30,59
Share-based payment Bt AERHZ

-Value of employee senvices  —~[EERKE 2 - - - - - 5747 - - - 5747
Changes in ownership interests ~ HEHBAF

inasubsidiary without change B £ T

of control ARERE - - - - - - - - 364 364
Issuance of new shares RTHR - - 1,753,905 - - - - - - 1,753,905
Currency translation differences  EMHRE£E - - - - - - 16,603 - - 16,603
At 31 December 2021 R2021%128318 296,853 (628438) 2,183,766 2411 4760 6,283 92,638 821,508 1,607,738 4387519
At 1 January 2022 R202%1518 296,853 (628,438) 2,183,766 201 4,760 6,283 92,638 821,508 1,607,738 4,381,519
Fair value changes on financial A4 EEHERZZEA

assets at FVOC, net of tax Ab2ENGERHEEY

RR&ENDLERD @ - - - - - - - - (1,583) (1,583)

Aopropriations from net profit & & K| f n - - - - - - - 153 - 21,523
Share-based payment B AERAZ

-Value of employee senvices  ~[EERKEE 2 - - - - - 3713 - - - 3713
Acquistions of additional equity ~ FFFHE B 25 R

interests in non-wholly-owned 2 EHBAR 2 EIRIE

subsidiaries from non-controlling

interests (b) - - - - - - - - (27,566) (27,566)
Additional investment inanon-  EINEER LEZERZ

wholl-owned subsidiaryof 2 EKBAT

Shanghai Yifang - - - - - - - - (6,530) (6,530)
Put option liability arising from ~ ¥HAHELZ

business combination DrBEaE 3 - - - - - - - - (119,887) (119,887)
Dilution of investmentinan ~ RESATZ

associate RENRERE 10 - - - - - - - - 25,755 25,755
Currency translation differences  EHBEZE - - - - - - 97,516 - - 97,516
At 31 December 2022 R2022%128318 296,853 (628,438) 2,183,766 201 4,760 9,99 190,154 843,031 1477921 4,380,460
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

21. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(a)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the amount of
decreases in fair value in financial assets at FVOCI net of
tax is RMB1,583,000 (2021: decreases RMB53,428,000)
(Note 12), of which RMB279,000 (2021: nil) was
recognised in other comprehensive income as deferred
tax (Note 13).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
acquisitions of additional equity interests in non
wholly-owned subsidiaries from non-controlling interests
comprised the additional acquisitions of equity interest
of Jiangxi Yifang Rural Technology Co., Ltd. ("Jiangxi
Yifang"), a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.
The Group acquired additional 9.7561% and 24.3902%
equity interest of Jiangxi Yifang based on the agreed
purchase prices respectively. These transactions were
accounted for as transaction with non-controlling
interest, and the excess of considerations over the
aggregate carrying amounts of acquired non-controlling
interests of RMB4,770,000 and RMB22,157,000 were
recognised in equity.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the acquisitions
of additional equity interests in non wholly-owned
subsidiaries from non-controlling interests comprised
the additional acquisition of equity interest of Jiangxi
Huabao Xinhui Technology Co., Ltd. (“Jiangxi Xinhui"),
a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. The Group
acquired additional 15% equity interest of Jiangxi Xinhui
based on the agreed purchase price. This transaction was
accounted for as transaction with non-controlling interest,
and the excess of considerations over the aggregate
carrying amounts of acquired non-controlling interests of
RMB639,000 was recognised in equity.

Contributed surplus of the Company represents (i) the
difference between the consolidated shareholders’ funds
of the subsidiaries at the date on which the corporate
reorganisation became effective and the nominal amount
of the Company’s shares issued under the reorganisation;
(ii) the transfer of credit balance from share premium
pursuant to the capital reorganisation in 2006 and
relevant laws and regulations in Bermuda.

Other reserves mainly arise from transactions with
non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of
control and fair value changes on financial assets at
FVOCI (net of tax).
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(Br=BEAEIN -

A B AARETTIIR)

21. @& (&)

(a)

(b)

HZE2022F 128318 IFEE - A
AhBEFEAEEZH A AHEMSE
HlmsEMEEZARBEEHH
BRE AL EEAE ARE1,583,0005T
(20214 )@ 4 AR #53,428,000
7o) (fsE12) - EFRF R EMZE K
R AR 279,0007T A& IE IT
75 (20214F « &) (K15E13) »

HE2022F12A31BIEFE - #®
JEIEHI MRS W B IEEEH B AT
RN R R INREE TS
EERBERAT (CIEZER])
Ml AEEZHEZERNBAR
A e REBIZEHZEWKBESDFIIEE
ST PRZE 779.7561% % 24.3902% 2
B #E o It 22 5 1E A& B2 I 150 ) 1 4 2
EBITHORHAR  RERATWEEIE
THIEESNARAEBREZAR
#4,770,0007T &2RMB22,157,000
RSP RER ©

HE2022F12A31HIEFE © [
JEFEH SN IE 2 B HI B R A
RN ERIEREINE TR ES
MERNEERATD(DIANSRE])
MEE AEBZHFEZ2ENBER
Ale AEBZWHRWBEGE IR
E15%MRHE - LR S IEREIEE
FIERERETORS AR KRB
P B FETE ) M i S AR BR EE B
Z AR639,000 T AT HERR ©

ARARZEBBEHKEBOELAER Y
AMB AR zZAaRRESHAEMR
RAARBEETRNMEBZEZ5
(iNTE2006F IRIBEAREH LK B R
ERBZEZEEZFEBAERODREEAN
BH&E -

HAi e B2k G EIFEH 1 e
M5 BEXZHTEEWMEKE
HliE - MARAEEE BRI
AHE2ABENEREENAR
BEZS (HEK) -




Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

22.

23.

RETAINED EARNINGS

e BRRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

22. REAEF

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A318 L

Note 2022 2021
B 5t 20224 20214
At the beginning of the year £ 9,168,518 8,918,688
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (BB &BF (1,054,547) 675,131
Appropriations from net profit B 40 ) B A~ 21 (21,523) (30,596)
Final dividends for the year ended HZE2020%12H31H
31 December 2020 LEFEZHBRERE - (229,479)
Interim dividends for the six months HE2021%F6H308 I+
ended 30 June 2021 NE Rz R E R R 32 - (165,226)
Final dividends for the year ended HE2021%F12A31H
31 December 2021 IEFE 2 BRI A 32 (54,821) -
Special dividends for the six months #H E2022%F6H30H
ended 30 June 2022 LE7ME A Z %5 Bl AR 32 (95,840) -
At the end of the year FR 7,941,787 9,168,518

PUT OPTION LIABILITY

3. MEHHERARE

Year ended 31 December

BZEZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021
20225 20214F
Present value of liability in relation to a put BT — MR R EER
option granted to non-controlling shareholders A& B &Y 7258 HARE AR 8 A
of a subsidiary BERE 131,836 -

According to the “Equity Transfer Agreement in respect
of Shanghai Yifang”, the non-controlling shareholders of
Shanghai Yifang after Huabao Flavours’ above acquisition, shall
have the right to request Huabao Flavours to further acquire
the non-controlling shareholders’ equity interests in Shanghai
Yifang when certain conditions are met. The further acquisition
price was determined by making reference to the net profit
to be generated by Shanghai Yifang in future periods.
Accordingly, the put option liability was initially recognised
at present value of redemption amount of approximately
RMB119,887,000 by the Huabao Flavours with reference to
the present value of the estimated future cash outflows under
the put option arrangement and was accreted to redemption
amount of approximately RMB131,836,000 as at 31 December
2022. The accretion charge of the put option liabilities
recorded in the finance cost was amounting to approximately
RMB 11,949,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e BRRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
24. BORROWINGS 24. EX
As at 31 December
R12A31H
Note 2022 2021
ks 20224 20214F
Non-current FERE
Long-term bank borrowings RERITER
— Secured bank borrowings —HEBIRITER (a 15,000 -
Less: current portion B B ER > (15,000) -
Current T ED
Short-term bank borrowings RHRITER
— Secured bank borrowings —EEBIETER (a) 50,000 -
— Unsecured bank borrowings —EIRIRITER (b) 612,700 962,774
Current portion of non-current liabilities  FERENBE T 2 R B3
— Secured bank borrowings —BHEFRITER (a 15,000 -
677,700 962,774
Total borrowings HWE 677,700 962,774
(@) As at 31 December 2022, the Group's secured bank (a) M2022%F12H31H ~XEB 2 H

borrowings of RMB65,000,000 (31 December 2021:
the Group's secured bank borrowings were fully repaid)
are repayable within one year and secured by certain
buildings, right-of-use assets of Shanghai Yifang with
total carrying values of approximately RMB17,662,000.
During the year, the average interest rate of the
borrowings was 4.2% (2021: 5.7%) per annum.

The unsecured bank borrowings are repayable within
one year. During the year, the average interest rate was
2.8% (2021: 2.9%) per annum. Borrowings are financial
liabilities categorised under “financial liabilities measured
at amortised cost”.

Interest expense on bank borrowings for the year
ended 31 December 2022 amounted to approximately
RMB20,269,000 (2021: RMB78,871,000). No interest
expense was capitalised for the year ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

24. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(€0 An analysis of the carrying amounts of the Group's
borrowings by type is as follows:

e BRRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

24.

BEX (&)
(0 BRERNSWASEEERNEEMER
T

As at 31 December

M128318
2022 2021
20225 20214
At fixed rates & F 7 & 677,700 360,000
At floating rates 7 B | 2 = 602,774
677,700 962,774

(d) Asat 31 December 2022 and 2021, the maturities of the
borrowings are as follows:

(d)y M2022%F K%2021F12A8318 @ &
AREEBWT :

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
Within 1 year —F AR 677,700 962,774

(e)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings were
denominated in the following currencies:

() AEEEFRWEEERNTIER
REAL

As at 31 December

M12A831H
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB AR 677,700 459,950
HKD B = 502,824
677,700 962,774
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. EFRHEMENRE
As at 31 December
®12A318
Note 2022 2021
B 5t 20224 20214
Trade payables Z 5 EMNFIE (a) 277,249 302,330
Wages payable BN TE 97,021 112,220
Other taxes payable Hip 5718 98,107 134,206
Accruals for expenses FEETA X 9,677 9,985
Other payables H b e 5RI8 240,481 190,304
Deferred income from BT g AR B A 2 IR IE MR A
government grants 11,763 -
734,298 749,045
Except for other taxes payable of RMB98,107,000 (31 M E b FE A B 3 A R #98,107,0007T
December 2021: RMB134,206,000), wages payable of (20215F12H318 : A K #134,206,000
RMB97,021,000 (31 December 2021: RMB112,220,000) and L) RN ITEARM97,021,0007T
deferred income from government grants of RMB11,763,000 (2021F12H318H : AR *%112,220,000
(31 December 2021: nil), trade and other payables balances o) MBS BEEE ZELER A AR
are financial liabilities categorised under “financial liabilities 11,763,0007TC (202151248311 : &)
measured at amortised cost”. I BEREMENRDEREERD
HAIREBHEKAFENERAE] -
The non-current and current portion of trade and other EoNEMENZTOIERE M RE) D
payables was as follows: N

As at 31 December

MA128318
2022 2021
20224 20214
Non-current IERE 12,163 800
Current i 722,135 748,245
734,298 749,045
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Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 25. EZ R EMEMNRER)

(@ As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the ageing analysis (a) 720224 K2021%F12H31H - &
of the trade payables (including amounts due to related SENZE(BE@ABRTNE SHE
parties which are trade in nature) based on invoice dates NIE)BIERZAENER DT

was as follows: /N
As at 31 December
M128318
2022 2021
20224 20214
0 - 90 days 0£90H 245,146 271,535
91 - 180 days 91%180H 9,721 15,326
181 - 360 days 181%360H 5,113 3,589
Over 360 days 360H M 17,269 11,880
277,249 302,330

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade payables
(including amounts due to related parties which are trade
in nature) are denominated in the following currencies:

REBNEFRERNR (BHEBEBIES
FERTFIR) MBREEA TSR BB

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB AR 263,867 292,336
IDR ENfeE 7,786 -
usD E 1,753 2,135
HKD ot 1,363 6,284
Others Hih 2,480 1,575
277,249 302,330
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (REEEBEN  FIESFEHAARETTIIR)
26. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS - NET 26. HitWm AR Hfb s — F 8
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A318LEE
Note 2022 2021
ks 2022%F 20214
Changes in fair value of NAnEEFTZ8HEHE
financial assets at FVPL AE=EHERMEENAR
1 17 106,052 104,568
Dividend income from RAanBEFEAEESH
financial assets at FVPL ABRNEREEZRE
A 3,444 889
Gain on disposal of HENAREETEZR
financial assets at FVPL HEH ABE0
TREENKR - 5,246
Gain on disposal of an associate k=N - 16,720
Gain on disposal of a jointly i FE [FE I A
controlled entity L& - 1,876
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HEWBARZEE (1,184) -
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE  HKER
plant and equipment B 2T W 5,085 5,726
Government grants BT 2 B 126,085 146,542
Foreign exchange losses- net BEEEREEFE (17,871) (27,510)
Change in fair value of previously VART#F A SR F 88
held interest in a jointly controlled Z e PAPK AT B
entity upon acquisition as a subsidiary NEIFR AR EEE (24,083) -
Gains on fair value change of EYEENAREEBNE
biological assets 14 2,094 -
Written off of payables o FE R 12,234 -
Donations 18 (839) (3,979)
Others Hb 1,795 (1,559)
212,812 248,519
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
27. EXPENSES BY NATURE 27. RHEESIENBEX
Expenses included in cost of goods sold, selling and marketing ERBEEERN - HENTHEHEER
expenses and administrative expenses are analysed according Y RITHER @ WREBEMNE (B GQ)
to their nature (with the exception of “research and HRBREEMEEYN N [ HELERERA
development expenses” which are shown as a single item Y1 BEHEIHETBEAEBE
and analysed according to their nature in Note (a) below) as REERENSB) DTWOT :
follows:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31ALEE
Note 2022 2021
Bt 5t 20224 20214

Depreciation e 6,7,8 207,173 162,052
Amortisation i 7,9 98,253 98,266
Provision for impairment of property, & F & £ A (B B

plant and equipment 6 31,774 -
Provision for impairment of inventories 17 & J& (& # & 1,760 1,220
Changes in inventories of finished Rk M ER S

goods and work in progress FEE (8,106) (149,570)
Raw materials and consumables used 2 B R# kL &S & 1,385,390 1,343,231
Short-term lease rentals NHEERS 7 29,669 19,691
Auditor’s remuneration 1% BRI BN &

— Audit services —ZER T 10,418 9,565

— Non-audit services — IR BRI - 2,876
Consulting service fee EXERKE 18,229 15,577
Travelling expenses EMRFZ 17,307 30,876
Employee benefit expenses BEE MERFHX 28 608,149 557,962
Research and development expenses A 5% K 3% & FA 52 (a) 266,233 250,788
Delivery expenses BRI X 38,064 36,120
Utilities expenses NHEBHERE 92,055 71,636
Motor vehicle expenses REBEEAMAY 6,163 7,931
Maintenance expenses wBE 16,123 20,695
Advertising, promotion and agency EE HEERRBREE

services expenses 124,624 45,463
Office administrative and WANIBAE

communication expenses 9,370 9,760
Other surcharges EAth B hnFR & 44,738 47,562
Others HAh 124,399 138,227
Total of cost of goods sold, selling BIHEA ~ HE &

and marketing expenses and T 35 HE B& [ ST AT

administrative expenses THRER 3,121,785 2,719,928
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M

Financial Statements
(BB EEAEIN FTESHEEIUARETTIIR)

27. BMHE S BHRAX (R

MARBRAXHBENTE  #
HREE RENFEZIIRAT

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

27. EXPENSES BY NATURE (CONTINUED)

(@) Depreciation, amortisation and employee benefit (a)
expenses included in research and development expenses
are set out below:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
Note 2022 2021
B 5 20224 20214
Depreciation e 6,7,8 18,165 14,777
Amortisation e 7,9 6,650 2,058
Employee benefit expenses EERBEHNHAX 28 137,114 124,374
161,929 141,209

HEEZE2022F12A318 IEFER
WEAEREKAE E AR (2021

No development cost has been capitalised for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

FE) o
28. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES 28. EERBEAMX
Year ended 31 December

HBZE12A31BLEE
Note 2022 2021
Oz 20224 20214
Wages, salaries and bonus T& - M Riea 597,579 555,234

Defined contribution plans and

other employee insurances TFTrREERTE N EME TRE (a) 91,702 82,165
Share-based benefits AR B =R 2 18 F 20(b) 3,713 5,747
Other benefits H b 18 F) 52,269 39,190
745,263 682,336
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

28. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Defined contribution plans and other employee
insurances

The expenses mainly include contribution of pension,
housing scheme and other employee insurances for
employees, of which the arrangement of pension scheme
is as below:

In Hong Kong, the Group operates a MPF Scheme for all
eligible employees. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employees are required
to contribute 5% of their monthly salaries up to a
maximum of HKD1,500 per employee with a choice to
make additional contributions. The employer’s monthly
contributions are calculated at 5% of each employee’s
monthly salaries up to a maximum of HKD1,500 (the
“mandatory contributions”). The employees are entitled
to 100% of the employer’s mandatory contributions
upon their retirement at the age of 65 years old, death
or total incapacity.

In Mainland China, the Group makes defined
contribution to retirement schemes managed by the local
governments. It is the local governments’ responsibility
to pay the retirement benefits to those staff who retire.

In Germany, the Group makes defined contributions
at certain percentage of monthly salary to retirement
schemes managed by the insurance company in
accordance with German rules and regulations. It is the
insurance company'’s responsibility to pay the retirement
benefits to those staff who retire. In Botswana, no
pension obligation is required under its laws and
regulations.
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
28. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES 28. EERBRIMX (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EBBRSHFHMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest FRN EARAEB ZAZESHEA
in the Group for the year include 4 (2021: 4) directors T EEA (202146 : Ufi) BE
whose emoluments are reflected in Note 39(a). The E OMEE2MeEH NN
emoluments paid and payable to the remaining 1 (2021: 1) @) AFECNLENTHT
individual during the year are as follows: —fz AL (2021F : — 1) 2B &
m
Year ended 31 December
BE12A31MBLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Basic salaries and allowances ERF & NER, 11,171 10,410
Contributions to the retirement scheme RAREFFT B R 15 15
11,186 10,425
The emoluments fell within the following bands: BEZMESEUTER

Number of employees

EEAE
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
2022 2021
202245 20214F
Emolument bands B4 &5 &
HKD12,500,001-HKD 13,000,000 75 #12,500,0017T
— & #13,000,0007T = 1
HKD13,000,001-HKD13,500,000 7&#513,000,0017T
— % 13,500,0007T 1 -
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
29. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS 29. BB WARBEKA
Year ended 31 December
BE12A31MBLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Finance income: B TS U -
— Interest income on bank deposits —IRITFERZFEWA 71,791 101,784
Finance costs: B RN
— Interest expense on bank —RITER R
borrowings and others Hi 2 FEER (24,286) (79,317)
— Interest expense on put —REHEeE
option liability (Note 23) MEEBR (H:E23) (11,949) -
— Interest expense on lease liabilities - HEBBEZNEER (1,735) (2,151)
Finance income - net B TS UL — 58 33,821 20,316
30. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 30. 8Bt
The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated income HAGEWFZRZMIBELSZEY RO -

statements represents:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
Note 2022 2021
B 5E 20224 20214

Current income tax = HIRI IR

- Hong Kong profits tax —EBBEH (a) 2,955 6,833
- PRC corporate income tax —FhE{EMEH (b) 196,512 271,822
— Germany company income tax — R EMEH () 54 116
— Botswana company income tax — R ETER (d) 142 1,003
— Indonesia company income tax —EEREADREMEH (e) 77 -
Deferred income tax IRIEFTISTH 13 (18,900) (28,181)
180,840 251,593
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

30. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(a)

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profit for the year. Under the current Hong Kong
Inland Revenue Ordinance, from the year of assessment
2018/2019 onwards, the subsidiaries in Hong Kong are
subject to profits tax at the rate of 8.25% on assessable
profits up to HK$2,000,000, and 16.5% on any part of
assessable profits over HK$2,000,000.

PRC corporate income tax has been calculated on the
estimated assessable profit for the year at the tax rates
applicable to respective companies of the Group.

The income tax rates enacted or substantively enacted to
the major subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in the
PRC are derived from various tax policies as follows:

(i) The Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC
stipulates the applicable income tax rate at 25%
for domestic enterprises in the PRC.

(i)  Enterprises supported by Western Development
Strategy can continue to enjoy tax rate of 15%
until 2030. Enterprises, simultaneously enjoy
additional tax incentives from Tibet Autonomous
Region Government that the output value of
the Company’s High/New Tech products can be
exempted from the local share of corporate income
tax, can accrue income tax expenses at reduced
rate of 9% for the output value of High/New Tech
products and of 15% for that of non- High/New
Tech products.

(i)  The Corporate Income Tax Law also stipulated that
the Corporate Income Tax shall be levied at the
reduced rate of 15% for High/New Tech Enterprises
that are specifically supported by the State.

Germany company income tax has been provided at the
rate of 15% (2021: 15%) on the estimated assessable
profit for the year.

Botswana company income tax has been provided at the
rate of 15% (2021: 15%) on the estimated assessable
profit for the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated e ISR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
30. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 30. Fr8% (&)

(e) Indonesia company income tax has been provided at the (e) HEREHINEMESRIRAFE MY
rate of 22% on the estimated assessable profit for the SHERT AR AT 222 0% B4 -
year.

(f)  No provision for income tax in other jurisdictions has ) AEBEPEZE20229F K2021F12
been made as the Group had no assessable profit in A3MBItFEEH M A AR E
other jurisdictions for the year ended 31 December 2022 BSERAEHEA  WEAHM
and 2021. AERE R PTSHE L B -

(g) The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax (9) AEBRBRAESHATAFATIE -
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise HEAREEBETNHB AR AEMER
using the standard tax rates applicable to the respective MEA A RRETNIEREREA
companies of the Group as follows: FRANE - #5ImT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALFE
Note 2022 2021
ks 20224 20214
(Loss)/profit before income tax ~ B &t AT (E518) & F (720,210) 1,147,377
Less: Share of results of W ERERE AR &
associates and jointly HEEH E S
controlled entities ZEE 10, 11 7,056 (12,584)
(713,154) 1,134,793
Tax calculated at statutory tax rate  #23@ FAFi Kt E /T 223,247 379,372
Tax incentives M EE biiiii) (121,514) (167,189)
Super deduction for research &R IR 2
and development expenditure (17,806) (23,956)
Utilisation of previously A 2 AT AR IS E R
unrecognised tax losses (1,670) (3,124)
Expenses not deductible AR RS 2 B 2
for tax purposes 45,574 984
Income not subject to tax FEARBWARN L (5,828) (3,701)
Withholding tax on the EEENGIE ¢ ONzT
earnings from subsidiaries EAZBIRAEM 19,032 50,089
Tax losses for which no deferred iz & W2 22 R iE FR 1S 5t
income tax assets were EENTEER
recognised 39,805 19,118
Income tax expense Fri5 % 180,840 251,593
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
30. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 30. FRfE® (&)
(g (Continued) (9 (&)

As the Directors are not certain whether future taxable BEEEIETARKESR
profit would be available in certain subsidiaries, the THERMBFBERE  ~5E
Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of W8 BR2022F12H31HER A
RMB112,095,000 (31 December 2021: RMB92,574,000) FHBAR ZAHHERE ARK
as at 31 December 2022 in respect of tax losses of 606,230,000 (2021412H318 :
such subsidiaries amounting to RMB606,230,000 (31 A R #488,223,0007T) HY 4k iE Ffr
December 2021: RMB488,223,000). The tax loss will BHEEAHANAR®E112,095,000
expire in the following years: 7L (2021F12HA31H + AR®

92,574,0007T) ° A] K %X &5 18 & R
THIEEEE -
As at 31 December

A128318
2022 2021
20224 20214
Year FE
2022 20224 = 58,275
2023 20234 9,507 11,689
2024 20244 36,329 39,801
2025 20254 33,858 36,956
2026 20264 91,487 72,075
2027 20274 151,476 -
No expiring date BB EIH A 283,573 269,427
606,230 488,223
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31. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share

e BRRME

(Br=BEAEIN -

31. B8R (B8 BF
(a) BREX(BE) BF

A B AARETTIIR)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year ended 31 December 2022

BRERN(BE) B TIREAL
FEARNRERTFTE ARG (BEB)
S BF B AE E20224F 2021
FRANBIEFEE BT LT AR

and 2021.

HINEFHEBERHE -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE
2022 2021
2022F 20214F
(Loss)/profit attributable to equity RAREZFEB AEMN
holders of the Company (&18),/BH (1,054,547) 675,131
Weighted average number of BRI EBR
ordinary shares in issue ('000) T E (FE) 3,229,927 3,111,851
Basic (loss)/earnings per share AATESEHEAEN
attributable to the equity holders of SREX (&E) BF
the Company (RMB cents per share) (BRARY%D) (32.65) 21.70

(b)

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

(b) BREE (HE) &R

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 was the same as basic (loss)/
earnings per share, since the Company did not have any
potential ordinary share outstanding that has dilution

H E£2022M2021F12A31H It 4
EHnsREs (BB BIES
EXR (B /BFER  BAXK
NRVEBERBENABEREER

effect.

M EITEMAX -
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32. DIVIDENDS 32. RE
Year ended 31 December
BZ12831ALEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Paid interim dividend of HK6.4 cents DA EE20219F6 A30H 1F
per share for the six months ended NEA PR BB
30 June 2021 BiHEe.410 - 165,226
Paid special dividend of HK3.38 cents B EE20229F6 308 Lt
per share for the six months ended NEARZERREFR
30 June 2022 75 3,381l 95,840 -
95,840 165,226
Proposed special dividend of HK5.1 cents per share & 55 51| i% 2 & A% 8 #5. 1111 147,145 -
Paid final dividend of HK2.0 cents per share BEATEIR R B E RS 2.010 - 54,821
242,985 220,047
On 30 March 2023, the Board proposed a special P2023F3 8300 =@ EEREE
dividend of HK5.1 cents per share, totalling approximately F202F12A31BIFEENERIKEE
RMB147,145,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022. The AL 7S BES 1L - 49 A R #5147,145,000
proposed dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December JC e B E2022F12A31H I FE /K
2022 is calculated based on the total number of shares in issue g B iR B ARE HEE TR &
as at the date of this report. The proposed dividend is subject YAE  FFIRBIIREZEENKRA A
to the shareholder’s approval at the Company’s forthcoming Fesm ST R AT K FEREE -
Annual General Meeting. The financial statements do not BI SRR A ML FEN AR B

reflect this dividend payable.
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

33.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Acquisition of Shanghai Yifang

On 9 August 2021, Huabao Flavours acquired 40% equity
interests in Shanghai Yifang from independent third parties
with a total consideration of RMB180,000,000 in cash. On 8
March 2022 Huabao Flavours further acquired 27% equity
interests in Shanghai Yifang with a total consideration of
RMB121,500,000 in cash (the “Acquisition”).

After the completion of the Acquisition, Huabao Flavours’
shareholding in Shanghai Yifang, in aggregate, reaches 67%
and Shanghai Yifang becomes a subsidiary of Huabao Flavours.

Shanghai Yifang is primarily engaged in the promotion and
consulting services of agricultural technology, cultivation of
fruits and vegetables; research and development of food
additives; food production, etc.

The Group has undertaken a detailed assessment of the fair
value of assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition
as at the acquisition date. As a result, the goodwill of
RMB49,418,000 is calculated based on the fair value of
Shanghai Yifang's net assets. The goodwill arising from the
acquisition is attributable to the synergy and economics of
scale expected from combining the operations of the Group
and Shanghai Yifang. None of the goodwill recognised is
expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

33. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

e BRRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

33. ¥ &0t (E)
W FEEREESBENT

Consideration W 1B
— Fair value of previously held interests in — R EN LB RN
Shanghai Yifang NREE 159,046
— Cash paid for acquisition of an — UL HE REHN27 % A% HE R
additional 27% equity interest THRE 121,500
— Contingent consideration (i) —sk B EEMEN -
Less: fair value of identifiable net assets acquired W BRI KR FEEZLAAEE
— shown below —E5 T~ (231,128)
Goodwill (Note 9) e (M) 49,418
() The contingent consideration receivable by the Group () AEFEEKRSALEBET AR
is contingent upon the future financial performance of FEES AR IEERE g
Shanghai Yifang and the fair value of the contingent aGETWEAND A ngjéj
consideration is nil at the acquisition date and subsequent T HEBE AR EBEEEAE AT
change of the fair value is recognised in "other income U AR HE ks — FEE | q:
and other gains — net”. As at 31 December 2022, the fair 20224 12A31H KB XEH
value of the contingent consideration is RMB63,490,000. EH AR EEAEARKE3,490,000
The fair value was estimated based on the value of IL o i A/L{ETEXEETJ%JJ:%AFFT
probable future cash inflow extending beyond one year ﬁ%?imiﬂ FRFRFKIBELHRA
of the business combination and applying an appropriate EI’]FEﬁ o W BEE AELIE

discount rate to arrive at the present value.

w

KB HRE-
AKEmMERcEERAGBNT

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition
are as follows:

Property, plant and equipment (Note 6) M IR R (M 5E6) 218,643
Right-of-use assets EREEE 85,394
Intangible assets (Note 9) mp A E (MsE9) 22,844
Deferred income tax assets (Note 13) EEFTSHEE (F3E13) 3,448
Inventories FE 57,761

Biological Assets (Note 14) EEE (MisE14) 4,104
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H th fEUGRIB 207,384
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMHELEED 42,267
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 13) ELEFTEH A& (MEE13) (13,054)
Borrowings BN (134,500)
Lease liabilities HEBE (19,069)
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMERRK (77,001)
Current income tax liabilities EHMEHEE (1,298)
Contract liabilities HGRAE (18)
Less: non-controlling interest W IEEE I R (165,777)
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired WA HRFEENAABE 231,128

Outflow of cash to acquire business during RAFEWBEEB RS ML

current year (net of cash acquired) (MR FRS)

Consideration — cash paid IR e SR E 121,500

Cash and cash equivalents in a subsidiary acquired WENBARANE 2 MR SEY (42,267)
Net cash outflow on acquisition during the year RAFEWENFIRS R 79,233
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(BB EEAEIN FTESHEEIUARETTIIR)

33. ¥%406f (&)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

33. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

Non-controlling interest in Shanghai Yifang are measured
at the present ownership interest’s proportionate share in
the recognised amount of Shanghai Yifang's identifiable net
assets.

Acquisition-related costs of RMB121,000 have been charged to
administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The acquired business contributed revenue of approximately
RMB221,976,000 and net loss after tax of approximately
RMB45,694,000 to the Group for the period from 8 March
2022 to 31 December 2022. If the acquisition had occurred
on 1 January 2022, consolidated revenue and consolidated
net loss after tax for the year ended 31 December 2022
would have been approximately RMB266,953,000 and
RMB46,324,000 respectively. These amounts have been
calculated using the subsidiary’s results and adjusting them for
the additional depreciation and amortisation that would have
been charged assuming the fair value adjustments to property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets had applied from 1
January 2022, together with the consequential tax effects.
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (REEEBEN  FIESFEHAARETTIIR)
34. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 34 EEBEELE 2HE S
(a) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before tax to cash (a) BRBiAI(BE) BIEEEEL
generated from operations ZESHAGR
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE
Note 2022 2021
i 5 20225 20214
(Loss)/profit before income tax K AT (E18) &R (720,210) 1,147,377
Adjustments for: P
— Depreciation — e 27 225,338 176,829
— Amortisation — 5 27 104,903 100,324
— Provision for impairment of goodwill — — 7 2 5 B £ 1 9 1,507,710 293,270
— Provision for impairment of —FERERE
inventories 27 1,760 1,220
— Provision for impairment of trade -85 K E M EWHIE
and other receivables BEEE 3.1(b) 20,276 3,527
— Provision for impairment of property, — &7 & & {8 &
plant and equipment 6 31,774 -
— Provision for impairment relating to  —Et& QA 4R E 2 B EBE
the investment in an associate 10 139,000 -
— Share-based payment-value of —[&tn BERH TS
employee services —EERBEE 21 3,713 5,747
— Interest expense —FEERA 29 37,970 81,468
- Interest income — N2 A 29 (71,791) (101,784)
— Share of results of associates and —EhEBERR R
jointly controlled entities HEEGIEE 25 10, 11 7,056 (12,584)
- Adjustment for transactions between — 8% & B EE L N E] &
the Group and associates/jointly HEIEFEE RS

controlled entities 10, 11 - 4,622

- Gains on disposal of property, plant  —HEWFE « WE LR
and equipment Z Wias 26 (5,085) (5,726)
— Written off of payables —HEEER 26 12,234 -
— Losses/(gains) on termination of —RIFREZEE ()
leases 1,294 (1,811)
- Gains on disposal of financial assets —HEUALEETEH
at FVPL HEHHF ABHN
TREEZ W 26 - (5,246)
— Loss on disposal of a subsidiary —HEMBAREIE 26 1,184 -
- Gain on disposal of an associate —HEBENR 7K 26 - (16,720)
— Gain on disposal of a jointly —HERFEIEE
controlled entity 2 Wiz 26 - (1,876)
— Change in fair value of previously — AR EHAZHES
held interest in a jointly controlled ey N =1 N SNE]
entity upon acquisition as a R A EEE
subsidiary 26 24,083 -
— Changes in fair value of financial —-ULAnBEEEER
assets at FVPL ZEFAEZNEH
BEAREED 26 (106,052) (104,568)
— Gains on fair value change of —EMEENRREBEED
biological assets Yz 26 (2,094) -
- Dividend income from investmentin  —IA AR BEFEBLEEH
financial assets at FVPL AABZNESMEE
ZBRERA 26 (3,444) (889)
— Foreign exchange losses- net —EENEIE— )R8 26 17,871 27,510
Changes in working capital: LEEEE
— Biological assets —4MEE (2,425) -
— Inventories -FE (60,053) (43,700)
— Trade and other receivables *féf%&,ﬁfﬂ}fﬂﬁlm 7,042 62,623
— Trade and other payables — B REMENK (91,135) 70,917
~ Contract liabilities -—aEAE (51,001) (15,756)
Cash generated from operations BEELACRSE 1,029,918 1,664,774
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
34. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 34 EEELE 2R E (K)
(CONTINUED)
(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds (b) REGEeBeREEXN HEWE -
from disposal of property, plant and equipment R NEBEZFTERBE
comprise:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

Note 2022 2021

B aE 2022F 20214

Net book amount BREH(E 12,916 14,520
Gains on disposal of property, HEWZE BR R

plant and equipment Bz W 26 5,085 5,726
Proceeds from disposal of HEWE  HaE Rk

property, plant and equipment R {E& TSR 18,001 20,246
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34. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 3. BEEL 2B S (#)
(CONTINUED)
() Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) BMEZTBELENEERATR
activities
This section sets out an analysis of the movements in AREH RME TSP AEEHET
liabilities from financing activities: TN

Liabilities from financing activities

BETHELNER
Note Borrowings Lease liabilities Total
ik EES HE8E @it

At 1 January 2021 R2021%1818 2,708,230 63,871 2,772,101
Changes from financing cash flow: BETBHRSRESL:
Proceeds from borrowings BEMER 1,557,156 - 1,557,156
Repayments of borrowings BEED (3,284,355) - (3,284,355)
Principal elements of lease payments MERT Z$§im - (22,578) (22,578)
Interest elements of lease payments MERT S - (2,151) (2,151)
Total changes from financing cash flow BEFBHHRSREZ LA (1,727,199) (24,729) (1,751,928)
Other changes: A5
Increase in lease liabilities from entering AEERFUHAE

into new leases during the year mENNHEEaE - 3,936 3,936
Interest expenses FETH 29 - (2,151) (2,151)
Currency translation difference ERZE (18,257) - (18,257)
Total other changes Hi@gdst (18,257) 1,785 (16,472)
At 31 December 2021 R2021512R31H 962,774 40,927 1,003,701
At 1 January 2022 R2022£1818 962,774 40,927 1,003,701
Changes from financing cash flow: REZBNRENER L
Proceeds from borrowings EEHER 750,590 - 750,590
Repayments of borrowings BREXR (1,179,178) - (1,179,178)
Principal elements of lease payments BENTZERLEHN = (26,987) (26,987)
Interest elements of lease payments RENTZHEHH - (1,735) (1,735)
Total changes from financing cash flow BEZBHBESHES L4 (428,588) (28,722) (457,310)
Other changes: Hi25
Acquisition of equity interest in Wi EBE A 2 IR

Shanghai Yifang 134,500 19,069 153,569
Increase in lease liabilities from entering ~ AEERE UHAEET

into new leases during the year EMNAEaE - 34,158 34,158
Decrease in lease liabilities from termination  AERK FEE MR H

of leases during the year HEAR - (6,397) (6,397)
Interest expenses FELH 29 = 1,735 1,735
Currency translation difference EREZR 9,014 - 9,014
Total other changes Httgaast 143,514 48,565 192,079
At 31 December 2022 #2022512H31H 677,700 60,770 738,470
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35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35. EAREIE
Capital expenditure contracted for but not yet recognised as RNEREELHENAERLEBENE R
liabilities at the end of the year are as follows: AT :

As at 31 December

"®12A318
2022 2021
20224 20214
Property, plant and equipment M - IR RERE 139,761 169,196
Intangible assets BEEE 23,878 29,043
Right-of-use assets @E}EH WHEE 4,760 -
Investment in a jointly controlled entity HEESEE R 28,000 28,000

Financial assets at FVPL Q\jﬂ BEitE2 B2 H)

AR ERmEE 19,164 24,942
215,563 251,181
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Name and relationship with related parties

Name Relationship
=r &

N=gp S E

BmBEALN  EZEIUNARETTIIR)

36. MBS RS

(a) FBAEETS BREEEEEA

Huangguoshu Golden Leaf
ERESE
Hongta Blue Eagle

An associate indirectly held by the Company

ENNSIIEEESS R0k =N
An associate indirectly held by the Company

AEEE NNSIDEEES L0k PN

Broad Far Group

An associate indirectly held by the Company and an entity

controlled by the Company’s ultimate holder

BEREE AABREFENBE QAR RARARRFAAEN ZA

Yunnan Ruisheng

An associate indirectly held by the Company

EEHH ARRMERAOBE AR

Yingtan Dongwu

Xiamen Fengtao

An associate indirectly held by the Company

BERE NS EESS TRk
An associate indirectly held by the Company

ey
il/N

EF®BE RABIEEF BB E QT

Hunan Jiapinjiawei
4 B 32 o 35 0K
Shenzhen Ruili

An associate indirectly held by the Company

NS SR N=0): kWG]
An associate indirectly held by the Company

RYISHRE ZNNSIDEES 0k PN

Shanghai Miou

A jointly controlled entity indirectly held by the Company

EEKE ARBEEFENHFZGERE

Joy Light (HongKong) Tabacoo Co. Ltd.
("Joy Light™)
EREREEERAREBER]

The Group disposed Dianhua Benxiang, a jointly
controlled entity indirectly held by the Company in July
2021, and since then it was no longer a related party.

The Group further acquired 27% and reached 67%
in aggregate of equity interests in Shanghai Yifang in
March 2022, and Shanghai Yifang becomes a subsidiary
of the Group.
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 36. Bl 535 (&)

(b) Transactions with related parties (b) HBEBLINXRS
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31HLEE

2022 2021
2022F 20214F

Sales of goods and services: S5 P oo R iR ¢
— Huangguoshu Golden Leaf - EREeE 6,350 14,126
- Broad Far Group —BRER 17,299 2,048
- Yingtan Dongwu —EER - 892
— Hunan Jiapinjiawei — = mER 314 2
— Shanghai Miou — KA 22 -
- Shanghai Yifang —E8ZH 28 352
— Dianhua Benxiang —AERE - 6,522
24,013 23,942

Purchase of goods and services: EEEm R
— Huangguoshu Golden Leaf —ERESE 134 870
— Broad Far Group —BREHE 15 51
- Yunnan Ruisheng —Emn 113 41
— Hunan Jiapinjiawei — M=M= 857 -
— Shenzhen Ruili — AN E 136 -
— Shanghai Miou — KA 268 -
— Joy Light —EBBER - 3,435
- Shanghai Yifang —bBZH 680 142
- Dianhua Benxiang —BERE - 6,232
2,203 10,771

Dividend revenue: ‘rEHA

— Hongta Blue Eagle —HIEEEE 5,110 4,031
- Dianhua Benxiang —BERE - 2,669
5,110 6,700

Sales of property, plant and equipment HEYE - #es MRIE
— Hunan Jiapinjiawei — = mER 44 -
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 36. Bl 535 (&)

(c) Balances with related parties (c) BAEBER 48R
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2022 2021
20225 20214F
Balances due from related parties: FE U B 7 A R
- Huangguoshu Golden Leaf —EHREEE
— trade and other receivables — 8 5 & E M E YK 6,553 13,109
— Broad Far Group —EHREE
— trade and other receivables — B 5 & E YR 8,815 3
- Yunnan Ruisheng —EfEHEA
— other receivables — H b FE IR 35 -
— Yingtan Dongwu —-BER%
— trade receivables —E 5 EYK 504 504
— Hunan Jiapinjiawei — = mER
— other receivables — L IR 21 1
— Shanghai Yifang —EBZEH
— trade receivables — 8 S EYGK = 59
15,928 13,676
Balance due to related parties: FE SR 7 4 6k
— Huangguoshu Golden Leaf —EHREEE
— trade payables —E5EMNK 36 970
— Broad Far Group —HREE
— other payables —E M ERTR 353 -
- Yunnan Ruisheng —Ef@mHEA
— trade payables —EBSEMNR 31 -
— Xiamen Fengtao —EMEE
— other payables —E TR - 9,560
— Hunan Jiapinjiawei — = maER
— trade payables —B5EMNK 127 -
— Shenzhen Ruili — RN
— trade payables —E S EMNK 136 -
— Shanghai Yifang —EBZER
— trade payables — B SRR - 160
683 10,690
The balance with related parties was unsecured, B e 5 &t B EIEF - &8
interest-free and repayable on demand. EKBERBHESE o
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 36. BBt S X 5 (&)

(d) Key management compensation d TEEEAEME
Key management includes directors (executive, FTEEBABBREES (ITES
non-executive and independent non-executive) and ENITEEEB T IFHITES) M
senior management. The amounts of compensation paid EREBAE ENEENTFES
and payable to directors is disclosed in Note 39(a). The S 2 EME39(a) I E - M= &
amounts of compensation paid and payable to senior ERAEIMNEARERBEHNEN
management for employee services is shown below: TEMAEE T

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31MBLEE

2022 2021

20224 20214

Fees, salaries and bonus I8 ¥ MIEL 21,597 20,948
Employer’s contributions to B X BRI 21 3k

retirement benefit scheme 512 531

Share-based benefits VAR (7 A Bt 2 18 F| - 1,870

22,109 23,349
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37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

mE

(Br=BEAEIN -

PR

A B AARETTIIR)

37. TEMBRAZFHE

Place of Nominal value of
incorporation and issued/registered Ownership interest Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital held by the Group % place of operation
HRALBER BRfTLER/ AEEREN
AAER EEERER AMEREE BRER% ITERRAERY
Direct Indirect
E# i
Aromascape Development Centre GmbH Germany, Limited liability company  EUR25,000 - 100 Research and development of flavours
Aromascape Development Centre GmbH €401 2 EREELTA B17125,000 & fragrances in Germany
HeEE 28
F&G (Botswana) (Pty) Limited Republic of Botswana, BWP100 - 100 Production and sales of natural
Limited liability company L1007 extracts in Botswana
BAREMLNE - ERELLA EEMBERRRRN BRAAL
GilEd
Guangdong Golden leaf Technology Development PRC, Limited liability company RIMB100,000,000 - 100 Research & development, manufacture
Co, Ltd. HE - BRELLA ARE100,000,0007 and sale of reconstituted tobacco
EEALENRARERA RN leaves in the PRC
e EERHEREER 2E
Guangdong Jiahao Foodstuff Co., Ltd PRC, Limited liability company RMB119,680,000 - 992 Production, sales, marketing and
EREZRBERAGN B ERELAT ARE119,680,0007T distribution of condiment products
in the PRC
B BE qERAHRRG P
i
Guangdong Jizhao Marketing Co., Ltd PRC, Limited liability company RMB5,000,000 - 992 Sales, marketing and distribution of
EREREHERDA WE EREMLE ARH5,000,0007 condiment products in the PRC
HE EHRARERT PE
Guangdong Jinke Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves PRC, Limited liability company RIMBA40,000,000 - 55375 Manufacture &sale of reconstituted
Co., Ltd. wE - BRELAT AR 540,000,000 tohacco leaves in the PRC
EREMBEREERAFN TERBERLES B8
Guangzhou Huabao Food Co,, Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company RMB10,000,000 - 100 Research, development,
ENZEERRERAFN WE BREMARA ARE10,000,0007C manufacturing & sales of flavours &
fragrances in the PRC
W% EERBERE TH
GuangZhou Hua Fang Tobacco Flavors Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company RMB23,380,000 - 51 Manufacturing & sales of tobacco
EMNEFERERERA MM FE - ERELAT AR$23,380,0007T flavours & fragrances in the PRC
LERBERRER TE
Huabao Flavour & Chemical Technology PRC, Limited liability company RIMB530,000,000 - 100 Research, development,
Development(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. WE EREMLE AR 5530,000,0007T manufacturing & sales of tobacco

ZER(HRER(LE)ARLT
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37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

e BRRME

(Br=BEAEIN -

A B AARETTIIR)

37. TEMBR A 2F1E (&)

(CONTINUED)
Place of Nominal value of
incorporation and issued/registered Ownership interest Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital held by the Group % place of operation
AR LBER BRAEER/ AREHED
ARER ERTRER AMEAEE ERER% IEEBREEnY
Direct Indirect
BE# 3
Huabao Flavours & Fragrances (HK) Limited Hong Kong, Limited liability HKD3,000,000 - 100 Research, development,
SEEE(ER) ERATOC company 75%3,000,0001T manufacturing & sales of flavours &
B% BRALAT fragrances in Hong Kong
Wa - LERBEER A
Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co, Ltd PRC, Limited liability company RIMBG6 15,880,000 - 81.103  Manufacturing & sales of tobacco
ZEERBRHARA AN @006 HE - RAERAR AR 615,880,000 flavours & fragrances in the PRC
EERBEERER TE
Huabao Korea Company Limited Korea, Limited liability company ~ WON16,320,000,000 - 100 Manufacture and sale of filter
EZRER e o B AREALT £516,320,000,000 materials in Korea
e EEREETERMED B
il
Hunan Jishou Minzu Materials Co., Ltd PRC, Limited liability company RMB60,000,000 - 85 Production of tobacco raw materials
BEEaTREENER AN 00 BB EREALE AE60,000,0007T and cigarette filter in the PRC
TERBEERAE 8
Jiangxi Xianghai Biological Technology Co,, Ltd PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB100,000,000 - 100 Produce, research and sale of synthetic
IRESENHRERAR hE - BREEAT ARH100,000,0007 perfume in the PRC
EERHERRR ¢
Jiangxi H&K Food Technology Development Co., Ltd  PRC, Limited liability company RMB300,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing and sales of food
TREEENLRRNHERERAFN ™ wE - BRETAT AR 5300,000,0007T flavours and fragrances in the PRC
FERBEERH ¢
Owada Flavours (Guangzhou) Co,, Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company HKD60,000,000 - 100 Research, development, production
REEER (BN ARAT HE - EREFLAH 760,000,000 and sale of tobacco flavours &
fragrances in the PRC
EERHEERERED 1B
Shanghai H&K Flavors & Fragrances Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company RMB260,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing & sales of food flavours
LEEEHEERERA N ™. BE EREALE AE 260,000,007 & fragrances in the PRC
FERHEARER B
Shenzhen Huazhu Bio-Technology Development PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB10,000,000 - 100 Production and sale of tobacco raw
Co, Ltd. hE - BREMAR AE 10,000,000 material in the PRC

RN RE AR AT 20w
(formerly known as “Shanghai Huazhu Biological
Technology Co., Ltd")

(AR SR ENHBERARAA)
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
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37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. T EMB LA 2F1E (&R)
(CONTINUED)
Place of Nominal value of
incorporation and issued/registered Ownership interest Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital held by the Group % place of operation
AMAIHER BRAEER/ AREHED
ARER ERTRER AMEAEE BRER% IEEBREEnY
Direct Indirect
E# 3
Smart Sino International Investment Holdings (China)  PRC, Limited liability company 1USD55,640,000 - 100 Investments holding in the PRC
Co., Ltd hE - ERELLA 3£7155,640,000 REzEk P
FRARRERR (hE) BRAR LD
Shanghai Xiangyue Technology Development Co., Ltd  PRC, Limited liability company HKD10,000,000 - 100 Investments holding in the PRC
LEEHHRERARAT hE - AREAAR 710,000,000 REER +8
Amber (XiaMen) Fragrance Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company RMB30,000,000 - 51 Research, development, distribution
EMRRERROERA N 2 HE EREMLT AR 530,000,000 and retal of fragrances in the PRC
(formerly known as “Xiamen Amber Daily Chemical e k& HERTERRIKIE
Technology Co, Lid") i
(EBEPRAR I RRRNER RA))
Yancheng City Chunzhu Aroma Co, Ltd PRC, Limited liability company RMB6,000,000 - 100 Production and sales of aromatic raw
BEmENERERDH WE EREMLE AE 56,000,000 materials in the PRC
EERHERRR ¢
Yingtan Huabao Flavors & Fragrances Co, Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company RIMB96,500,000 - 100 Production and sale of tobacco
EEZEERERAAM ™ HE - EREFAT AR 96,500,000 flavours & fragrances in the PRC
FEREERR P8
Yongzhou Shanxiang Flavour Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB35,000,000 - 94.14  Production and sale of flavours &
KMUBEERERAR WE EREMLE AR #35,000,0007 fragrances in the PRC
RERHERH 98
Yunnan Tianhong Flavor and Fragrance Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company USD2,550,000 - 60 Production and sale of tobacco
EEERERAR AT mE EREALT 372,550,000 flavours & fragrances in the PRC
LERBEERER TE
Zhaoging Perfumery Co,, Ltd. (Guangdong) PRC, Limited liability company RMB11,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing & sales of food flavours
ERLZRZRHARAT HE EREMLT AR 11,000,0007 & fragrances in the PRC
TEREERRER +8
Shanghai Yifang Rural Technology Holdings Co. Ltd. ~ PRC, Limited liability company RIMB120,000,000 - 67.244  Research and development, production
LEZEREEREROERAA BB RAERLE AE 120,000,000 and sales of food additives in the
PRC
RmEHNTE EEREE  TH
Jiangi Yifang Rural Technology Co,, Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company RMB205,000,000 - 67 Production of food additives & food
IRRFEENEARAA mE BREMLRA ARE205,000,0007T production and sales in the PRC

RRANALERRREEHE
HE
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(BB EEAEIN FTESHEEIUARETTIIR)

37. TEMB LA ZFH1E (&)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

(@) Material non-controlling interests

(a) EXRFEFMUER

The total comprehensive income attributable to
non-controlling interests for the year ended 31 December
2022 is RMB160,397,000 (2021: RMB219,409,000),
of which RMB146,288,000 (2021: RMB212,381,000)
is from Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co., Ltd. and
its subsidiaries (“Huabao Flavours Group”). The
non-controlling interests in other subsidiaries are not
material.

Set out below are the summarised financial information
of subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests that
are material to the Group:

Summarised consolidated statement of financial
position of Huabao Flavours Group

B E2022F12A31BIEFE » 3
THIEESEEEE RS REA
A K #160,397,0007T (20214 :
AR #219,409,0007T) © Ak H
EEEBROERARRENBA
Al (EEROER]) 2 EEH M4
EEELEEERFIABEEARE
146,288,0007C (20214 : AR ¥
212,381,0007T) - REMKE R A
R IESEH MRS R E K -

AT HIIARE B A B AR IEZE I
BENMBEARNMKEERRBE
EHEROEE 2GRSV BRRKRMY
3

As at 31 December

M®12A31H
2022 2021
20225 20214

Current mE
Assets BE 6,559,465 6,295,078
Liabilities aE (1,080,830) (532,664)
Total current net assets REFEEHLT 5,478,635 5,762,414
Non-current JERED
Assets BE 2,447,122 2,094,057
Liabilities afE (177,831) (19,5609)
Total non-current net assets ERBFEELE 2,269,291 2,074,488
Net assets BEE 7,747,926 7,836,902
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37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. TEMB LR 2F1E (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Material non-controlling interests (Continued) () BEARFEHMEEE (F)
Summarised consolidated income statement and ZEEROEEZREVRRREAE
consolidated statement of comprehensive income 2HEHRERBE

of Huabao Flavours Group

Year ended 31 December

BEZ12A31HLEFEE
2022 2021

2022F 20214F
Revenue BE 1,893,883 1,941,375
Profit before income tax I F51 A &2 F) 866,784 1,181,624
Income tax expense Frig#i & A (134,512) (158,066)
Profit for the year REEEH 732,272 1,023,558
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hih 2wl (BE) 48,835 (34,776)
Total comprehensive income PHEU AR 781,107 988,782
Total comprehensive income allocated DT IEE S R S A

to non-controlling interests 2HENEAEE 146,288 212,381

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests [ JE3% i 14 ¥ 25 R < 2 BEF 37,313 14,330
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37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. TEME QAR 215 (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Material non-controlling interests (Continued) () BEARFEHMEEE (F)
Summarised consolidated statement of cash flows EFERONEEGZCESRERPE

of Huabao Flavours Group

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE
2022 2021
20225 20214F

Cash flows from operating activities RETB2HESRE
Cash generated from operations CEES 7S 855,076 1,382,699
Income tax paid EFEH (164,993) (133,862)
Net cash generated from operating activities & /& ;& ShE £ 2 18 & 548 690,083 1,248,837
Net cash generated/(used in) from wEEe (FTR) EL

investing activities 2B ®FE 1,224,959 (1,347,738)
Net cash used in financing activities REEEFTA RS F5E (646,958) (1,011,263)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HEPREEEY

cash equivalents ®/m, CRd) B8 1,268,084 (1,110,164)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FYzRER

beginning of the year WEEBEY 2,271,032 3,395,528
Effects of currency translation on HEEBREHIASR

cash and cash equivalents ReFEINTE 36,045 (14,332)
Cash and cash equivalents attheend REXRZBEERBELSZEY

of the year 3,575,161 2,271,032
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company

e BRRME

(Br=BEAEIN -

38.

A B AARETTIIR)

RAFANBBRREERRBEED

AT HAARR R

As at 31 December

A128318
Note 2022 2021
B 5 20225 20214
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries N EB AR ZERE 1,112,197 1,017,981
Current assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E A ER IR 763 45,363
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NG 6,191,600 5,365,652
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBSZEED 31,112 755,865
6,223,475 6,166,880
Total assets HWEE 7,335,672 7,184,861
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves attributable ZAQTEFFFA
to the owners of the Company EBERAR&HE
Share capital fi& A 328,619 328,619
Reserves a1 (a) 2,710,794 2,095,783
Retained earnings REEF 4,110,756 4,276,355
Total equity g 7,150,169 6,700,757
LIABILITIES =R
Current liabilities REBAE
Borrowings =& = 310,688
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE 1~ B B8 A R 5RIR 184,596 171,390
Trade and other payables B 5 R H A ER RIE 907 2,026
185,503 484,104
Total liabilities BEE 185,503 484,104
Total equity and liabilities HEZNREE 7,335,672 7,184,861

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and

was signed on its behalf.

Mr. XIA Liqun
BEREEE
Director

EF
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Mr. LAM Ka Yu
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Director
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 38. AAFMNHMBRRERRBZAEEH
RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Reserve movements of the Company (a) DFEI#HERS
Capital Currency
Contributed Share Capital  redemption Other  Translation
surplus premium reserve reserve reserve reserve Total

&% i g*
EfBE  ROER  AABR RORER B AEER Loy

At 1 January 2021 R0211E1 818 296,853 429,861 2411 4,760 40,125 (293,521) 480,489
Issuance of new shares BBl - 1753905 - - - - 1,753,905
Currency translation differences ~ EMHEZE - - - - - (138,611) (138,611)
At 31 December 2021 R20215125318 296,853 2,183,766 2411 4,760 40,125 (432132 2,095,783
At 1 January 2022 R202%1A18 296,853 2,183,766 2411 4,760 40,125 (432,132) 2,095,783

Currency translation differences ~ EMHEZE - - - -

615,011 615,011

At 31 December 2022 R2022512A31R 296,853 2,183,766 241 4,760 40,125 182,879 2,710,794

Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 12k ABR 2 7] 2022 Annual Report 45




Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
39. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 39. EEMNRZMESR
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) ESRTHARMS
The remuneration of each director and chief executive of ZEENITHARNE 220224
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 and N2021F12A31BIEFE 2 &
2021 are set out below: [N
Year ended 31 December 2022 Year ended 31 December 2021
H2ANENANBLER HRNENENALEFRE
Employer's Employer's
contribution  Share- contribution  Share-
topension  based  Other topension  based  Other
Name of directors Note  Fees Salaries Bonus  scheme benefits benefits  Total Fees Salaries  Bonus  scheme henefits benefits  Total
Bx RS Ex DG
BERK ARER REK RER
£3:8 WeE W H¢ B4 HEER 2BA HpBR &% we  HE AL HEER  ZEF EABRA &
Executive directors: ~ HTE%:
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu AMERT ) 4297 - - - - - 4297 16,606 - 16,606 - - - 3321
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok ~ ERE %4 - 2,165 - 1,459 - - 364 - 2,09 - 1410 - - 350
Mr. XIA Ligun EfELE - 1,734 5156 15 1314 - 14219 - 7473 3815 15 1870 - 13233
Mr. LAM Ka Yu REFEE 2,503 - - - - - 2503 3487 - - - - - 3487
Ms. LAM Ka Yan mERZE i) 181 - - - - - 181 - - - - - - -
Ms.CHOYManHar  EXEZt il - - 14 - M 318 - - - - - - -
Independentnon-  BUFHTEE:
executive directors:
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu Bkt E 206 - - - - - 206 199 - - - - - 199
Ms. MA Yunyan fEggt (V) 80 - - - - - 80 199 - - - - - 19
Mr.WUChiKeung  #E%%% (i) - - - - - - - 149 - - - - - 149
Mr. YAN Jonathan Jun  Jonathan Jun
Yan &4 206 - - - - - 206 199 - - - - - 199
Mr. HOU Haitao REREE ) 127 - - - - - - - - - - - -
9230 12626 5,156 1488 1314 4 3025 20839 9565 20,481 1425 1810 - 54,180
(i) Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is also the chief executive officer () SMEBELZTHEFAEESS
of the Company. FBHITE °
(i) Mr. WU Chi Keung resigned on 30 September () #AEREAEMN2021F9AH30H
2021. RAE o
(i) Ms. LAM Ka Yan and Ms. CHOY Man Har were (i) MEAFLTREXELLTR
appointed on 14 February 2022. 2022F2H14B E LT -
(iv)  Ms. MA Yunyan retired on 20 May 2022. (iv) RREH A2 +M2022F5H20H
RAE o
(v)  Mr. HOU Haitao was appointed on 20 May 2022. () EREEEEN2022E5820H
BLAE -
No directors waived any emoluments during the year A Z22022F &2021F12H31H 1F
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. FE BEBEEWRETEBNE
During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no B E2022F &2021%F12A8318 1+
emoluments had been paid by the Group to the directors FEE ANEBNERNEEY NS
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as VEE I AR EBH EE) S /E SRR
a compensation for loss of office. IE o
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

39. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

U]

Directors’ retirement benefit

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no
retirement benefits paid to the directors of the Company
by a defined benefit pension plan operated by the
Group in respect of the director’s services as a director
of the Company and its subsidiaries or other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company or its subsidiary undertaking.

Directors’ termination benefit

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and
2021, no payments to the directors of the Company
as compensation for the early termination of the
appointment.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Company did not provide any consideration to any third
party for making available director’s services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no
loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of directors
of the Company, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 36, during the year ended
31 December 2022 and 2021, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated mE
Financial Statements

PR

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
40. Events occurring after the reporting period 40. HEHREE

In January 2023, the Company was informed by Ms. Chu’s
family (Ms. Chu, the chairlady, CEO, executive Director and
controlling shareholder of the Company) that Anyuan County
Police Bureau had lifted Ms. Chu's residential surveillance
and that she was on bail pending further investigation.
Concurrently, the Company was informed by Ms. Chu's family
that Ms. Chu is placed under residential surveillance at a
designated location by Yongchuan District, Chongging Police
Bureau (the above events are collectively referred as “the
Event”).

The Event is the subsequent events of 2022. In January 2022,
the Company had been informed by Huabao Flavours that
Ms. Chu and Mr. Lam Ka Yu (“Mr. Lam”), the son of Ms. Chu,
the Co-chairman and executive Director of the Company,
and a director of Huabao Flavours, were under investigation
for suspected disciplinary violations and were placed under
residential surveillance at designated locations.

In July 2022, the Company was informed by Mr. Lam that he
had been notified by Changsha County Police Bureau that they
had lifted his residential surveillance and that he was on bail
pending further investigation.

In July 2022, the Company was informed by Ms. Chu’s family
that Changsha County Police Bureau had lifted Ms. Chu'’s
residential surveillance and that she was on bail pending
further investigation. Concurrently, the Company had
received a Case Filing Notice from Xinfeng County Supervisory
Committee that Xinfeng County Supervisory Committee had
decided to file an investigation against Ms. Chu and Ms. Chu
was placed under residential surveillance at a designated
location by Anyuan County Police Bureau.

Up to the date of this report, the Company has not been
provided with any details of the nature of the suspected
violations of Ms. Chu and Mr. Lam that were being
investigated. The production and business operation of the
Group remains normal. Further announcement(s) will be made
to keep the shareholders of the Company and the public
informed of the development in this matter in due course.

In response to the Event, the Group has conducted a review
of the bank loan contracts that had not expired as at the date
of this report and found that there were loan contracts of
approximately RMB107 million (the “Loans”) which contained
clauses referring to the occurrence of similar events and that
such occurrence “may endanger or impair the lender’s rights
and interests under the loan contracts” or “may affect the
performance of the borrower’s obligations under the loan
contracts” and entitles the bank the right to demand early
repayment. The Group has not received any form of early
repayment notice from the relevant banks. The Group has
sufficient cash readily available for repayment of the Loans.
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Five Year Financial Summary

TFEUERBE

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
RESULTS E
Nine Months
ended Year ended Year ended Year ended  Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
HZE2018F HZE2019F EHZE2020F EHE2021F #HZF20225
12A31H 12A31H 12A31H 12A31H 12A31H
LEAE A IEFE IEFE FEFE IEFE
Revenue = - 3,058,707 4,241,040 3,854,058 3,882,683 3,828,984
Gross profit EF 1,949,805 2,745,410 2,442,407 2,296,662 1,877,563
(Loss)/profit before B & AT (E518)
income tax v 1,374,957 1,745,817 948,821 1,147,377 (720,210)
Income tax expenses Frig®t (320,805) (372,076) (280,382) (251,593) (180,840)
(Loss)/profit for the year REE (FE)
J/BF| 1,190,991 1,373,741 668,439 895,784 (901,050)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERERE
As at As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
20184 20194 20204 R20214F 20224
12HA31H 12A31H 12H31H 12H31H 12H31H
Total assets WEE 19,175,430 17,963,635 17,678,054 18,025,129 16,619,022
Total liabilities waE (5,430,012) (4,364,162) (3,983,805) (2,306,310)  (2,061,584)
Net assets FEE 13,745,418 13,599,473 13,694,249 15,718,819 14,557,438
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Five Year Financial Summary hFERKRE

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (REEEBEIN IESBEHAUARETTIIR)
OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION Han B i 88
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
20184 20194 2020%F 20214 202245
(Loss)/earnings per share, SR (BB
basic (RMB cents) AF - EHAR
(AEES) 32.75 35.78 13.46 21.70 (32.65)
(Loss)/earnings per share, SR (B8R)
diluted (RMB cents) aF - #F
(ARES) 32.75 35.78 13.46 21.70 (32.65)
Aggregated dividend per share B2 F Z5t
(HKD cents) RS (&) 18.8 18.8 9.0 8.4 -
Aggregated special dividend Bhe2FE5
per share (HKD cents) BRI S
(L) 18.9 - 6.0 - 8.48
Financial year-end share price VREFEELEE
(HKD) AREGET) 3.33 2.86 10.68 14.40 4.03
EBIT ratio EBIT= 42.1% 40.8% 23.4% 28.7% -15.9%
EBITDA ratio EBITDAZR 46.9% 47.0% 43.4% 43.5% 32.2%
ROE ROE 8.8% 9.4% 3.5% 52% -7.9%
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Glossary

AGM
Board
Broad Far

Broad Far Group

Bye-laws
CEO

CG Code

CcGU

Chemactive

Mainland China or PRC
Company or Huabao
Director(s)

Executive Director(s)

FCG

FCPA (Aust.)

Group

Guangdong Jiahao

Guangdong Jinke

Guangdong Jinye

Guangdong Jinye Group

Guangdong Tobacco

Guangdong Tobacco
Company

Guangdong Zhaoging

HKD or HK$

Annual general meeting
The board of directors of the Company
Broad Far Limited

Broad Far and its subsidiaries and related
companies

Bye-laws of the Company
Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

Cash-generating unit

Chemactive Investments Limited

The People’s Republic of China
Huabao International Holdings Limited
The director(s) of the Company
Executive director(s) of the Company

Fellow member of The Chartered
Governance Institute

Fellow member of CPA Australia Ltd.

The Company and its subsidiaries

Guangdong Jiahao Foodstuff Co., Ltd.

Guangdong Jinke Reconstituted Tobacco
Leaves Co., Ltd.

Guangdong Golden Leaf Technology
Development Co., Ltd.

Guangdong Jinye and its subsidiaries and
affiliated companies

China Tobacco Guangdong Industrial Co.,

Ltd.

Guangdong Tobacco and its subsidiaries
and related companies

Zhaoqing Perfumery Co., Ltd
(Guangdong)

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong
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Glossary

HKFCG
Hong Kong
HNB

Hong Kong Stock
Exchange

Huabao Flavours

Huabao Kongque
INEDs

Interim Period

Jiahao

Jiahao Foodstuff

Jiangxi Xianghai

Listing Rules

Model Code

Pandemic
Reporting Period

R&D
RMB

RTL

Fellow member of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
of the People’s Republic of China

Heat-not-burn

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co., Ltd.,
a joint stock limited company established
in the PRC with limited liability and an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company

Shanghai H&K Flavors & Fragrances Co.,
Ltd.

Independent Non-executive Director(s) of
the Company

For the six months ended 30 June 2022

Jiahao Foodstuff Limited and its
subsidiaries

Jiahao Foodstuff Limited

Jiangxi Xianghai Biological Technology
Co., Ltd.

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia pandemic

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Research and development
Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves
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Glossary

Scheme Mandate Limit

SFO

Shareholder(s)

Share(s) or ordinary
share(s)

Shenzhen Stock
Exchange

STMA
u.s.

usb

Xiamen Amber

The Maximum number of Shares in
respect of which share options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of
the Company

the Securities and Futures Ordinance,
Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong

Shareholder(s) of the Company

Ordinary share(s) of HKD0.10 each in the
capital of the Company

Shenzhen Stock Exchange in the PRC

State Tobacco Monopoly Administration
United States of America

US dollars, the lawful currency of the
United States of America

Xiamen Amber Daily Chemical Technology
Co., Ltd.
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